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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
All amounts in this report are in millions of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
 
Forward-looking statements 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") includes "forward-looking statements" that are subject to 
risks and uncertainties. For information identifying legislative or regulatory, economic, currency, technological, 
competitive and other important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in 
the forward-looking statements, see the Risks and Uncertainties section in this MD&A. Unless otherwise required 
by applicable securities laws, Bombardier Inc. disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 
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Overview 
 

 
 
I BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
Effective the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Corporation changed its reporting currency to the U.S. dollar. 
Therefore, all amounts in this report are in U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated. Comparative financial 
information previously expressed in Canadian dollars is now presented in U.S. dollars for all periods shown, using 
the exchange rate applicable at the balance sheet date for assets and liabilities, and the average exchange rate 
for the corresponding periods for the consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements of cash 
flows items. Equity transactions have been translated at historical rates for the last five fiscal years with opening 
equity on February 1, 1999, translated at the exchange rate on that date. The net adjustment arising from the 
effect of the translation has been included in the cumulative translation adjustment account in shareholders’ 
equity. 
 
The consolidated operations of the Corporation are referred to hereafter as the Corporation or Bombardier Inc., 
the manufacturing operations are referred to as Bombardier and the financial and real estate services as 
Bombardier Capital ("BC"). This presentation has no impact on net income and shareholders’ equity. 
 
The Corporation operates in the three reportable segments described below. Each reportable segment offers 
different products and services and requires different technology and marketing strategies.  
 

Aerospace Transportation Bombardier Capital 
Aerospace is a manufacturer of 
business, regional and amphibious 
aircraft and a provider of related 
services. It offers comprehensive families 
of regional jet and turboprop commercial 
aircraft and a wide range of business 
jets. It also provides the Flexjet fractional 
ownership and hourly flight time 
entitlement programs, parts logistics, 
technical services, aircraft maintenance 
and pilot training. Aerospace’s main 
manufacturing facilities are located in 
Canada, the U.K., and the U.S.A. 

Transportation is the global leader in the 
rail equipment manufacturing and servicing 
industry and offers a full range of 
passenger railcars, including locomotives, 
light rail vehicles and automated people 
movers. It also provides electrical 
propulsion and control equipment, as well 
as complete rail transportation systems and 
rail control solutions. Transportation is also 
a provider of maintenance services. 
Transportation’s main manufacturing 
facilities are located in Germany, the U.K., 
France, Canada and the U.S.A. 

BC offers secured inventory 
financing, receivable financing 
and interim financing of 
commercial aircraft, primarily in 
North American markets, and 
manages the wind-down of 
various portfolios.  

 
BC’s operations and financial position are fundamentally different from those of the manufacturing segments. As 
such, capital markets use different performance indicators from those used for the manufacturing operations to 
analyze and measure these two distinct businesses. The following discussion and analysis segregates these two 
types of businesses to better highlight their respective characteristics. The consolidated balance sheets are 
unclassified. 
 
Effective the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Corporation ceased the allocation of net corporate interest 
costs to the manufacturing segments because Management now assesses the segment performance based on 
earnings (loss) before net interest and income taxes ("EBIT"), consistent with its current centralized debt 
management strategies. Comparative figures have been reclassified. 
 
BC’s interest costs continue to be included in cost of sales. The performance of the BC segment is assessed 
based on earnings (loss) before income taxes ("EBT").  
 
Most other corporate charges are allocated to all segments based on each segment’s revenues. 
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II NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES 
 
This MD&A is based on reported earnings in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
("GAAP") and on the following non-GAAP financial measures: 
 

EBITDA before special items: Earnings (loss) before net interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization 
and special items 

EBIT before special items: Earnings (loss) before net interest, income taxes and special items 
EBT before special items: Earnings (loss) before income taxes and special items 
Free cash flow: Cash flows from operations less net additions to property, plant and equipment 

 
These non-GAAP measures are directly derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements, but do not have a 
standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP; therefore, others using these terms may calculate them differently.  
 
Management believes that a significant portion of the users of its Consolidated Financial Statements and MD&A 
analyse the Corporation’s results based on these performance measures and that this presentation is consistent 
with industry practice. Special items are viewed by Management as items that do not arise as part of the normal 
day-to-day business operations or that could potentially distort the analysis of trends. 
 
 
III EFFECT OF CURRENCY FLUCTUATIONS 
 
Effective February 1, 2004, the Corporation changed its functional currencies from the Canadian dollar and the 
sterling pound to the U.S. dollar for the Canadian and U.K. operations in the aerospace segment, and from the 
Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso to the U.S. dollar for the Canadian and Mexican operations in the 
transportation segment. The European operations of the transportation segment continue to use mainly western 
European currencies as their functional currencies. No gains or losses resulted from the change of functional 
currencies. This change was made as a result of the increasing proportion of the Corporation's revenues, costs, 
intercompany arrangements, capital expenditures and long-term debt denominated in U.S. dollars. 
 
The Corporation is subject to currency fluctuations from the translation of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities of the self-sustaining foreign operations using a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar, mainly the 
euro and the sterling pound, and from transactions in foreign currencies, mainly the Canadian dollar and the 
sterling pound. 
 
The year-end exchange rates used to translate assets and liabilities were as follows as at January 31: 
 

 2005 2004 Increase 
Euro 1.3051 1.2455 5% 
Canadian dollar 0.8078 0.7539 7% 
Sterling pound 1.8837 1.8212 3% 

 
The average exchange rates used to translate revenues and expenses were as follows for the fiscal years ended 
January 31: 
 

 2005 2004 Increase 
Euro 1.2469 1.1449 9% 
Canadian dollar 0.7729 0.7240 7% 
Sterling pound 1.8356 1.6487 11% 
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IV HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Aerospace 
• Strong recovery in the business jet market, with net orders up 69%. 
• 74% of the turboprop orders were awarded to Bombardier on a calendar-year basis.  
• Regional jet market remains challenging. 
 
Transportation 
• Successful ongoing execution of the restructuring initiative. 
• More than 9% increase in revenues. 
 
Other 
• Improvement of $1.0 billion in free cash flow for the manufacturing segments. 
• Cash and cash equivalents of $2.4 billion as at January 31, 2005. 
• EBT before special items decreased to $71 million compared to $311 million last fiscal year. 
• Loss from continuing operations was $85 million, an improvement of $81 million compared to last fiscal year. 
• BC’s wind-down portfolios reduced by $420 million, or 45%, during the current fiscal year. 
 
 
V CONSOLIDATED RESULTS  
 
The following table presents the results of operations for the fiscal years ended January 31: 
 

   2005   2004 
Revenues $ 15,839   $ 15,508 
Cost of sales  13,989  13,370 
Margin  1,850  2,138 
Operating expenses(1)  1,075  1,105 
Amortization  551  563 
Interest expense, net  153  159 
EBT before special items  71  311 
Special items  (172)  (330) 
EBT  (101)  (19) 
Income tax expense (recovery)  (16)  147 
Loss from continuing operations     (85)    (166) 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax(2)     -    81 
Net loss  $ (85)   $ (85) 
Basic and diluted loss per share (in dollars)     
 From continuing operations  $ (0.06)  $ (0.11) 
 Net loss  $ (0.06)  $ (0.07)  
(as a percentage of total revenues):     
 Margin  11.7%  13.8% 
 EBT before special items  0.4%  2.0% 
 EBT  (0.6%)   (0.1%) 

(1) Comprised of selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses. 
(2) Represents the after-tax results of operations of the Corporation’s former recreational products segment as well as the after-tax gain 
 recorded on the sale of this segment on December 18, 2003. 
 
Revenues  
The $331-million increase is due to higher revenues in the transportation segment mainly resulting from higher 
revenues in Europe, partially offset by lower revenues in the aerospace segment mainly as a result of lower 
deliveries of regional aircraft, and in the BC segment due to the continued reduction in the wind-down portfolios. 
  
Margin 
The 2.1% decrease in the margin percentage is mainly due to lower margins in the aerospace segment as a 
result of the negative effect of higher effective exchange rates for the Canadian dollar compared to the U.S. 
dollar, and in the transportation segment as a result of the deterioration in the profitability of certain significant 
contracts during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 and the first quarter of fiscal year 2005. 
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Operating expenses 
The $30-million decrease is mainly due to lower selling, general and administrative expenses in the transportation 
segment as a result of various restructuring and cost reduction initiatives, partially offset by higher research and 
development expenses in the aerospace segment relating to the CSeries aircraft feasibility study. 
 
Amortization 
The $12-million decrease is mainly due to reduced amortization in the transportation and BC segments, partially 
offset by increased amortization in the aerospace segment. 
 
Net interest expense (excluding BC’s interest expense, which is classified as cost of sales) 
The $6-million decrease is mostly attributable to: 
• higher interest income resulting from higher cash and cash equivalents; and 
• lower accretion expense on sales incentives. 
Partially offset by: 
• the presentation of a portion of the total interest cost in discontinued operations for fiscal year 2004; and 
• the interest on the $750 million of long-term notes issued in April 2004. 
 
Special items 
Special items were as follows for the fiscal years ended January 31: 
 

   2005   2004 
Aerospace(1) $ - $ (19)
Transportation(1)  172  349 
 $ 172 $ 330 

(1) The special items are discussed in the aerospace and transportation sections of this MD&A. 
 
Income taxes  
The effective income tax recovery rate was 15.8% for fiscal year 2005. The lower effective rate compared to the 
weighted-average statutory rate of 31.9% is mostly explained by the non-recognition of income tax benefits 
related to operating losses in certain jurisdictions of the transportation segment. 
 
The income tax expense for fiscal year 2004 versus an expected income tax recovery at the weighted-average 
statutory rate is mainly due to the non-recognition of $89 million of income tax benefits relating to the restructuring 
initiative in the transportation segment and an increase in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 
recorded for the U.S. operations in the fourth quarter. 
 
The details of the components of the income tax expense (recovery) are provided in note 17 – Income taxes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 
Income from discontinued operations includes a $77-million after-tax gain recorded on the sale of the 
Corporation's former recreational products segment in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004.  
 
Order backlog 
Order backlog totalled $31.5 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared to an order backlog of $34.6 billion as at 
January 31, 2004. The main reason for the reduction is an excess of revenues recorded over order intake in the 
transportation segment. 
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Aerospace 
 

 
 
I OVERVIEW 
 
In March 2005, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved an authority to offer whereby Bombardier will 
offer the new CSeries family of aircraft to customers. 
 
Achievements 
 
• 44% increase in deliveries and 69% increase in net orders for business aircraft. On a calendar year basis, 

Bombardier’s market share of the business aircraft market in which it competes increased from 20% to 27%. 
• 74% of the turboprop orders were awarded to Bombardier on a calendar year basis. 
• 26% increase in deliveries of CRJ700 and CRJ900 aircraft. 
 
Aircraft deliveries 
 
Total aircraft deliveries were as follows for fiscal years: 
 

   2005   2004 
Regional aircraft  200  232 
Business aircraft (including the fractional ownership program(1))  128  89 
Amphibious aircraft 1  3 

 329  324 
(1) An aircraft delivery is included in the above table when more than 50% of its fractional shares have been sold to external customers. For 
 these aircraft, revenues and margin ceased to be recognized upon delivery effective February 1, 2004. Revenues are now recognized over 
 the period of the related service contract.  
 
The increase of 39 business aircraft deliveries for fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal year 2004 is mainly due to 
higher deliveries of Challenger 300, Learjet 40 and Challenger 604 aircraft and the first deliveries of the 
Bombardier Global 5000 during fiscal year 2005. The decrease of 32 regional aircraft deliveries for fiscal year 
2005 compared to fiscal year 2004 is mainly due to lower deliveries of CRJ200 aircraft, partially offset by an 
increase in deliveries of CRJ700, CRJ900 and Q400 aircraft.  
 
Bombardier expects total aircraft deliveries for fiscal year 2006 to remain at a similar level as that of fiscal year 
2005. 
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Analysis of results 
  

   2005   2004 
Segmented revenues     
 Manufacturing     
  Regional aircraft $ 3,604 $ 4,256 
  Business aircraft  2,063  1,687 
  Other  237  309 
  Total manufacturing revenues  5,904  6,252 
 Services(1)  1,116  1,130 
 Other(2)  924  861 
Total revenues  7,944  8,243 
Cost of sales  6,965  7,155 
Margin  979  1,088 
Operating expenses(3)  424  390 
EBITDA before special items  555  698 
Amortization  365  308 
EBIT before special items  190  390 
Special items  -  19 
EBIT $ 190 $ 409 
(as a percentage of total revenues):     
 Margin  12.3%  13.2% 
 EBITDA before special items  7.0%  8.5% 
 EBITDA  7.0%  8.7% 
 EBIT before special items  2.4%  4.7% 
 EBIT  2.4%  5.0% 

(1) Includes revenues from spare parts, the Flexjet program’s service activities, product support activities and Defence Services. 
(2) Comprised mainly of sales of pre-owned aircraft. 
(3) Comprised of selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses. 
 
Effective the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, Bombardier prospectively changed its revenue recognition policy for 
sales of aircraft fractional shares. Under the former accounting policy, total manufacturing revenues would have 
been higher by $163 million for fiscal year 2005. 
 
Revenues 
The $348-million decrease in manufacturing revenues is mainly due to: 
• lower deliveries of CRJ200 aircraft; 
• the prospective change in revenue recognition policy for the sales of fractional shares, effective the first 

quarter of fiscal year 2005, resulting in net lower revenues of $74 million; and 
• the unfavourable mix of wide-body aircraft interior deliveries. 
Partially offset by: 
• increased deliveries and a favourable mix of business aircraft;  
• increased sales volume for external subcontracting; and 
• increased deliveries of CRJ700, CRJ900 and Q400 aircraft. 
 
The $14-million decrease in service revenues is mainly due to: 
• lower revenues from Defence Services, reflecting the sale of Military Aviation Services ("MAS") in October 

2003. 
Partially offset by: 
• higher spare parts sales; and 
• higher fractional ownership-related services. 
 
The $63-million increase in other revenues is mainly due to a favourable product mix of pre-owned aircraft sales.  
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Margin 
The 0.9% decrease in the margin percentage is mainly due to: 
• the negative effect of higher effective exchange rates for the Canadian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar, 

which amounted to $178 million, or 2.2% of revenues; and 
• costs amounting to $38 million, mainly related to severance and other involuntary termination costs, included 

in cost of sales in fiscal year 2005. 
Partially offset by: 
• improved margins on business aircraft; 
• improved margins on pre-owned aircraft; and 
• a favourable mix of aircraft deliveries. 
 
Operating expenses 
The $34-million increase is mainly due to higher research and development costs relating to the CSeries aircraft 
feasibility study.  
 
Amortization 
The $57-million increase is mainly due to: 
• tooling amortization for Challenger 300 and Learjet 40 aircraft programs, which began in the fourth quarter of 

fiscal year 2004;  
• tooling amortization for the Bombardier Global 5000 program, which began in the third quarter of fiscal year 

2005; 
• higher amortization of aircraft under operating leases; and 
• amortization of aircraft under the fractional ownership program as a result of the previously mentioned 

prospective change in the accounting policy for sales of fractional shares. 
 
Special items 
No special item was recorded in fiscal year 2005. 
Special items for fiscal year 2004 are comprised of the following: 
• a $69-million pre-tax gain recorded on the sale of the MAS unit; 
• a $2-million pre-tax gain recorded on the sale of the Belfast City Airport; and 
• severance and other involuntary termination costs amounting to $52 million recorded in connection with the 

reduction in employment levels at facilities in Montréal, Toronto, Belfast, Tucson and Wichita. 
 
Program information 
 
The carrying amounts of excess over-average production costs ("EOAPC") included in inventories, and program 
tooling costs included in property, plant and equipment were as follows as at January 31:  
 

  2005 2004 

Program family 
 

EOAPC(1) 
 Program 

tooling 
 

Total  
 

EOAPC
 Program 

tooling Total
Regional aircraft          

CRJ Series $ 83 $ 441 $ 524 $ 239 $ 470  $ 709
Q-Series  54  61  115  71  57   128

Business aircraft           
Learjet Series  254  158  412  275  198   473
Challenger 300  117  429  546  54  442   496
Challenger 604  -  19  19  -  21   21
Global Series   411  430  841  406  468   874

 $ 919 $ 1,538 $ 2,457 $ 1,045 $ 1,656  $ 2,701
(1) Excludes CRJ200 and Q200 aircraft, which had no EOAPC balance outstanding as at January 31, 2005.   
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The decrease in EOAPC is mainly due to:  
• reductions in mature programs, where the actual unit cost is less than the average cost recognized to income, 

essentially for the Q-Series, CRJ200, CRJ700, Learjet 45 and the Global Express aircraft. 
Partially offset by:  
• increases due to learning curve costs incurred in programs in their early phases of production, essentially the 

Learjet 40, Challenger 300 and Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft. 
 
The decrease in program tooling costs is mainly due to the benefit arising from leveraging prior investments in the 
product platforms, resulting in a lower investment for programs under development or in their early phases of 
production, compared to amortization for programs under commercial production. Amortization of tooling costs 
amounted to $244 million in fiscal year 2005, compared to $195 million for fiscal year 2004. 
 
The following table presents accounting program quantities and remaining deliveries for programs with an 
EOAPC balance outstanding as at January 31, 2005: 
 

Program family 
Accounting 

program quantities  Remaining deliveries(1)  
Regional aircraft   

CRJ Series(2) 550 328 
Q-Series(2) 225 42 

Business aircraft   
Learjet Series 725 353 
Challenger 300 300 265 
Global Series 450 294 

(1) Remaining deliveries include 90 firm orders of CRJ700, CRJ705 and CRJ900 aircraft and 69 firm orders of Q-Series turboprops.  
(2) Excludes CRJ200 and Q200 aircraft, which had no EOAPC balance outstanding as at January 31, 2005.  
 
Research and development 
 
During fiscal year 2005, Bombardier invested $188 million in research and development ($62 million of which 
were expensed in the consolidated statements of income and $126 million of which were capitalized to program 
tooling) compared to $176 million during fiscal year 2004 ($38 million of which were expensed in the consolidated 
statements of income and $138 million of which were capitalized to program tooling). Research and development 
expenditures were higher during fiscal year 2005, mainly due to the feasibility study in connection with a new 
generation of commercial aircraft, the CSeries program, partially offset by the reduction in program tooling 
investment. 
 
Order backlog  
 
Bombardier Aerospace’s order backlog was as follows as at January 31: 
 

(in billions of dollars)   2005   2004 
Aircraft programs $ 9.1 $ 9.8 
Defence Services  1.1  1.1 

$ 10.2 $ 10.9 
 
The year-over-year reduction in the order backlog is mainly due to: 
• the voluntary removal of 34 CRJ200 aircraft orders from Independence Air, Inc. (formerly Atlantic Coast 

Airlines, Inc.); and 
• the deliveries exceeding new orders for regional aircraft (mainly CRJ200 aircraft). 
Partially offset by: 
• the increase in the backlog for business aircraft. 
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Labour relations and workforce 
 
The total number of employees and the percentage of employees covered by collective agreements were as 
follows as at January 31:  
 

   2005   2004 
Total number of employees  27,100   26,600 
Percentage of employees covered by collective agreements  56%   56% 

 
The 2% increase in the total number of employees is mainly due to the ramp-up in production of the 
Challenger 300 program and the setting up of a team to study the opportunity to launch the CSeries program, 
partially offset by restructuring initiatives. 
 
A workforce reduction program of approximately 2,000 employees at facilities in Belfast and Montréal is underway 
due to a realignment of the production rate of CRJ Series aircraft in order to meet current and forecasted market 
demand. The workforce reduction program, which began in November 2004, will be completed by the end of the 
second quarter of fiscal year 2006. Approximately 200 employees had been terminated as at January 31, 2005. 
The total cost of the workforce reduction program is estimated at $26 million, $19 million of which was recorded in 
cost of sales in fiscal year 2005. 
 
The Belfast employees from Amicus, the Amalgamated Transport & General Workers Union and the General 
Machinists & Boilermakers approved a new collective agreement in fiscal year 2005. The collective agreement, 
covering approximately 4,700 employees, will expire on January 24, 2007. 
 
In fiscal year 2006, collective agreements with the following unions are up for renewal: the Canadian Auto 
Workers covering approximately 1,000 employees at the completion centre in Montréal and the International 
Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers 712 ("IAMAW"), the largest union, covering approximately 
6,300 employees, also in Montréal, which expires on November 30, 2005.  
 
In March 2005, the IAMAW approved a new six-year collective agreement, beginning in December 2005. The 
agreement is conditional on the assembly of the CSeries aircraft being performed in the Montréal area. This 
agreement will provide Bombardier increased operational flexibility to better meet technological and economical 
demands of the aerospace industry, including the introduction of new work shifts on a voluntary basis and a 
reduction in the number of job classifications. 
 
 
II BUSINESS AIRCRAFT 
 
Products 
 
Bombardier’s narrow-body business jet product family includes the following aircraft: Learjet 40, Learjet 40 XR, 
Learjet 45, Learjet 45 XR and Learjet 60 aircraft. The wide-body business jet product family includes the following 
aircraft: Challenger 300, Challenger 604, Challenger 800, Bombardier Global 5000, Global Express and Global 
Express XRS aircraft.  
 
• In June 2004, the Federal Aviation Administration ("FAA") approved the Learjet 45 XR aircraft Honeywell 

engine upgrade, which allows Bombardier to offer a complete Learjet 45 XR package. In December 2004, the 
European Aviation Safety Agency ("EASA") granted its approval for the Learjet 45 XR aircraft, which allows 
Bombardier to deliver this aircraft to any of the EASA’s 25 member countries. 

• In June 2004, following certification from the FAA in July 2003, the Learjet 40 aircraft received Transport 
Canada ("TC") certification. 

• In October 2004, the FAA awarded certification for the Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft. Earlier in fiscal year 
2005, TC awarded full certification, the EASA granted its approval and the Joint Aviation Authority ("JAA") 
issued a letter of recommendation to member countries for this aircraft.  

• In January 2005, the Civil Aviation Administration of China granted its approval for the Learjet 40, Learjet 
40 XR, Learjet 45 and Learjet 45 XR aircraft, which allows Bombardier to deliver these aircraft in China. In 
January 2005, Bombardier delivered its first Learjet 45 XR aircraft to a Chinese customer.  
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During fiscal year 2005, enhancements to the Learjet 40 aircraft were made and introduced to the market as the 
Learjet 40 XR aircraft. In comparison to the existing Learjet 40 aircraft, the Learjet 40 XR aircraft enhancements 
are as follows: 
• upgraded engines that improve aircraft performance when departing on hot days out of high altitude airfields;  
• enhanced engines providing faster climb and cruise speeds, especially under challenging conditions; and 
• a 3%-pound increase to the maximum take-off weight. 
 
The Learjet 40 XR aircraft is expected to enter service during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006. 
 
Aircraft deliveries  
 
Business aircraft deliveries were as follows for fiscal years: 
 

   2005   2004 
  Flexjet (1) Total  Flexjet (1) Total 

Narrow-body business jet       
Learjet 31A - - - 2 - 2 
Learjet 40 11 3 14 3 1 4 
Learjet 45 23 - 23 20 1 21 
Learjet 60 10 - 10 13 1 14 

Wide-body business jet       
Challenger 300 21 7 28 5 2 7 
Challenger 604 31 - 31 23 1 24 
Bombardier Global 5000 9 - 9 - - - 
Global Express 13 - 13 17 - 17 

 118 10 128 83 6 89 
(1) An aircraft delivery is included in the above table when more than 50% of its fractional shares have been sold to external customers. For 
 these aircraft, revenues and margin ceased to be recognized upon delivery effective February 1, 2004. Revenues are now recognized over 
 the period of the related service contract.  
 
The 44% increase in business aircraft deliveries mainly resulted from the ramp-up in production of new models 
(Challenger 300 and Learjet 40 aircraft), the first deliveries of the Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft during fiscal 
year 2005, as well as from the strengthening of the business aircraft market.  
 
Net orders 
 
During fiscal year 2005, Bombardier received 154 net orders for business aircraft, compared to 91 net orders 
during fiscal year 2004. The increase reflects the introduction of new models and the sustained recovery in the 
worldwide business aircraft market.  
 
Market drivers  
 
The significant market drivers for business aircraft are economic outlook, age of existing aircraft, availability of 
new aircraft models and pre-owned business jet inventory levels.  
 
The following table provides certain indicators for the business aircraft market for calendar years: 
 

 2004 2003 
Real gross domestic product ("GDP") (adjusted for inflation)(1) (2) 3.7% 4.4% 
Number of pre-owned business jet inventory for sale(3) 1,786 units 1,872 units 

(1) According to Blue Chip Economic Indicators, published May 10, 2004, and February 10, 2005. 
(2) Forecast for calendar year 2005 is 3.6%. 
(3) According to monthly extracts of the Jetnet database. 
 
North America remains the largest business jet market. A recent Honeywell aircraft production forecast (from 
World Aircraft Sale Magazine dated November 2004) indicates that if GDP growth exceeds the 3% range over the 
next 12 to 18 months, the strengthening of the business aircraft market is expected to continue. The forecast also 
indicates North American operators expect to replace or expand the equivalent of approximately 25% of their jet 
fleet with new aircraft during the next five years. Aircraft age and range were the reasons most frequently cited by 
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North American operators to acquire new jets. Improved cabin space and a desire for more speed were other 
factors cited. 
 
The number of pre-owned business jet inventory for sale is also a market driver. When purchasing an aircraft, the 
buyer makes a choice between a new or pre-owned aircraft and decides whether to purchase an aircraft that is 
still being manufactured or one that is out of production. A reduction in the supply of pre-owned aircraft decreases 
the price gap between a new and a pre-owned aircraft, making the choice of a new aircraft more attractive. The 
worldwide pre-owned business jet inventory level has declined by 4.6% as at December 31, 2004 compared to 
December 31, 2003.  
 
Competition  
 
The overall business aircraft market is segmented into nine distinct categories, based on cabin size, range and 
price of aircraft, which are from smallest to largest: very light, light, super light, midsize, super midsize, large, 
super large, ultra long range and converted airliner segments. The orders and deliveries of the converted airliner 
segment, represented by the Challenger 800 aircraft, are shown in the regional aircraft section. 
 
Bombardier’s major competitors in the narrow-body business jet segment are Cessna Aircraft Company 
("Cessna"), a subsidiary of Textron Inc., and Raytheon Aircraft ("Raytheon"), a subsidiary of the Raytheon 
Company. Bombardier’s main competitors in the wide-body business jet segment are Gulfstream Aerospace 
Corporation ("Gulfstream"), a subsidiary of General Dynamics and Dassault Aviation ("Dassault"). 
 
The table below illustrates Bombardier’s major competitors by segment (the shaded areas represent segments in 
which Bombardier’s competitors have a product offering). 
 
 

 Narrow-body Wide-body 
 Very 

light Light Super light Midsize Super 
midsize Large Super large Ultra 

long range 

Bombardier  

 

  

 

   

Cessna 
 

   

 

   

Dassault     

 

   

Gulfstream    

  

   

Raytheon 
 

  

  

   

 
 
Bombardier competes in all of these markets, except for the very light segment, with an extensive portfolio of 
10 products. Within the last five years, Bombardier has successfully brought to market three new aircraft (the 
Bombardier Global 5000, Challenger 300 and the Learjet 40 aircraft), which offer further potential to develop 
derivatives in the upcoming years.  
 

     L40 L45 
  L40 XR L45 XR L60 

   GEX 
   CL300    CL604     G5000 GEX XRS 
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Market share  
 
Assessment of market share in the business aircraft industry is based on delivery data from General Aviation 
Manufacturers Association ("GAMA") for the calendar year, and therefore does not correspond to the number of 
aircraft deliveries recorded during Bombardier’s fiscal year. For some competitors, GAMA only provides the 
information by product family. In these cases, Bombardier estimated the deliveries by segment, using the U.S. 
FAA records, other databases, historical trends and competitive intelligence.   
 
Total deliveries and Bombardier’s market share of the business aircraft market in which it competes were as 
follows for calendar years:  
 
     2004    2003 
   Bombardier    Bombardier 

Segment(1) Product 

 Total 
market 

(in units) 

 Total 
deliveries 
 (in units) 

 Market 
 share 

Total 
market 

(in units) 

 Total 
 deliveries 
 (in units) 

 Market 
 share 

Light Learjet 40 100 17  17% 78 2 3% 
Super light  Learjet 45 (45 XR) 77 22  29% 65 17 26% 
Midsize  Learjet 60 71 9  13% 66 12 18% 
Super midsize  Challenger 300 67 28  42% 44 1 2% 
Large Challenger 604 82 29  35% 58 24 41% 
Super large Bombardier Global 5000 37 4  11% n/a n/a  n/a 
Ultra long range Global Express 48 20  42% 47 14 30% 
  482 129  27%  358 70  20%(2)

 

(1) Deliveries of the converted airliner segment are shown in the regional aircraft section of this MD&A.  
(2) Restated to exclude the converted airliner segment. 
n/a: not applicable. Program had recently been launched. 
 
In calendar year 2004, the 84% increase in total deliveries and the seven-percentage-point increase in 
Bombardier’s market share in segments in which it competes, reflects the ramp-up in production of new models 
(Challenger 300 and Learjet 40 aircraft), as well as the first deliveries of the Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft, and 
the overall strengthening of the business aircraft market. 
 
Bombardier competes in eight out of nine market segments, which on a revenue basis represents 96% of the total 
business aircraft market.  
 
Outlook  
 
The recent Honeywell 13th annual business aviation outlook projects sustained near-term sales for business 
aircraft and predicts average deliveries will return to the 700 aircraft per annum level over the next 10 years, 
compared to 560 aircraft per annum over the previous 10 years.  
 
In the market segments in which Bombardier competes, it is expected that competition will remain intense over 
the next few years, as all manufacturers will be offering product upgrades to stimulate demand.  
 
With the first deliveries of the Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft, the recently introduced Challenger 300, Learjet 40, 
and Learjet 45 XR aircraft and improved integrated operations, Bombardier believes that it will benefit from the 
favourable industry outlook and is well positioned for the future.  
 
 
III REGIONAL AIRCRAFT 
 
Products  
 
The Bombardier line of regional aircraft includes the 40-, 44- and 50-passenger CRJ200, the 70-passenger 
CRJ700, the 75-passenger CRJ705 and the 86-passenger CRJ900 regional jets. It also includes the Q-Series 
family of turboprops, consisting of the 37-passenger Q200, the 50-passenger Q300 and the 68- to 78-passenger 
Q400 aircraft. 
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Newly developed enhancements of the CRJ700 and CRJ900 aircraft will improve performance and economics, 
contributing to more operational flexibility and lower operating costs for airlines. 
 
Developments for the CRJ700 aircraft include the CRJ700 LR (long range) aircraft, which extends the range of 
the aircraft over that of the CRJ700 ER (extended range) aircraft. In addition, an engine upgrade developed for 
the CRJ700 aircraft is expected to offer operators savings of up to 15% in engine maintenance costs over 15 
years. 
 
Developments for the CRJ900 aircraft include a number of product enhancements that substantially improve 
take-off and landing performance, increase range and lower fuel consumption. In addition to the performance 
improvements, Bombardier has developed the CRJ900 LR to complement the existing baseline and extended 
range aircraft. The CRJ900 LR aircraft provides an increased payload and range over those of the CRJ900 ER 
version. 
 
Aircraft deliveries 
 
Regional aircraft deliveries were as follows for fiscal years:  
 

 2005 2004 
Regional jets   

CRJ200 100 152 
CRJ700 64 50 
CRJ900 14 12 

Turboprops   
Q200 1 - 
Q300 5 9 
Q400 16 9 

 200 232 
 
The 14% decrease in regional aircraft deliveries is mainly due to lower deliveries of CRJ200 aircraft, in line with 
current market analysis indicating a reduction in the market for 50-passenger regional jet sales, partially offset by 
higher deliveries of CRJ700, CRJ900 and Q400 aircraft. 
 
Orders and backlog  
 
Bombardier received the following significant orders for fiscal year 2005: 
 

Customer  Aircraft  Number 
Atlantic Southeast Airlines  CRJ200 32 
   
Air Canada  CRJ705  15 
  CRJ200  15 
   
Air Nostrum  CRJ200 20 
   
FlyBE  Q400 20 
   
Air New Zealand  Q300  17 
   
Northwest Airlines  CRJ200 10 

 
On September 12, 2004, US Airways filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Act. 
As at January 31, 2005, there were 36 CRJ aircraft (comprised of one CRJ200 and 35 CRJ700 aircraft) yet to be 
delivered to US Airways from the original May 2003 order of 85 aircraft. Of the remaining 36 aircraft, six aircraft 
will be delivered to General Electric Capital Aviation Services ("GECAS") in the first two quarters of fiscal year 
2007 and 30 aircraft will be delivered to US Airways, in accordance with a scheduled timeframe yet to be 
finalized. 
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Regional aircraft orders received by aircraft type were as follows as at January 31: 
 

 2005  2004 
  

Orders 
 
 Swaps 

Cancellations/ 
removals(1)  

  
 Net orders 

 
 Net orders 

Regional jets      
CRJ200 82 (21) (36) 25  54 
CRJ700 12 17 (4) 25  39 
CRJ705 15 - - 15  - 
CRJ900 - 6 - 6  14 

Turboprops      
Q200 1 - - 1  1 
Q300 25 (3) - 22  7 
Q400 38 1 - 39  25 

 173 - (40) 133  140 
(1) Bombardier voluntarily removed the 34 CRJ200 aircraft order from Independence Air, Inc. (formerly Atlantic Coast Airlines, Inc.). 
 
The order backlog, options and conditional orders for regional aircraft consisted of the following as at 
January 31, 2005:  
 

 
 Aircraft on firm order 

Options and 
conditional orders Total 

Regional jets    
CRJ200  76 571 647 
CRJ700  57 434 491 
CRJ705  15 15 30 
CRJ900  18 26 44 

Turboprops    
Q200  1 2 3 
Q300  23 11 34 
Q400  46 86 132 

  236 1,145 1,381 
 
Market drivers  
 
The intense competition among low-cost carriers and the challenging fare environment are important market 
drivers in the regional aircraft market. These main market drivers are ultimately causing the following to occur: 
• Airlines continue to restructure their networks and to rely on their regional airline partners to provide smaller 

units of capacity at competitive costs to supplement and replace their own larger aircraft capacity, as well as 
to open new markets. This has contributed significantly to the growth of the regional airline industry as 
outlined in the table hereafter (Regional airline traffic). 

• There is currently a shift from smaller to larger capacity regional aircraft, such as the shift from the 
50-passenger CRJ200 to the 70-passenger CRJ700 aircraft. This shift is a result of the larger aircraft having 
lower seat-mile costs, which helps to maintain the airlines’ profitability even in a depressed fare environment. 
Also, additional seats allow the airlines to serve more passengers, as passenger traffic recovers from a lower 
level in calendar year 2001. 

• The continuing expansion by the low-cost carriers affected the mainline airlines' profitability. Increasingly, 
mainline airlines are using regional airlines to maintain a market presence and to continue to feed valuable 
long-haul traffic into their hubs. 

 
The availability of aircraft financing continues to be a major challenge in the aerospace industry, even for the 
profitable regional airlines. During fiscal year 2005, most major airlines have been restructuring their activities to 
lower their costs to more competitive levels, both inside and outside Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Act or its 
equivalent. US Airways re-entered Chapter 11 in September 2004, while United Airlines has been in Chapter 11 
for more than two years. Other airlines such as American Airlines and Delta Air Lines made progress on 
restructuring their costs outside Chapter 11. Air Canada successfully emerged from court protection in September 
2004. Another Bombardier customer, Atlantic Coast Airlines, Inc., changed its business plan from a code-sharing 
regional to an independent low-fare strategy operating under the name of Independence Air, Inc. All of these 
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market developments have created uncertainty in the regional aircraft market and have made it more difficult to 
structure aircraft financing, which in turn has had a direct impact on orders and deliveries. 
 
According to Airline Monitor, in calendar year 2004, U.S. regional airlines posted a strong year-over-year 
percentage increase of 27.1% in revenue passenger miles ("RPM"), compared to a 7.1% increase for mainline 
airlines during the same period. In addition, according to Airline Monitor, U.S. regional airlines also posted a 
strong year-over-year increase of 22.7% in available seat miles ("ASM"), compared to a 4.3% increase for 
mainline airlines during the same period.  
 
The year-over-year increases of RPM and ASM for U.S. regional airlines are as follows for calendar years: 
 
Regional airline traffic 

 2004  2003 
 (in billions) (in %) (in billions)   (in %) 
RPM(1) (2) 47 27.1 37 27.8 
ASM(2) (3) 68 22.7 55 21.5 

(1) RPM is a measure of paying passenger traffic and represents passenger demand for air transport, defined as one fare-paying passenger 
transported one mile. 

(2) According to Airline Monitor - January/February 2005 report. 
(3) ASM is a measure of available passenger capacity and represents one seat carried for one mile, whether a passenger occupies it or not. 
 
Competition  
 
Bombardier’s main competitors are Embraer-Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. ("Embraer") in the regional 
jet segment and the European consortium Avions de Transport Régional ("ATR") in the turboprop segment. 
 
The table below illustrates Bombardier’s competitors by segment (the shaded areas represent segments in which 
Bombardier’s competitors have a product offering). 
 
 

 Regional jets Turboprops 
 20 - 39 40 - 59 60 - 79 80 - 90 20 - 39 40 - 59 60 - 90 

Bombardier  

 

  

 

  

Embraer 
 

 

 

    

ATR      

 

 

 
 
Bombardier has families of aircraft offering commonality in the turboprop and regional jet segments: 
 
Regional jets - The CRJ Series of aircraft is unique in that it offers regional airlines a network solution with 
products ranging from 40 to 86 passengers with product commonality, which includes common crew qualification, 
common spare parts and common maintenance procedures. Bombardier also believes this family has an 
economic advantage over the Embraer aircraft in each of the respective seat ranges due to their superior speed, 
better fuel efficiency and lower maintenance costs.  
 
Turboprops - The Q-Series is the most complete family of turboprops with products ranging from 37 to 
78 passengers with product commonality, which includes common crew qualification, common spare parts and 
common maintenance procedures. The Q400 aircraft competitive advantage is its superior economics and 
substantial speed, which allows regional airlines to serve markets outside the range of traditional turboprops.  
 

Product commonality 
 Q200 Q300 Q400 

Product commonality 
CRJ200 CRJ700/705 CRJ900 
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Market share 
 
Assessment of market share in the regional aircraft industry is calculated on the basis of gross order intake and 
aircraft deliveries recorded during the calendar year, which does not correspond to the number of gross order 
intake and aircraft deliveries recorded during Bombardier’s fiscal year.  
 
Total gross order intake and Bombardier’s market share in the market segments in which it competes, were as 
follows for calendar years: 
 

   2004   2003 
 Bombardier Bombardier 

 

Worldwide  
market 

(in units) 

Gross order 
intake 

(in units)

 
Market 

share 

Worldwide 
market 

(in units) 

Gross order 
intake 

(in units) 

 
Market 

share 
CRJ Series  241(1) 157 65%  250(1) 132 53% 
Q-Series  47(2) 35 74%  41(2) 31 76% 
  288 192 67%  291 163 56% 

(1) 40- to 90-passenger segment. 
(2) 20- to 90-passenger segment. 

Source: Competitor reports.  
 
In calendar year 2004, the worldwide regional aircraft market, measured by gross order intake, was essentially 
unchanged, whereas Bombardier’s market share in segments in which it competes increased by 11 percentage 
points. This increase is mainly due to an increase in the market share for CRJ200 aircraft. 
 
Total deliveries and Bombardier’s market share in the market segments in which it competes, were as follows for 
calendar years: 
 
   2004   2003 
 Bombardier Bombardier 

 

Worldwide  
market 

(in units) 

Total 
deliveries 
(in units)

 
Market 

share 

Worldwide  
market 

(in units) 

Total 
deliveries 
(in units) 

 
Market 

share 
CRJ Series  310(1) 176 57%  317(1) 223 70% 
Q-Series  32(2) 19 59%  28(2) 19 68% 
  342 195 57%  345 242 70% 

(1) 40- to 90-passenger segment. 
(2) 20- to 90-passenger segment. 

Source: Competitor reports.  
 
In calendar year 2004, the worldwide regional aircraft market measured by deliveries remained essentially 
unchanged.  
 
The decrease in Bombardier's market share is mainly due to the decrease in deliveries for the CRJ200 aircraft 
and to the entry into commercial service of the Embraer 170 in early calendar year 2004. Bombardier continues to 
have a greater total market share than its competitors, on a delivery basis. 
 
Outlook  
 
Bombardier currently has two proven families of regional aircraft in service with 11 of the world’s 15 largest 
airlines, their subsidiaries and affiliated companies (as per an Air Transport World report dated January 2005). 
 
CRJ Series – Competition against Embraer for the 70- to 90-passenger regional jet market segment will continue 
to be fierce. The CRJ700 and CRJ900 aircraft compete with the Embraer 170 and Embraer 175. Bombardier 
believes that its aircraft have economical advantages, as well as an earlier entry into service and family 
commonality benefits across the 40- to 86-passenger CRJ Series aircraft. This family advantage is expected to be 
further enhanced by the introduction of the CRJ705 aircraft, the CRJ700 LR aircraft and the newly enhanced 
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CRJ900 aircraft family. This advantage has resulted in increased orders as Bombardier has captured additional 
market share in calendar year 2004 based on gross order intake, in the CRJ Series market. 
 
Current market analysis indicates an expected reduction in the market for 50-passenger regional jet sales. As a 
result, Bombardier realigned the production rate of CRJ Series aircraft, in October and November 2004 to meet 
current and forecasted market demand. 
 
Q-Series – Bombardier continues to be well positioned with its family of Q-Series new-generation quiet turboprop 
aircraft. The Q-Series aircraft have unique performance capabilities, particularly on short, difficult runways. The 
current year’s performance of the turboprop market demonstrated strong demand for turboprop aircraft, 
particularly for Q-Series aircraft. 
 
Improved seat-mile cost being a necessary response to the continuing difficult environment in the airline industry, 
Bombardier expects demand for the larger regional aircraft such as CRJ700, CRJ900 and Q400 aircraft to 
increase. 
 
 
IV CSERIES AIRCRAFT 
 
During fiscal year 2005, Bombardier undertook a feasibility study in connection with the development of a new 
generation of commercial aircraft, identified as the CSeries. The CSeries will present a new paradigm in its 
market segment by offering an economical, passenger-friendly and operationally flexible family of aircraft. Should 
Bombardier decide to proceed with the development of this family of aircraft, it would offer mainline airlines, both 
the fast-growing low-cost carriers and network carriers, a 110- to 130-passenger family of aircraft with superior 
range and economics as well as operational flexibility. Bombardier believes that this market segment is not well 
served by any aircraft in production today. Mainline airlines currently rely on aging Boeing DC9, MD80 and 
Classic 737 aircraft and on British Aerospace BAE-146 aircraft for the lower end of the 100- to 150-passenger 
segment capacity. There are more than 6,000 aircraft in service in this segment today, 4,000 of which are 
scheduled to retire in the next 20 years. No other aircraft manufacturer is currently designing a truly innovative 
and economical replacement product whose design point is specifically focused on this segment. The expected 
superior range of the CSeries aircraft would allow low-cost carriers to serve more and smaller city pairs point to 
point and provide expanded hub opportunities for the network carriers, both of which should stimulate passenger 
demand. 
 
The CSeries family would offer two size variants, 110 and 130 seats, all in economy seating, and each size 
variant would be available with range flexibility per individual airline requirements between 1,800 (short-haul) and 
3,000 (transcontinental) nautical miles. If the program is launched during the first half of fiscal year 2006, initial 
deliveries are expected to begin in 2010.  
 
Bombardier estimates the market for the 100- to 150-passenger commercial aircraft segment to be approximately 
$250 billion, or approximately 5,800 aircraft, over the next 20 years.  
 
Total development costs are estimated at $2.1 billion. If the program is launched, the Corporation's objective is to 
have the funding for the development costs of the CSeries financed evenly (one-third each) between suppliers, 
governments and Bombardier. 
 
In March 2005, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved an authority to offer whereby Bombardier will 
offer the new CSeries family of aircraft to customers. The authority to offer is an important step in the process that 
could lead to the aircraft program launch. Prior to launch, Bombardier will seek firm commitments from potential 
customers, suppliers and government partners. The Corporation is expected to decide on whether to proceed with 
the manufacturing of the CSeries in fiscal year 2006. 
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V AIRCRAFT SERVICES 
 
Bombardier provides a broad range of services to customers, including parts logistics, customer training and 
aircraft maintenance. Bombardier is also associated with authorized service centres worldwide, that provide 
complete services to operators. Bombardier also offers a fractional ownership program as well as hourly flight 
entitlement programs. 
 
Parts logistics 
 
Bombardier provides worldwide spare parts support, including regular parts shipments, aircraft on ground service, 
lease programs, rotable management programs, surplus sales and customer-owned repair. Customers are 
currently served: 
• for business aircraft, from two distribution centres in Wichita and Montréal, from Bombardier-owned service 

centres in Wichita, Tucson, Hartford, Fort Lauderdale, and Dallas, and from depots in London, Singapore, 
Sydney, and Frankfurt; these facilities are also used to serve customers’ "over-the-counter" needs; and 

• for regional aircraft, from four distribution centres in Detroit, Paris, Sydney and Beijing.  
 
Parts logistics continues to be a focus for Bombardier. Following the creation of a new parts logistics organization 
in January 2004, focus has been placed on the consolidation and integration of the existing regional aircraft and 
business aircraft spare parts organizations. Progress has been made in the establishment of two new centrally 
located distribution warehouses in Chicago and Frankfurt, both of which are expected to be fully operational in 
fiscal year 2006. Progress in improving parts availability and reducing delivery times has also been made, 
contributing to an increased level of customer satisfaction.   
 
The parts logistics organization supports the parts requirements of all Bombardier customers for the life of the 
aircraft. Spare parts demand is driven by the size of the fleet of Bombardier aircraft and by the number of hours 
flown by such a fleet. The continued growth of the installed fleet should contribute to growth in spare parts 
demand.   
 
Bombardier competes with various large and small suppliers of aerospace parts. Bombardier's competitive 
strengths include the availability of all spare parts for its aircraft. Bombardier is also at an advantage offering 
Original Equipment Manufacturer ("OEM") certification along with OEM technical advice. Bombardier also offers a 
number of spare parts programs for customers including Smart Parts program, which allows customers to 
purchase spare parts on a "cost-per-flight-hour basis." 
 
Fractional ownership programs 
 
Through the North American Flexjet program, owners purchase shares of aircraft with operations and support 
including flight crew, maintenance, hangar fees and insurance. The North American Skyjet program offers both 
on-demand and flight time entitlement charter services. Through the Skyjet International program, which serves 
the European, Asian, and Middle East markets, customers purchase hours of flight time entitlement instead of 
shares of aircraft. The Skyjet program arranges for its customer's business jet charter with selected air charter 
operators. 
 
The North American Flexjet program has partnered with Delta AirElite Business Jets, a subsidiary of Delta Air 
Lines, to market and sell the Flexjet membership card program (25-hour block of flight time entitlement on the 
Flexjet fleet). 
 
The number of customers owning shares of aircraft or with an hourly flight time entitlement, excluding customers 
serviced by Delta AirElite Business Jets, were as follows as at January 31: 
 

   2005   2004 
Customers owning shares of aircraft   593  627 
Customers with an hourly flight time entitlement  219  140 
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The net decrease in customers owning shares of aircraft is offset by an increase in customers with an hourly flight 
entitlement: 
• The net decrease of 34 customers owning aircraft shares is mainly due to the rationalization by customers of 

their available capacity and the evaluation of other travel options, including purchase of hourly flight 
entitlements. 

• The net increase of 79 customers with an hourly flight entitlement is mainly due to an increase in customers 
entering the Skyjet Card program (25-hour block of flight time entitlement) and the continued strengthening of 
the business aircraft market. 

 
The North American Flexjet program included 79 aircraft in service in North America as at January 31, 2005, 
compared to 100 aircraft as at January 31, 2004. The 21% decrease is due to a combination of the Learjet 31A 
aircraft being phased out of the Flexjet program as well as operational improvements that have allowed Flexjet to 
more closely align aircraft in service to net cumulative shares sold. 
 
Customer training  
 
Bombardier offers a complete range of pilot and maintenance training programs for CRJ Series aircraft in 
Montréal and in Berlin through a joint venture. 
 
Bombardier is the only business jet manufacturer to directly provide customized pilot and maintenance training, as 
well as ancillary training. The training centres are located in Montréal and at the Dallas/Forth Worth International 
Airport. 
 
In addition, Bombardier provides maintenance and support services for military pilot training including the NATO 
Flying Training in Canada ("NFTC") program, which is in full operation with Canada, Denmark, the U.K., the 
Republic of Singapore, Italy, and Hungary as participating nations. 
 
Aircraft maintenance  
 
Bombardier offers maintenance services for its business aircraft customers at its four exclusive centres located in 
Fort Lauderdale, Hartford, Wichita and Dallas, as well as at a service centre located in Berlin, which is a joint 
venture with Lufthansa. In addition, Bombardier offers maintenance services to its business and regional aircraft 
customers at two centres, located in Tucson and Bridgeport. 
 
Bombardier is also associated with 30 authorized service centres worldwide, of which 28 centres are for business 
aircraft and two for regional aircraft, that provide complete services to operators.   
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Transportation 
 

 
 
I OVERVIEW 
 
Achievements 
 
• Successful implementation of the initial phase of the restructuring initiative to improve its cost structure and 

address excess production capacity. 
• Strengthening of project management function to reinforce financial and engineering controls. 
• Entry into service of new products such as the AGC multiple units family in France, and the homologation of 

the TRAXX multi-system locomotive. 
• Continued leading position in rolling stock, with the delivery of more than 3,500 railway cars during fiscal year 

2005, including the 1,500th double-deck coach to Deutsche Bahn AG ("DB"); the 1,000th Class 481 electric 
multiple unit ("EMU") car to S-Bahn, Berlin; the 500th M-7 EMU car to the Metropolitan Transportation 
Authority ("MTA"), New York; and the 200th E464 locomotive in Italy.  

• Electrostar trains have proven to be very reliable newly-built EMU's in the U.K., as well as a very strong 
reliability performance of the R142 rapid cars on the MTA network during fiscal year 2005. 

 
Restructuring initiative  
 
On March 16, 2004, the Board of Directors approved a restructuring initiative to reduce the cost structure of the 
transportation segment. This initiative contemplated a workforce reduction of 6,600 positions, 5,100 of which were 
permanent positions. As a result of the recent slowdown in European market demand, the restructuring plan was 
enlarged during the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 (the "enlarged plan") in order to maintain the Corporation’s 
competitiveness. The enlarged plan now contemplates additional proposed workforce reductions for a net total of 
7,300 permanent positions. The planned reduction in the total workforce, including contractual employees, is 
7,600 positions, net of expected new hirings. 
 
The Amadora (Portugal) site and the Doncaster (U.K.) site ceased manufacturing activities in May and June 2004 
respectively, both ahead of schedule. The Derby Pride Park site in the U.K. ceased manufacturing operations as 
planned in December 2004. The following sites are expected to cease manufacturing activities in fiscal year 2006: 
• Pratteln (Switzerland) in the second quarter; 
• Ammendorf (Germany) in the fourth quarter; 
• Kalmar (Sweden) in the fourth quarter; and 
• Wakefield (U.K.) in the fourth quarter. 
 
Approximately 4,000 positions, net of new hires, including contractual employees have been eliminated as at 
January 31, 2005.  
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The costs and net cash outflows related to the proposed enlarged plan for fiscal years 2004 and 2005 and 
expected for fiscal years 2006 and 2007 are as follows:  
 

  Actual   Actual Expected  Expected
  2004   2005 2006-2007  total
Severance and other involuntary termination  $ 161  $ 142  $ 38  $ 341
Other(1)   188    30   58   276
  $ 349  $ 172  $ 96  $ 617
      
Net cash outflows  $ -  $ 147  $ 326  $ 473

(1) Comprised of property, plant and equipment write-downs, lease termination and environmental costs, as well as other costs. 
 
The total cost of the restructuring initiative, initially estimated at $583 million, is now expected to amount to 
$617 million. The incremental costs of the enlarged plan, essentially comprised of severance and other 
involuntary termination costs, and the negative effect of the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro 
and other western European currencies, were mostly offset by lower severance and other involuntary termination 
costs incurred under the original plan compared to the previous estimates. These lower costs are mainly due to 
tight management of the workforce reduction and efficiency in restructuring activities, as well as expected higher 
proceeds on asset disposals. 
 
Analysis of results 
 

   2005   2004 
Segmented revenues     
 Rolling stock(1) $  5,622 $ 4,969 
 Services(2)   1,270  1,189 

Other(3)   692  796 
Total revenues   7,584  6,954 
Cost of sales   6,850  6,136 
Margin   734  818 
Operating expenses(4)   563  621 
EBITDA before special items   171  197 
Amortization   138  158 
EBIT before special items   33  39 
Special items  (172)  (349) 
EBIT $ (139) $ (310) 
(as a percentage of total revenues):     
 Margin   9.7%   11.8% 
 EBITDA before special items   2.3%   2.8% 
 EBITDA   -   (2.2%)
 EBIT before special items   0.4%   0.6% 
 EBIT  (1.8%)   (4.5%)

(1) Comprised of mainline, metro, light rail vehicles ("LRV"), locomotives, propulsion and bogies revenues. 
(2) Comprised of maintenance contract revenues, spare parts and logistics management revenues as well as vehicle and component overhaul 
 revenues. 
(3) Comprised of the total transit systems ("TTS"), and rail control solutions divisions revenues, excluding the rolling stock portion of TTS orders 
 manufactured by other divisions within the transportation segment. 
(4) Comprised of selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses. 
 
Segmented revenues by geographic region 

   2005   2004 
Europe $ 6,266 83% $ 5,475 79% 
North America  918 12%  1,067 15% 
Asia-Pacific  336 4%  296 4% 
Other  64 1%  116 2% 
 $ 7,584  $ 6,954  
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Revenues 
The $653-million increase in rolling stock revenues is mainly due to: 
• the positive effect of foreign currency fluctuations resulting from the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to 

the euro and other western European currencies, amounting to approximately $365 million; and 
• higher revenues on mainline contracts in the U.K., France and Austria, due to a higher level of activities 

compared to last fiscal year. 
Partially offset by: 
• lower revenues from the locomotives division, mainly due to a lower level of activities and contract 

adjustments; and from the LRV division, mainly due to a lower level of activities compared to last fiscal year. 
 
The $81-million increase in services revenues is mainly due to the above-mentioned positive effect of foreign 
currency fluctuations amounting to approximately $95 million. 
 
The $104-million decrease in other revenues is mainly due to: 
• contract adjustments recorded in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005 on TTS contracts. These adjustments 

relate to cost estimate revisions for the completion of a limited number of contracts, mainly arising from 
unforeseen technical issues and cost overruns; and  

• lower revenues in North America due to a lower level of activities. 
Partially offset by: 
• the previously mentioned positive effect of foreign currency fluctuations amounting to approximately 

$40 million. 
 
Margin 
The 2.1% decrease in the margin percentage is mainly due to the deterioration in the profitability of certain 
significant contracts during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 and the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, which are 
now accounted for at a lower margin. 
 
Margins for the first quarter of fiscal year 2005 and the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 were negatively impacted 
by contract adjustments related to revisions of estimates for the completion of certain contracts. In addition, the 
margin for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 was negatively impacted by a charge related to the settlement of 
all outstanding claims in connection with the Amtrak Acela high-speed trainset contracts. 
 
Operating expenses 
The $58-million decrease is mainly due to: 
• lower selling, general and administrative expenses, resulting mainly from the positive effects of various 

restructuring and cost reduction initiatives. 
Partially offset by: 
• the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro and other western European currencies, amounting to 

approximately $35 million. 
 
Amortization 
The $20-million decrease is mainly due to: 
• a lower property, plant and equipment base as a result of significant write-downs recorded during the fourth 

quarter of fiscal year 2004 as part of the previously discussed restructuring initiative. 
Partially offset by: 
• the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro and other western European currencies, amounting to 

approximately $10 million.  
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On September 28, 2004, the Corporation reached a settlement with DaimlerChrysler AG on all outstanding 
disputes arising from its acquisition of DaimlerChrysler Rail Systems GmbH ("Adtranz"), resulting in a payment to 
Bombardier of €170 million ($209 million). In fiscal year 2002, the Corporation had recorded a purchase price 
adjustment of €150 million as a reduction in the goodwill on the acquisition of Adtranz in connection with these 
disputes. The additional €20 million ($25 million) has been recorded as a further reduction of goodwill. 
 
Orders and backlog 
 
Bombardier received the following major orders during fiscal year 2005: 
 

 
Client 

 
Product 

Number 
of cars 

 
Rolling Stock 

 
 Services 

 
Other 

French National Railways 
("SNCF"), France 

High-capacity trains, 
AGC type 

324  $ 474  $ -  $ - 

      
Yong-In, Korea Fully-automated rapid 

transit system 
30 

 
  67 -   253 

 
      
Ministry of Railways of China High-speed trains 160(1)   263 -   - 
      
MTA / Metro-North Railroad, 
U.S.A. 

Electric multiple units 120   206 -   - 

      
Spanish National Railways 
("RENFE"), Spain 

14 years maintenance of 
very high-speed trains 

32 
 

  - 159 
 

  - 

      
Belgian National Railways 
("SNCB"), Belgium 

Double-deck passenger 
cars 

70(2)   138  -   - 

      
Madrid Metro, Spain CITYFLO 450 CBTC-

ATC solution 
-   - -   135 

      
RENFE, Spain High-speed power heads 

(variable gauge)  
44   122  -   - 

      
Porterbrook Leasing Ltd., U.K. Refurbishment of class 

455 electric multiple units 
364   - 114   - 

(1) Total number of contracted cars, Bombardier and joint venture partner combined. Total contract value is $424 million. 
(2) Total number of contracted cars, Bombardier and consortium partner combined. Total contract value is $222 million. 
 
Benefiting from its global presence, Bombardier received in addition to the major orders presented in the table 
above, several important mid-size orders for rolling stock, services and rail control solutions in Austria, Australia, 
France, Germany, Israel, Spain, Thailand and the U.K. 
 
Bombardier Transportation’s order backlog was as follows as at January 31: 
 

(in billions of dollars)   2005   2004 
Rolling stock $ 11.4 $ 13.9 
Services   4.8  4.8 
Other  5.1  5.0 
 $ 21.3 $ 23.7 

 
Order intake during fiscal year 2005 totalled $4.4 billion, of which $2.7 billion, $1.0 billion and $700 million related 
respectively to rolling stock, services and other. The decrease in the value of the order backlog reflects an excess 
of revenues recorded over order intake, partially offset by the positive impact of a foreign exchange adjustment of 
approximately $800 million, mainly due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro and other 
western European currencies.  
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Labour relations and workforce  
 
The total number of employees as at January 31 was as follows: 
 

  2005  2004 
North America  6,250  7,000 
Europe  24,500  27,800 
Other  820  800 
   31,570 (1)  35,600 (1) 

(1) Including 2,200 and 3,000 contractual employees for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 respectively. 
 
The decrease of 11% in the total number of employees is mainly due to the restructuring initiative.  
 
In North America and Europe, 40% and 75% respectively of the employees were covered by collective 
agreements as at January 31, 2005. During fiscal year 2005, 38 collective agreements covering approximately 
7,200 employees were successfully negotiated for clerical and production employees throughout Europe; of the 
38 collective agreements, 25 are industry-wide agreements. During fiscal year 2006, 46 collective labour 
agreements are up for renewal for clerical and production employees, covering approximately 15,200 employees. 
  
During fiscal year 2005, six collective agreements covering approximately 1,700 employees were successfully 
negotiated for clerical and production employees throughout North America. During fiscal year 2006, seven 
collective agreements covering approximately 1,500 employees are up for renewal for clerical and production 
employees.  
 
Market overview  
 
The worldwide rail industry is comprised of rolling stock, services, total transit systems and rail control solutions, 
including rail-related telecommunication equipment. The worldwide rail market relevant to Bombardier is the 
market accessible to open bid competition, excluding the North American freight locomotive and wagon markets, 
segments in which Bombardier has no product offering. In addition, Bombardier has modified its definition of the 
services market by excluding the Japanese market and reassessing the European market (by excluding the fleet 
which has reached the end of its life cycle (more than 40 years old)), consistent with industry practice. 
 
The worldwide Bombardier-relevant market, by market segment, based on total annual orders received was as 
follows: 
 

  Calendar year 
(in billions of dollars)  2004 2003 
Rolling stock  $ 14.0  $ 13.1 
Services    13.7   12.4 
Other   7.7   9.3 
  $ 35.4  $ 34.8 

 
In calendar year 2004, the value of total orders awarded in the worldwide market relevant to Bombardier was 
$35.4 billion, compared to $34.8 billion in calendar year 2003. Excluding the impact of the weakening of the U.S. 
dollar compared to the euro and other western European currencies ("currency impact"), the market would have 
decreased by 7%. 
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The worldwide Bombardier-relevant market, by geographic region, based on total annual orders was as follows:  
 

   Calendar year 
  2004 2003 

(in billions of dollars) Total market (in %)  Total market (in %) 
Europe  $ 22.1 62  $ 24.4 70 
North America   5.0 14   4.7 13 
Asia-Pacific   5.2 15   3.0 9 
Other   3.1 9   2.7 8 
  $ 35.4   $ 34.8  

 
• Europe remained the largest geographic market, despite a decrease of $2.3 billion in orders compared to 

2003. Excluding the currency impact, the decrease is $4.1 billion. Postponement of major rolling stock orders 
and the completion of a major replacement program in the U.K. are the main reasons for the decrease. 

• The reduction in Europe has been partially offset by growth in Asia-Pacific, mainly China, where major orders 
for passenger railcars and freight locomotives have been placed.  

• Excluding the currency impact, the North American and Other markets remained essentially unchanged 
compared to calendar year 2003. 

• Bombardier’s market share in terms of orders was 11% in calendar year 2004, down from 30% in calendar 
year 2003, (17% excluding the one-time impact of the London Underground Project in 2003). Although 
Bombardier retained its average market share in most countries, the slowdown in some of Bombardier’s 
major markets, such as Germany and the U.K., led to a significant reduction in orders in these countries, 
resulting in a decrease in Bombardier’s combined market share.  

• The accessible worldwide rail market is expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate ("CAGR") of 
between 0% and 2% over the next three years. 

 
 
II ROLLING STOCK 
 
Rolling stock products include light rail vehicles, metro cars, commuter and regional trains, intercity and high-
speed trains, locomotives, bogies, propulsion and train controls for the vehicles.  
 
Product development  
 
• In China, Bombardier achieved a breakthrough order of 20 eight-car high-speed trainsets from the Ministry of 

Railways of China, with deliveries starting in mid-2006. This new train type is evidence of the successful 
migration of proven technology from Europe to China, and strengthens Bombardier’s position in the Chinese 
intercity train market. 

• In Spain, Bombardier completed product introduction and testing of 32 RENFE AVE high-speed power heads 
for the fastest serial locomotive in the world. The trains are to operate with a maximum speed of 330 km/h. 
Certification by the customer, RENFE, is in progress. 

• Following a design adaptation for the southern European market, Bombardier received LRV orders from 
Marseille (France) and the first contract for the delivery of the proven FLEXITY Classic low-floor trams outside 
Europe was received from Adelaide, Australia. 

• In Switzerland, Bombardier successfully finalized the homologation of the TRAXX F140 MS locomotive for 
cross-border traffic between Switzerland and Italy, one of the fastest-growing rail freight routes in Europe. The 
TRAXX F140 MS locomotive is the first multi-system locomotive provided to SBB Cargo. The TRAXX 
F140 MS is the multi-system variant of the TRAXX locomotive platform and is powered by the newly 
developed MITRAC 3000 multi-system propulsion. 
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Order backlog 
 
Bombardier recognizes revenues using the percentage-of-completion method based on actual cost incurred 
compared to total costs anticipated for the entire contract. The order backlog segmented by percentage of 
completion was as follows as at January 31: 
 

(in billions of dollars)  2005  2004 
0% to 25% $ 5.4 $ 4.1 
25% to 50%  2.7  2.6 
50% to 75%  1.8  3.2 
75% to 100%  1.5  4.0 
 $ 11.4 $ 13.9 

 
The evolution of the categories is mainly due to contracts in the later stages of completion not being fully replaced 
by new orders received during fiscal year 2005. 
 
Market drivers  
 
The demand for rolling stock is driven primarily by vehicle replacement needs in the European and North 
American mature markets and by the addition of new lines or new transit systems in the Asian emerging markets. 
Infrastructure investment is one of the leading indicators for demand in rolling stock. In addition, the liberalization 
of the rail market is expected to continue to positively influence the rail market with the emergence of new rail 
freight and passenger operators.  
 
The rolling stock fleet can be broadly defined either by its mainline applications (commuter, regional and intercity 
services) or mass transit services (metro, light rail and automated systems). 
 
Mainline  
The worldwide mainline rolling stock fleet was as follows for calendar year 2004: 
 
 Number of cars in % 
Europe 178,000 36 
North America 35,000 7 
Asia-Pacific 170,000 35 
Other(1)  107,000 22 
 490,000  

(1) Including the Community of Independent States. 

Sources: Union Internationale des Chemins de Fer, World Bank, and Bombardier research. 
 
Europe has the largest installed base of the worldwide mainline fleet, followed by Asia-Pacific. Western Europe 
alone accounts for 145,000 cars, with 19% of its fleet above the 30-year replacement threshold and another 30% 
reaching life expectancy during the next decade. The addition of high-speed and very high-speed lines throughout 
Europe and Asia-Pacific is also increasing the demand for high-speed trains, with the latest technologies in 
propulsion and train control systems.  
 
During calendar year 2004, pressure on public budgets led governments to decrease spending and infrastructure 
investments in Europe, resulting in an increase in major refurbishment programs to extend vehicle life. The impact 
was to reduce demand for new build rolling stock.  
 
Mass transit  
The worldwide mass transit fleet consists of approximately 62,000 metro cars and approximately 45,000 light rail 
vehicles. There are approximately 100 metro systems worldwide, with New York and London having the largest 
installed fleets. Over 50% of the light-rail fleet is located in Europe, with Germany representing 14% of the 
worldwide fleet. 
 
The demand for rolling stock in the mass transit segment is primarily driven by extensions to existing systems and 
replacement needs in Europe and North America, and by new transit systems in Asian and Middle Eastern 
countries, as a result of economic growth and urbanization. Between 20% and 25% of the European metros and 



28 
 

LRV fleets are above replacement threshold age and another 30% will reach their life expectancy during the next 
decade.  
 
Competition 
 
Bombardier has two major global competitors, Alstom SA ("Alstom") and Siemens AG ("Siemens"). Both are 
active in the same markets as Bombardier.  
 
Ansaldobreda Spa Transport is also a full line supplier, with established bases in Italy and other European 
countries. Construcciones y Auxiliar de Ferrocarriles SA ("CAF"), Patentes Talgo SA, and Stadler Rail AG are 
specialized in the field of passenger cars, mainly in Europe. CAF and Talgo are also active in the U.S.A. Vossloh 
AG is active in the field of diesel locomotives and propulsion, among others.  
 
Japanese suppliers like Kawasaki Heavy Industries Ltd., Mitsubishi Electric Corporation and Toshiba Corporation 
are competing mostly in Asia and the U.S.A. in the rolling stock or electrical propulsion segments. Rotem 
Company is a Korean manufacturer of passenger rolling stock active in Asia, the U.S.A. and Europe.  
 
Bombardier has traditionally maintained project-based business relationships with most of its competitors, 
especially in Europe. 
 
Bombardier's key competitive advantage is its manufacturing expertise and its unmatched passenger rolling stock 
product portfolio, which comprises all train types and major subsystems, ranging from single to double-deck, 
multiple units and loco-hauled trains, electric and diesel propulsion, steel and aluminium carbodies, bogies, from 
urban application up to very high-speed. 
 
Market share 
 
The worldwide rolling stock market relevant to Bombardier, based on total annual orders, by geographic region, 
and Bombardier's market share were as follows: 
 

    Calendar year 
  2004  2003 

 
(in billions of dollars) 

 
Total market 

Bombardier market 
share(1) 

 
Total market 

Bombardier market 
share(1) 

Europe  $ 9.4 36%  $ 11.1 42% 
North America   0.7 43%   0.6 44% 
Asia-Pacific   3.4 11%   0.9 22% 
Other   0.5 9%   0.5 8% 
  $ 14.0 32%  $ 13.1 39% 

(1) Bombardier’s annual market share calculation is based on an average of the total value of orders received compared to the total market 
 during the past three years, consistent with industry practice. Market share calculations do not include European freight wagons, since 
 Bombardier has decided to exit this business. 
 
• Excluding the currency impact, the total worldwide rolling stock market remained essentially unchanged 

compared to calendar year 2003. 
• Europe remained the largest market for rolling stock. Orders placed decreased by $1.7 billion year-over-year 

($2.5 billion excluding the currency impact). Major projects have been postponed, particularly in Germany and 
the U.K. Increased orders in France, Spain and Italy have partially offset this decrease.  

• The North American passenger rolling stock market remained essentially unchanged at below historical 
levels. A number of major procurements planned for calendar year 2004 have been delayed into calendar 
year 2005 or beyond.  

• The increase in orders in Asia-Pacific is mainly due to higher orders in China, relating to intercity, locomotive 
and metro car orders. 

• Bombardier retained its average market share in most European countries. The significant drop in orders in 
Germany and the U.K. resulted in a decrease of Bombardier’s combined European market share. Germany 
and the U.K. placed only 6% of the orders in Europe, compared to the historical average of 38%.  

• The decrease in market share in Asia-Pacific is mainly due to Bombardier deciding not to participate in bids 
for diesel and electric freight twin-locomotives in China. 
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Outlook 
 
The total European rail market is expected to remain unchanged next year, with a recovery of the German market 
and an increase in demand from European Union’s new accession countries in central and eastern Europe, 
mainly offset by a slow-down in some other western European countries. 
 
In North America, expected large rapid transit orders should increase market volume over the next few years back 
to historical averages of approximately $1.0 billion. 
 
In Asia-Pacific, the rolling stock market is expected to decrease next calendar year. This market depends mainly 
on the award of intercity, metro and high-speed rail orders in China.  
 
The worldwide accessible rolling stock market is expected to remain essentially unchanged over the next three 
years. 
 
 
III SERVICES  
 
Bombardier provides a full range of railway services. These include total train maintenance, technical support, 
spares and logistics management, car re-engineering/heavy overhaul and component re-engineering/overhaul.  
 
Product development 
 
Bombardier has developed a number of maintenance optimization techniques to improve fleet availability and 
reliability. Published reliability data consistently shows that the Electrostar trains, maintained by Bombardier, are 
very reliable newly-built EMUs in the U.K. Very strong reliability performance has also been achieved in New York 
City with vehicles for the MTA. 
 
Market drivers 
 
The emergence of new private operators, rolling stock leasing companies and the increase in outsourcing of rail 
servicing activities by national rail operators are the key drivers of growth for the accessible services market. 
Nevertheless, the pace of outsourcing has been slower than expected, as national railway operators, who have 
over the years built up extensive capability and resources for the servicing of their fleets, still perform a major 
portion of vehicle maintenance and refurbishment in-house.  
 
Positive trends include the increase in refurbishment activities to extend vehicle life, both in western Europe and 
in the European Union’s new accession countries, and the outsourcing of fleet maintenance and spare parts 
management, particularly for new-generation equipment including high-speed trains across Europe.  
 
Competition 
 
As in the rolling stock segment, Bombardier has two main competitors in the field of rail services, Alstom and 
Siemens, that also offer a full range of services. The other rolling stock manufacturers are also active in the 
services segment. Railway operators, subsystem and component suppliers as well as third party service providers 
are also major participants in this highly fragmented market. 
 
Bombardier’s main strategic advantage is its large rolling stock installed base in key markets and its fleet 
maintenance expertise. Intellectual property rights, an extensive materials supply chain and proven capability 
ensure Bombardier’s competitiveness in the services segment. 
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Market share 
 
Bombardier has modified its definition of the services market by excluding Japan and reassessing the European 
market (excluding the fleet more than 40 years old), consistent with industry practice. 
 
Based on this definition, the worldwide accessible rail services market is valued at approximately $13.7 billion for 
calendar year 2004, compared to $12.4 billion the previous year. Excluding the currency impact, the services 
market grew by 2%. The geographic split of the market is similar for both calendar years. Europe is the largest 
market for services with approximately 56% of the accessible worldwide market, followed by North America at 
approximately 22%, Asia-Pacific at 6% and Other at 16%.  
 
Bombardier maintained its leadership position in a highly fragmented market with a market share of 9%, 
unchanged from last year. Market share calculations are based on annual revenues generated in the accessible 
market. Approximately 90% of Bombardier’s services activities are located in Europe. 
 
Outlook 
 
In calendar year 2005, the accessible services market is expected to grow slightly above calendar year 2004 
levels. The worldwide accessible services market is expected to grow at a CAGR of between 2% and 5% over the 
next three years. Factors that will impact the growth rate include the pace of outsourcing of services activities, the 
continued progress of rail liberalization, and the emergence of new private passenger and freight operators in 
Europe. Bombardier is well positioned to benefit from this growth by having the largest installed rolling stock base 
and the highest new rolling stock delivery rates. 
 
 
IV OTHER 
 
TOTAL TRANSIT SYSTEMS 
 
Bombardier develops, designs, builds and maintains complete transportation systems, from high-capacity urban 
transit systems to fully automated people movers and monorail systems. Bombardier also operates and maintains 
fully automated systems.  
 
In fiscal year 2005, Bombardier put into service the Las Vegas Monorail system in the U.S.A., the Nottingham 
Express Transit Line 1 in the U.K. and the light rail transit system for the City of Eskisehir in Turkey. In addition, 
with the financial close of the 35-year concession project in Yong-In, Bombardier, in a consortium with local 
contractors, was awarded a contract for the first transportation system in Korea, with 100% of project financing 
committed at the time the implementation agreement was signed. Lastly, Bombardier successfully upgraded the 
existing train control at Seattle Tacoma International Airport, with its CITYFLO 650 radio-based automated train 
control without disruption to passenger service and ahead of schedule. 
 
Market drivers  
 
Urbanization, growing population and economic wealth, as well as the commitment of countries worldwide to 
improve rail transportation systems, are key drivers and all expected to contribute to future growth.  
 
Competition 
 
Bombardier’s global competitors such as Alstom and Siemens, have established total transit systems capabilities.  
 
In addition, engineering, procurement and construction companies, like Bechtel Corporation, SNC-Lavalin Inc. 
and Dragados S.A., are also active in the field of rail project development.  
 
Mitsubishi Heavy Industries Ltd., Poma-Otis Transportation Systems and Doppelmayr Cable Car GmbH are 
Bombardier's main competitors in the field of automated people movers. Hitachi and KL Monorail are active in the 
monorail market. 
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Bombardier is well positioned in this market, since it is the world leader in the design, manufacture, 
commissioning, operation and maintenance of automated people movers and advanced rapid transit systems. 
These systems allow for highly reliable unattended train operation in high passenger traffic airports and urban 
areas. Bombardier's product portfolio for automated systems comprises both rubber tire and steel wheel solutions, 
as well as conventional and innovative electric propulsion technologies. 
 
Market share 
 
The worldwide total transit systems market is valued at approximately $700 million, compared to $7.9 billion last 
calendar year. The decrease of $7.2 billion is mainly due to the record high in calendar year 2003, when the 
London Underground Public-Private Partnership Project of $5.7 billion was awarded, and to a very low level of 
activities in calendar year 2004, with only two significant newly-built systems contracted, one in Korea and the 
other in Dubai. Average annual market size for total transit systems over the last five years was $3.9 billion, which 
includes systems integration, engineering and project-related services, and equipment supplies like rolling stock, 
automation, signalling as well as operations and maintenance. 
 
Asia-Pacific was the largest market for total transit systems in calendar year 2004 with approximately 57% of the 
worldwide total transit systems market, followed by Europe at approximately 29% and Other at 14% (Europe at 
83%, Asia-Pacific at 13% and North America at 4% respectively for the previous year). 
 
With a 40% market share in calendar year 2004, compared to 44% the previous year, Bombardier retained its 
leadership position in the total transit systems market. Bombardier’s annual market share calculation is based on 
an average of the total value of orders received compared to the total market during the past five years, 
consistent with industry practice. Total market and market share include the complete scope of TTS orders, 
including rolling stock and signalling, as this represents the size of the rail market covered by turnkey contracts. 
 
Outlook 
 
• Continued pressure on public funding and on government budgets is expected to contribute to the 

implementation of new models for financing and operating public transport. The share of turnkey contracts for 
newly-built systems is also expected to increase due to the trend toward driverless operations for mass transit 
systems. 

• With the expected award of certain major orders, the TTS market is expected to exceed $1.5 billion for each 
year of the next three years. 

 
 
RAIL CONTROL SOLUTIONS ("RCS") 
 
Bombardier’s rail control solutions products cover the mass transit and mainline markets. Mass transit solutions 
extend from manual to fully automated systems and communication-based systems. Mainline solutions range 
from conventional systems to European Rail Traffic Management System ("ERTMS") technology. 
 
• Bombardier achieved final acceptance of the EBI Cab driver's cabin in Germany. The acceptance of this 

ERTMS compatible product is a significant development, opening the way to supply the German market and 
to leverage synergies with other divisions. In Italy, RCS finalized the development of EBI Link wayside 
equipment for a contract using ERTMS technology. 

• The continuous investment in the development of ERTMS products also led to contracts in 2004 in Europe 
and Asia. In Korea, RCS was awarded an ERTMS order for onboard Automatic Train Protection systems and 
wayside systems. 

• Following the progress made on a pilot project in Mannheim, Germany, an agreement was signed with DB to 
supply computer-based interlockings ("CBI"). This agreement is a breakthrough to becoming a CBI supplier in 
Germany for DB, a market previously inaccessible for Bombardier, and secures its position in the German 
CBI market for at least the next 10 years. 

• The first contract in Europe for CITYFLO 450 automated communication-based signalling solution was 
awarded to Bombardier by Metro Madrid. The new system will overlay the existing signalling systems without 
any traffic interruptions. The scope of the contract is to supply, install, test and commission the CITYFLO 450 
solution for Lines 1 and 6, covering a total of 40.2 km and 54 stations.  
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Market drivers 
 
• The main drivers of the signalling market are migration from analog technology to computer-based 

technology, standardization in the mainline market, and automation and driverless operation in the mass 
transit segment.  

• The majority of the existing mainline signalling and control infrastructure is based on systems developed and 
implemented approximately 30 years ago. In order to increase capacity on strategic rail routes and upgrade 
lines to higher speed, signalling technology has migrated to more reliable computer-based technology. 

• Wayside technology migration is then followed by the replacement of onboard equipment of partial or 
complete existing fleets. 

• ERTMS, the new European standard for train control systems, opens previously closed markets as it will 
replace large installed country-specific systems and constitutes a prerequisite for European cross-border 
traffic. ERTMS-compliant products will become the norm within Europe and will be increasingly accepted 
outside of Europe. The growth of ERTMS in Europe has been largely driven by European Union funding to 
national operators. 

• Within the mass transit segment, there is a move towards greater automation and driverless operation, 
particularly Communication-Based Train Control ("CBTC") systems, which satisfy customer demands for 
increased capacity and minimal operational disruption during implementation.  

 
Competition 
 
Major competitors in the market for rail control solutions are Alstom, Siemens and Ansaldo. Additionally, 
companies specializing in rail signalling, such as Alcatel SA and Invensys Plc, are also active in this market. 
 
Bombardier is well positioned in the mass transit segment with its leading-edge technology and achieved a 
breakthrough for communication-based train control solutions by winning the contract for Metro Madrid, Lines 1 
and 6. 
 
In the mainline segment, Bombardier has a comprehensive product portfolio to serve western European countries 
and has competitive advantages in growth markets, such as Poland and Russia, resulting from successful joint 
ventures with local signalling suppliers. 
 
Bombardier continues to invest in the development of ERTMS products to secure its long-term competitive 
position across all markets. 
 
Market share 
 
The worldwide market for rail control solutions and telecommunications accessible to international competition is 
estimated at $7.0 billion in calendar year 2004, compared to $6.4 billion the previous year. Excluding the currency 
impact, the market remained essentially unchanged. Europe is the largest market with approximately 70% of the 
accessible worldwide market, followed by North America with approximately 18%, Asia-Pacific 9% and Other 3%. 
The geographical split of the market is similar for both calendar years. Lower order levels from Germany were 
partially offset by infrastructure investments in southern and eastern European countries. 
 
Bombardier’s market share, based on total annual orders received, increased to 8% in calendar year 2004 
compared to 6% the previous year, mainly due to a significant increase in the mass transit segment, with, among 
others, orders in Spain, Romania and Portugal. 
 
Outlook 
 
In calendar year 2005, the worldwide rail signalling market is expected to remain essentially at the same level as 
in calendar year 2004. The market is expected to grow at a CAGR of between 0% and 2% over the next three 
years. 
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Bombardier Capital 
 

 
 
I OVERVIEW 
 
Portfolios 
 
BC’s portfolios are comprised of the following: 
 

Continued portfolios Description 
Inventory finance BC provides floorplan financing on a secured basis to retailers mainly for 

manufacturing housing, marine products and motorized recreational vehicles. 
Receivable financing  BC provides receivable financing to the acquirer of the Corporation’s former 

recreational products segment ("BRP"). 
Commercial aircraft BC provides interim financing support to Bombardier Aerospace regional aircraft 

customers until permanent third-party financing is arranged. BC also provides 
long-term third-party lease financing for trade-in commercial aircraft, in 
connection with new commercial sales. 

Wind-down portfolios  
Business aircraft BC provided loans and finance leases to third-party purchasers of new and pre-

owned business aircraft. This portfolio also includes pre-owned aircraft with 
respect to trade-in business aircraft, mainly from the aerospace segment. 

Manufactured housing BC provided financing for consumers in the U.S.A. for purchases of 
manufactured houses. 

Other BC provided financial services mainly related to consumer finance, industrial 
equipment and railcar leasing portfolios. 

 
Achievements 
 
During fiscal year 2005, BC continued to focus on leveraging its core business competencies, mainly in inventory 
finance, while continuing with the reduction of its wind-down portfolios. Substantial progress was made in 
reducing the wind-down portfolios, resulting in an improved overall risk profile for BC. 
 
 
II ANALYSIS OF RESULTS 
 

 2005 2004 
Results      
Segmented revenues  $ 426   $ 493 
EBT $ 29   $ 53 
Average assets under management $ 4,329   $ 5,321 
Portfolios (before allowance for credit losses)      
 Inventory finance  $ 2,069   $ 1,865 
 Receivable financing(1)  59   63 
 Commercial aircraft     

 Interim financing  1,000   516 
 Long-term leasing  218   282 

  1,218   798 
Total continued portfolios  3,346   2,726 
Wind-down portfolios  510   930 
  $ 3,856   $ 3,656 

(1) Represents financing provided to BRP. 
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Average assets under management  
 
Average assets under management consist of the aggregate of the average for the corresponding periods of the 
on-balance sheet finance receivables and assets under operating leases (before allowance for credit losses), and 
the railcar leasing and other off-balance sheet portfolios. 
 
The $992-million decrease is mainly due to: 
• the reduction in the wind-down portfolios. 
Partially offset by: 
• an increase in the commercial aircraft interim financing and inventory finance portfolios. 
 
Off-balance sheet portfolios  
 
BC also manages an off-balance sheet railcar leasing portfolio and other off-balance sheet portfolios totalling 
$602 million and $29 million respectively as at January 31, 2005, compared to $651 million and $63 million 
respectively as at January 31, 2004. This change is mainly due to the sale of $29 million in off-balance sheet 
railcar operating leases as well as the continued wind-down in the other off-balance sheet portfolios.  
 
Railcar leasing consisted of third-party freight car leasing, as well as full-service maintenance and/or management 
services to owners and users of freight railcars in North American markets. BC purchased freight railcars from a 
third-party manufacturer and subsequently entered into a sale and leaseback arrangement with a financial 
institution. As of fiscal year 2004, BC is no longer originating transactions in this portfolio. 
 
In return for a market fee, BC services publicly securitized manufactured housing loan portfolios currently being 
wound down. The outstanding amount of these portfolios as at January 31, 2005 was $1.0 billion ($1.2 billion as 
at January 31, 2004). 
 
Segmented revenues  
 
The $67-million decrease is consistent with the reduction in average assets under management. 
 
EBT  
 
The $24-million decrease is mainly due to: 
• the payment of $19 million in connection with the repurchase of call options related to Putable/Callable notes 

due in 2013 as a result of the downgrades in the Corporation’s credit ratings in November 2004; and 
• the reduction in net margin resulting from the decrease in the wind-down portfolios.  
Partially offset by: 
• lower non-interest expenses and improved credit quality trends resulting in lower provision requirements. 
 
 
III CONTINUED AND WIND-DOWN PORTFOLIOS 
 
Continued portfolios 
 
Inventory finance  
The $204-million increase is mainly due to an increased demand from dealers, particularly in the marine and 
recreational vehicle segments. 
 
In connection with the sale of the recreational products segment in fiscal year 2004, BC entered into an inventory 
financing agreement with the purchaser for a maximum amount of $750 million for a renewable period of five 
years. Under this agreement, BC acts as the exclusive provider of secured floorplan financing to retailers of BRP-
manufactured products (excluding outboard engine products). During the term of the agreement, BC has agreed 
not to provide retailer secured floorplan financing related to products of direct competitors of BRP (excluding 
outboard engine products). As at January 31, 2005, 27.7% or $572 million of the total inventory finance portfolio 
was related to this agreement.  
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Receivable financing 
In fiscal year 2004, BC entered into an agreement to provide receivable financing to BRP. The agreement is for a 
maximum of $115 million and expires in June 2005. BC funds receivables, subject to certain eligibility criteria, for 
BRP’s U.S. and European subsidiaries. Funding is in U.S. dollars and currency risk is retained by BRP. The 
outstanding amount of the portfolio as at January 31, 2005 and 2004, relates entirely to this agreement. 
 
Commercial aircraft 
The $420-million increase is mainly due to the interim financing portfolio. The outstanding amount of the interim 
financing portfolio was $1.0 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared to $516 million as at January 31, 2004. 
 
Management has established a limit of $1.0 billion outstanding for the commercial aircraft interim financing 
portfolio. Financing with four airlines represents approximately 79% of the total portfolio outstanding as at 
January 31, 2005. 
 
In January 2005, BC established a 364-day, $1.5 billion financing facility with a third party, whereby BC can sell 
certain commercial aircraft interim financing receivables to a special purpose entity ("SPE"). The third-party 
investor has committed to fund 55% of the original finance receivables balance transferred to the SPE. As at 
January 31, 2005, BC has transferred $306 million of finance receivables to the SPE, in which it has retained a 
subordinated interest of $137 million and has provided limited credit enhancements. The retained interest portion 
is included in the commercial aircraft interim financing portfolio. In connection with this transaction, BC provides 
administrative services to the SPE in return for a market fee. This transaction had no significant impact on the 
consolidated statements of income. A permanent financing facility is expected to replace this 364-day facility 
before its maturity. 
 
Wind-down portfolios 
 
Significant progress was made in reducing the wind-down portfolios during fiscal year 2005. Finance receivables 
and assets under operating leases related to the wind-down portfolios declined 45%, or $420 million during fiscal 
year 2005, mainly arising from reductions in the business aircraft, manufactured housing and consumer finance 
portfolios as a result of loan repayments. 
 
Outlook 
 
Continued portfolios are regularly assessed for strategic fit, profitability, funding availability and risk profile. These 
assessments, in addition to market and general economic conditions, may influence the orientation and future 
prospects of continued portfolios. BC intends to continue with the reduction of its wind-down portfolios and 
expects further reductions of approximately 20% over the next fiscal year.  
 
IV OTHER 
 
Allowance for credit losses 
 
The allowance for credit losses decreased to $46 million as at January 31, 2005, from $57 million as at 
January 31, 2004, mainly due to overall improved credit quality trends. The allowance for credit losses as a 
percentage of total finance receivables was 0.5% and 7.1% as at January 31, 2005, for the continued and wind-
down portfolios respectively, compared to 1.2% and 4.2% respectively as at January 31, 2004. Compared to the 
wind-down portfolios, the continuing portfolios warrant a lower percentage of allowance, due to a lower credit risk 
profile derived from credit enhancements, such as repurchase agreements, loan guarantees and better collateral 
and loan-to-value positions.  
 
Real estate services  
 
Through Bombardier’s real estate services, revenues are generated from the sale of land to real estate 
developers, which involves the establishment of an urban residential community with integrated commercial and 
service infrastructures on land adjacent to the Bombardier Aerospace facilities in Montréal. Other revenues are 
derived from the development of Bombardier real estate assets earmarked for new uses, and from activities 
designed to meet the real estate needs of other Bombardier businesses. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

 
 
I FINANCIAL POSITION  
 
Bombardier 
 
Total assets  
Consolidated assets for the manufacturing segments amounted to $15.9 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared 
to $15.4 billion as at January 31, 2004. This increase mainly results from: 
• an increase in cash and cash equivalents; 
• the impact of the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro and other western European currencies, 

amounting to approximately $300 million; 
• an increase in other assets; and 
• an increase in assets under operating leases and other. 
Partially offset by: 
• a decrease in Bombardier's investment in BC, mainly as a result of a dividend of $450 million paid by BC to 

Bombardier;  
• a decrease in inventories;  
• a decrease in receivables; and 
• a decrease in property, plant and equipment. 
 
Receivables 
Receivables amounted to $1.5 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared to $1.7 billion as at January 31, 2004. 
This decrease is mainly due to the reduction in claims receivable as a result of the settlement reached with 
DaimlerChrysler AG on all outstanding disputes arising from the Corporation's acquisition of Adtranz. 
 
Assets under operating leases and other 
Assets under operating leases and other amounted to $249 million as at January 31, 2005, compared to 
$86 million as at January 31, 2004. This increase mainly results from the prospective application of the new 
accounting policy for aircraft under the fractional ownership program, under which the carrying value of the aircraft 
used in the program is transferred to assets under operating leases and other. 
 
Net inventories 
Inventories are presented net of the related advances and progress billings on contracts and programs. However, 
advances and progress billings in excess of related costs, determined on a contract-by-contract basis, are 
reported as liabilities. 
 
Gross inventories were $7.1 billion ($4.0 billion net of advances and progress billings) as at January 31, 2005, 
compared to $7.2 billion ($4.3 billion net of advances and progress billings) as at January 31, 2004. This 
decrease in gross inventories is mainly due to: 
• a lower level of inventories in the transportation segment, due to the timing of work performed on contracts. 
Partially offset by: 
• the impact of the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro and other western European currencies, 

amounting to $130 million. 
 
Total advances and progress billings amounted to $5.4 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared to $5.6 billion as 
at January 31, 2004, $2.4 billion of which is shown as liabilities as at January 31, 2005, compared to $2.7 billion 
as at January 31, 2004. This decrease in total advances and progress billings is mainly due to: 
• lower advances in the transportation segment due to lower total orders in fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal 

year 2004; and 
• the reclassification of customer advances relating to LR Jet Corporation (see the "Variable Interest Entities" 

section in this MD&A for further details). 
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Partially offset by: 
• higher advances in the aerospace segment, mainly related to business aircraft; and 
• the impact of the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro and other western European currencies, 

amounting to $150 million. 
 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment amounted to $3.3 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared to $3.5 billion as at 
January 31, 2004. This decrease is mainly due to: 
• amortization exceeding net additions to property, plant and equipment. 
Partially offset by: 
• the impact of the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro and other western European currencies, 

amounting to approximately $40 million. 
 
Other assets 
Other assets amounted to $914 million as at January 31, 2005, compared to $726 million as at January 31, 2004. 
This variation is mainly due to an increase in lease receivables and restricted cash as a result of the consolidation 
of certain entities (see the "Variable Interest Entities" section in this MD&A for further details). 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities amounted to $7.1 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared to $6.5 billion 
as at January 31, 2004. This increase mainly results from: 
• the increase in deferred revenues amounting to $163 million as a result of the prospective change in the 

accounting policy for sales of fractional shares;  
• the impact of the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the euro, other western European currencies and 

the Canadian dollar, amounting to $150 million; and 
• the increase in the product warranty provision in the transportation segment. 
 
Long-term debt 
Long-term debt amounted to $3.1 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared to $2.1 billion as at January 31, 2004. 
This increase is mainly due to: 
• the issuance in April 2004 of $500 million of notes bearing interest at 6.3% due in 2014, and $250 million of 

notes bearing interest at 7.45% due in 2034; and 
• the reclassification of customer advances relating to LR Jet Corporation and the consolidation of certain 

entities amounting to $246 million (see the "Variable Interest Entities" section in this MD&A for further details). 
 
BC 
 
Finance receivables 
Finance receivables amounted to $3.6 billion as at January 31, 2005, compared to $3.1 billion as at 
January 31, 2004. This increase is mainly due to: 
•  an increase in the commercial aircraft interim financing and the inventory finance portfolios. 
Partially offset by: 
•  a reduction in the wind-down portfolios. 
 
Assets under operating leases and other 
Assets under operating leases and other amounted to $225 million as at January 31, 2005, compared to 
$472 million as at January 31, 2004. This decrease mainly results from: 
•  a decrease in the commercial aircraft portfolios; and 
•  a reduction in the wind-down portfolios, mainly the business aircraft portfolio. 
 
Other assets 
Other assets amounted to $365 million as at January 31, 2005, compared to $725 million as at January 31, 2004. 
This decrease is mainly due to the repayment of the loan made by BC in fiscal year 2004 in connection with a 
financing transaction entered into for term-debt management. 
 
For a detailed discussion on BC’s financial position, please refer to the BC section in this MD&A. 
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II CASH FLOWS  
 
The following summarizes the cash flows for fiscal years 2005 and 2004, as reported in the consolidated 
statements of cash flows: 
 
Bombardier 
 

   2005   2004 
Loss from continuing operations $ (85) $ (166) 
Non-cash items  561  844 
Net changes in non-cash balances related to operations  185  (1,174) 
Cash flows from operating activities  661  (496) 
Net additions to property, plant and equipment  (273)  (184) 
Free cash flow  388  (680) 
Cash flows from investing activities (excluding net additions to property, plant and 
 equipment) 

 
30 

 
1,138 

Cash flows from financing activities  548  289 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  115  142 
Cash flows from continuing operations  1,081  889 
Cash flows from discontinued operations  -  (164) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 1,081 $ 725 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 
The improvement of $1.2 billion is mainly due to the variation in net changes in non-cash balances related to 
operations. The fiscal year 2004 balances were negatively impacted by increases in receivables and pre-owned 
aircraft inventory of approximately $1.1 billion, following the discontinuance of certain financing activities with BC 
(see note 21 – Net changes in non-cash balances related to operations to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements). 
 
Net additions to property, plant and equipment 
The $89-million net increase is mainly due to lower proceeds of $82 million from the sale of property, plant and 
equipment in fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal year 2004.  
 
Free cash flow  
The free cash flow by manufacturing segment was as follows for fiscal year 2005: 
 

  Aerospace Transportation  Total 
EBIT  $ 190  $ (139)  $ 51 
Non-cash items:    
 Amortization 
 Program tooling 

 
  244 

 
  - 

 
  244 

 Other   121   138   259 
 Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment   (2)   (3)   (5) 
 Stock-based compensation   5   4   9 
 Special items   -   172   172 
Net changes in non-cash balances related to operations   193   (84)   109 
Net additions to property, plant and equipment   (198)   (75)   (273) 
Segmented free cash flow  $ 553  $ 13   566 
Income taxes and net interest expense(1)    (178) 
Free cash flow      $ 388 

(1) Income taxes and net interest expense are not allocated to segments. 
 
The above segmented free cash flow is mainly explained by: 
• Aerospace segment – EBITDA of $555 million and positive net changes in non-cash balances related to 

operations, partially offset by net additions to property, plant and equipment. 
• Transportation segment – Cash flows from operations before net changes in non-cash balances related to 

operations of $172 million, partially offset by net changes in non-cash balances related to operations and net 
additions to property, plant and equipment. The negative net changes in non-cash balances is primarily due to 



39 
 

a decrease in total advances and progress billings and payments made in connection with the previously 
discussed restructuring initiative, partially offset by a decrease in gross inventories. 

 
Cash flows from investing activities (excluding net additions to property, plant and equipment) 
The cash flows for fiscal year 2005 mainly reflect: 
• the net proceeds of $209 million relating to the settlement of the Adtranz claim; and 
• payment of $450 million of dividends by BC. 
Partially offset by: 
• repayment of subordinated loans of $450 million to BC; and 
• net advances of $73 million to BC. 
 
The cash flows for fiscal year 2004 mainly reflect: 
• the net proceeds of $692 million, relating to the sale of the recreational products segment, MAS and the 

Belfast City Airport; and 
• net advances and subordinated loans from BC of $564 million. 
 
Cash flows from financing activities 
The cash flows for fiscal year 2005 mainly reflect: 
• the net proceeds from the issuance of $750 million of notes. 
Partially offset by: 
• dividends paid amounting to $146 million. 
 
The cash flows for fiscal year 2004 mainly reflect: 
• the net proceeds from the issuance of 370 million Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) for net proceeds of 

$807 million. 
Partially offset by: 
• a net decrease in short-term borrowings of $287 million; 
• repayment of long-term debt amounting to $136 million; and 
• dividends paid amounting to $138 million. 
 
As a result of the above items, cash and cash equivalents amounted to $2.3 billion as at January 31, 2005, 
compared to $1.2 billion as at January 31, 2004. 
 
BC 
 

   2005   2004 
Cash flows from operating activities $ 61 $ 117 
Cash flows from investing activities  210  948 
Cash flows from financing activities  (213)  (1,272)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (5)  21 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 53 $ (186)

 
Cash flows from operating activities 
The $56-million decrease is mainly due to the continued reduction in the wind-down portfolios and the payment of 
$19 million in connection with the repurchase of call options related to Putable/Callable notes in fiscal year 2005. 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 
The cash flows for fiscal year 2005 mainly reflect: 
• the repayment of the loan made by BC in fiscal year 2004 in connection with a financing transaction entered 

into for term-debt management, amounting to $311 million; 
• a net decrease in assets under operating leases of $208 million; and 
• net advances from Bombardier of $73 million. 
Partially offset by: 
• a net increase in finance receivables of $460 million, mainly in the commercial aircraft portfolio. 
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The cash flows for fiscal year 2004 mainly reflect: 
• a net decrease in finance receivables of $1.5 billion, mainly in the wind-down portfolios; and 
• a net decrease in assets under operating leases of $331 million, mainly in the wind-down portfolios. 
Partially offset by: 
• net advances and subordinated loans to Bombardier of $564 million; and 
• the loan made by BC in connection with a financing transaction entered into for term-debt management 

amounting to $311 million. 
 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Cash flows used for fiscal year 2005 mainly reflect: 
• the repayment of long-tem debt of $559 million. 
Partially offset by: 
• the net proceeds from the issuance of $287 million of securitized floorplan debt; and 
• the net variation in short-term borrowings of $59 million. 
 
Cash flows used for fiscal year 2004 mainly reflect: 
• the repayments of short-term borrowings and long-term debt of $2.2 billion. 
Partially offset by: 
• the net proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt of $904 million. 
 
 
III CAPITAL RESOURCES  
 
The details of the available and outstanding amounts under the bank credit facilities, as well as the amount of 
outstanding borrowings as at January 31, 2005 and 2004, are provided in note 9 – Short-term borrowings and 
note 11 – Long-term debt to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
The available short-term capital resources were as follows as at January 31: 
 

     2005 
  Committed credit 

 facilities 
 Amounts 

 available 
 Cash and cash 
 equivalents 

 Available short-term 
capital resources 

BOMBARDIER  $ 6,519  $ 2,199  $ 2,291  $ 4,490 
BC   900   600 64   664 
  $ 7,419  $ 2,799  $ 2,355  $ 5,154 

 
     2004 
 Committed credit 

facilities 
Amounts 
available 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 Available short-term 
capital resources 

BOMBARDIER  $ 5,925  $ 1,587  $ 1,210  $ 2,797 
BC   997   765   11   776 
  $ 6,922  $ 2,352  $ 1,221  $ 3,573 
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Bombardier  
 
The variation in available short-term capital resources was as follows for fiscal year 2005: 
 

Balance as at January 31, 2004 $ 2,797 
Proceeds from the issuance of notes bearing interest at 6.3% and 7.45%  750 
Free cash flow generated  388 
New European letters of credit facilities  369 
Positive translation adjustment on committed credit facilities arising from the weakening of the U.S. 

dollar compared to the euro and the Canadian dollar 
  

316 
Payment received in connection with the settlement of the Adtranz claim  209 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  115 
Reduction in letters of credit drawn (net of foreign exchange)  18 
Dividends paid  (146)
Reduction in the 364-day portion of committed credit facilities  (91)
Net advances and subordinated loans to BC  (73)
Repayment of long-term debt  (73)
Other  (89)
Balance as at January 31, 2005 $ 4,490 

 
The 364-day portion of the European credit facility of €492 million ($642 million) as well as the total North 
American credit facility of $1.4 billion mature in fiscal year 2006. Bombardier expects to negotiate sufficient 
committed credit facilities in fiscal year 2006 to meet anticipated requirements. 
 
Fiscal year 2004 
• In September 2003, Bombardier renewed the 364-day portion of its North American credit facility. This portion 

of the facility, totalling $730 million Cdn, replaced the $750-million Cdn short-term portion of the North 
American credit facility. 

• In July 2003, Bombardier renewed the 364-day portion of its European credit facility. This portion of the 
facility, totalling €560 million, replaced the €600-million short-term portion of the European credit facility. 

• In July 2003, Bombardier repaid, at maturity, debentures amounting to $150 million Cdn ($106 million). 
• In April 2003, the Corporation issued 370 million Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) at a price of $3.25 Cdn 

per share. The net proceeds from this issue amounted to $1,170 million Cdn ($807 million), net of issue costs 
of $33 million Cdn ($23 million). 

 
BC 
 
The variation in available short-term capital resources was as follows for fiscal year 2005: 
 

Balance as at January 31, 2004 $ 776 
Repayment of the loan made by BC in fiscal year 2004, in connection with a financing transaction entered 

into for term-debt management 
  

311 
Issuance of $350 million Cdn of asset-backed securities  287 
Net disposals of assets under operating leases  208 
Net advances from Bombardier  73 
Cash flows from operating activities  61 
Repayment of long-term debt  (559)
Net increase in finance receivables  (460)
Reduction in the short-term portion of the securitized floorplan facility  (97)
Other  64 
Balance as at January 31, 2005 $ 664 

 
Consistent with the reduced expected future cash requirements and the continued liquidation of the wind-down 
portfolios, BC does not expect to renew its $600-million revolving credit facility maturing in July 2006.  
 



42 
 

Fiscal year 2004 
Securitizations 
• In September 2003, BC repaid, at maturity, asset-backed securities amounting to $400 million in connection 

with the inventory finance receivables portfolio. 
• In August 2003, BC issued $400 million of two-year asset-backed securities in connection with the inventory 

finance receivables portfolio. 
Other 
• In November 2003, BC repaid, at maturity, notes amounting to $235 million. 
• In September 2003, BC did not renew two 364-day revolving credit facilities amounting to $400 million and 

$470 million Cdn ($347 million), consistent with the reduced cash flow requirements. 
• In July 2003, BC repaid, at maturity, notes amounting to $100 million Cdn ($71 million). 
• In March 2003, BC terminated a $50-million uncommitted bilateral bank facility. 
• In February 2003, BC repaid, at maturity, debentures amounting to $250 million Cdn ($166 million).  
 
 
IV LIQUIDITY  
 
The Corporation’s liquidity needs arise principally from working capital requirements, capital expenditures, product 
development, principal and interest payments on long-term debt, lease payment obligations and distributions to 
shareholders.  
  
The following table summarizes Bombardier’s obligation to make future payments on long-term debt, lease 
obligations and other obligations as at January 31, 2005, as well as the expected timing of these payments: 
 

 Total Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years Thereafter 
Long-term debt(1)  $ 3,034  $ 316  $ 594  $ 679  $ 1,445 
Capital lease obligations(1) 94 25 - - 69 
Operating lease obligations(2) 1,117 172 348 154 443 
Outsourcing commitments 987 217 386 308 76 
Other obligations(3) 449 69 113 96 171 

  $ 5,681  $ 799  $ 1,441  $ 1,237  $ 2,204 
(1) Long-term debt and capital lease obligations include the principal repayments only. 
(2) Comprised of sale and leaseback and operating lease obligations included in note 24 – Commitments and contingencies to the 
 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
(3) Includes mainly principal repayment requirements in connection with sales incentives offered in the aerospace segment.   
 
The Corporation has entered into certain significant inventory procurement contracts that specify prices and 
quantities, as well as long-term delivery timeframes. These agreements require suppliers to build and deliver 
components in time to meet the Corporation’s production schedules. Such arrangements arise as a result of the 
extended production planning horizon for many of the Corporation’s products where the delivery of products to 
customers arises over an extended period of time. A significant portion of the Corporation’s exposure arising from 
the inventory procurement contracts is mitigated by firm contracts with customers or through risk-sharing 
arrangements with suppliers. Although there are no plans to do so, if any of the Corporation’s aerospace 
programs or long-term contracts were to be terminated, the Corporation would be exposed to potentially material 
termination costs. These commitments, as well as long-term commitments related to regular purchases of raw 
materials, are not included in the preceding table. 
 
The Corporation maintains defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement benefit plans other than pensions as 
discussed in note 23 – Employee future benefits to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Corporation’s 
future cash contributions to the funded pension plans are subject to changes based on actual returns on plan 
assets and other pension assumptions, and have not been reflected in the preceding table. 
 
Obligations maturing in fiscal year 2006 are expected to be repaid out of Bombardier’s liquidities and cash flow 
generated from operations. 
 
The following table summarizes BC’s obligation to make future payments on long-term debt and lease obligations 
as at January 31, 2005, as well as the expected timing of these payments. 
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 Total Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years Thereafter 
Medium-term notes, notes and other  $ 2,594  $ 503  $ 1,489  $ 571  $ 31 
Securitized floorplan certificates 1,182   900 - - 282 
Operating lease obligations(1) 991   67 125 139 660 
  $ 4,767  $ 1,470  $ 1,614  $ 710  $ 973 

(1) Comprised of sale and leaseback and operating lease obligations included in note 24 – Commitments and contingencies to the 
 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Obligations maturing in fiscal year 2006 are expected to be repaid out of the proceeds from the reductions of the 
wind-down portfolios, cash flows generated from operations and BC’s liquidities. 
 
A total of $300-million in bank-sponsored securitized floorplan conduits, included in short-term borrowings, are 
expected to be renewed at similar commitment levels. 
  
The Corporation considers that its current cash position, as well as its current credit facilities and expected capital 
resources, will enable the implementation of investment programs, the development of new products, the pursued 
growth of its activities, the payment of dividends and other expected financial requirements. 
 
On March 30, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Corporation decided not to declare dividends on its Class A 
Shares (Multiple Voting) and Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) for fiscal year 2006. The dividends on the 
Corporation’s preferred shares are not impacted by this decision. 
 
As discussed in the aerospace section of this MD&A, total development costs for the CSeries aircraft are 
estimated at $2.1 billion. If the program is launched, the Corporation's objective is to have the funding for the 
development costs of the CSeries aircraft financed evenly (one-third each) between suppliers, governments and 
Bombardier, with Bombardier's share to be disbursed over a five-year period. Bombardier’s share is expected to 
be financed from existing liquidities and cash flow generated from operations. 
 
As at January 31, 2005, the Corporation was in compliance with its bank covenants. 
 
 
V CREDIT SUPPORT 
 
The indentures governing BC’s long-term debt and credit facilities provide for substantially similar covenant and 
"keepwell" packages from the Corporation. Bombardier Inc.’s keepwell agreements provide for minimum 
ownership of 51% in BC and for the injection of equity in the event that certain minimum net worth levels are not 
met or if a fixed charge coverage ratio falls below 1.2. Finally, these indentures provide for the undertaking by 
Bombardier Inc. to maintain the existing cross-default provision in the indenture governing the Corporation’s 
$150-million Cdn ($121 million) debentures due in 2026, as well as to provide for similar cross-default provisions 
in all of its future debt issuances.  
 
 
VI CREDIT EVENTS  
 
In November 2004, Moody’s Investor Services Inc., Standard & Poor's and Dominion Bond Rating Services Ltd. 
downgraded the Corporation’s credit ratings to below investment grade. As a result of these credit rating 
downgrades: 
• BC repurchased at their fair value of $19 million the call options related to the Putable/Callable notes due in 

2013. The cost of the repurchase has been accounted for as an expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 
2005. The Putable/Callable notes amounting to $300 million are now repayable on May 31, 2005; and 

• the long-term debt of LR Jet Corporation amounting to $154 million as at January 31, 2005 (see Variable 
Interest Entities section of this MD&A), have become repayable upon delivery of certain aircraft over fiscal 
years 2006 to 2007.  

 
The credit rating downgrades could also result in the early settlement of one or more derivative financial 
instruments governed by an interest-rate swap agreement. The estimated settlement values of these derivative 
financial instruments were not significant as at January 31, 2005. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and 
Variable Interest Entities 

 
 
 
I FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS  
 
In addition to the off-balance sheet lease obligations disclosed elsewhere in this MD&A or in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the Corporation finances certain activities off-balance sheet through securitizations of trade 
receivables and other arrangements in the normal course of business. 
 
Securitizations of trade receivables 
 
The following table summarizes the amounts sold and outstanding as well as available under Bombardier’s 
facilities as at January 31: 
 

   2005   2004 
 

Total 
Sold and 

outstanding 
Amounts 
available Total 

Sold and 
outstanding 

Amounts 
available 

U.S. facility  $ 70  $ 15 $ 55 $ 125  $ 54 $ 71 
U.K. facility -   - - 91   35 56 
French facility 91   59 32 -   - - 
German facility   131   131  -  125   45  80 
  $ 292  $ 205 $ 87 $ 341  $ 134 $ 207 

 
• In January 2005, Bombardier renewed its 364-day committed U.S. facility for the securitization of trade 

receivables originating from North American manufacturing operations.  
• In January 2005, Bombardier entered into a €70-million ($91 million) uncommitted facility for the securitization 

of trade receivables originating from Bombardier Transportation’s operations in France. 
• During fiscal year 2005, the U.K. facility was not renewed. The Corporation expects to enter into a new 

committed facility for a similar amount in fiscal year 2006. 
• In December 2003, Bombardier entered into a €100-million four-year factoring arrangement for certain trade 

receivables originating from Bombardier Transportation’s German operations.  
 
The Corporation received proceeds from the above-discussed facilities of $585 million, $225 million, $155 million 
and $288 million on the sale of trade receivables for the U.S., U.K., French and German facilities respectively 
during fiscal year 2005, compared to $649 million, $242 million, nil and $94 million during fiscal year 2004.  
 
Other arrangements  
 
In January 2005, BC established a 364-day, $1.5 billion financing structure with a third party as discussed in the 
BC section of this MD&A. 
 
In August 2004, the Corporation entered into a $300-million three-year sale and leaseback agreement with third 
parties. Under this agreement, the Corporation can sell pre-owned business aircraft to these parties, which in turn 
lease back the aircraft to the Corporation for a 24-month period. The Corporation has the right to buy back the 
aircraft during the term of the lease at pre-determined amounts. Aircraft amounting to $105 million were sold and 
leased back as at January 31, 2005 with respect to this sale and leaseback agreement. 
 
In return for a market fee, BC services finance receivables sold to third parties, mostly related to its manufactured 
housing porfolio currently being wound down. The outstanding amount of these portfolios as at January 31, 2005 
was $1.0 billion ($1.2 billion as at January 31, 2004). 
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II DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Corporation’s exposures to foreign currency and interest rate risks are managed through a central treasury. 
The foreign currency exposures are managed in accordance with the Corporation's foreign currency policy and 
procedures (the "policy"). The policy requires each segment to identify all potential foreign currency exposures 
arising from their operations and to hedge this exposure according to pre-set criteria. 
 
The derivative financial instruments used to manage foreign currency and interest rate exposures consist mainly 
of: 
• forward foreign exchange contracts; 
• interest-rate swap agreements; 
• cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements; and 
• interest-rate cap agreements. 
 
The Corporation’s foreign currency and interest rate hedging programs are typically unaffected by changes in 
market conditions, as forward foreign exchange contracts and interest-rate swap agreements are generally held 
to maturity consistent with the objective to lock in currency rates and interest rate spreads on the hedged item. 
 
The details and fair value of the outstanding derivative financial instruments as at January 31, 2005 and 2004, are 
presented in note 22 – Financial instruments to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Foreign currency exposure 
 
Hedging programs 
Based on the Corporation’s guidelines, each segment is required to hedge their foreign currency exposures as 
follows: 
 

Segment Hedged exposures Hedging policy(1) 
Aerospace Forecasted cash outflows denominated in a 

currency other than the functional currency of 
the entity, mainly the Canadian dollar and the 
sterling pound. 

Hedge a minimum of 85% of the identified exposures 
for the first three months, a minimum of 75% for the 
next nine months and a minimum of 50% for the 
following year. 

   
Transportation Forecasted cash inflows or outflows resulting 

from revenues and expenditures denominated 
in a currency other than the functional 
currency of the entity.  

Hedge 100% of the identified foreign currency 
exposures. 

(1) Slight deviations from the policy are allowed subject to maximum predetermined risk limits. 
 
Forward foreign exchange contracts 
The Corporation uses forward foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign currency exposure arising from 
forecasted foreign currency revenues and expenditures. The Corporation also uses forward foreign currency 
contracts to manage foreign currency exposure arising from third-party loans and intercompany loans and 
receivables. 
 
Most of the forward foreign exchange contracts are denominated in currencies of major industrial countries: 
• In the aerospace segment, forward foreign exchange contracts are mainly to sell U.S. dollars and buy 

Canadian dollars and sterling pounds. 
• In the transportation segment, forward foreign exchange contracts are mainly to sell or purchase U.S. dollars, 

sterling pounds, euros and other western European currencies. 
 
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is sensitive to changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign 
exchange rate changes result in offsetting fair value gains or losses on forecasted foreign currency cash flows 
and forward foreign exchange contracts, due to differences between current market foreign exchange rates and 
the stated foreign exchange rates within the derivative financial instruments.  
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Aerospace foreign currency denominated costs 
 
The expected costs denominated in foreign currencies and the hedged portion of these costs for fiscal year 2006 
were as follows as at January 31, 2005: 
 

 
 

Expected 
costs 

Hedged  
portion (in %) 

Weighted-average 
hedge rate 

Costs denominated in:      
Canadian dollar $ 1,800 82 0.7572 
Sterling pound $ 295 76 1.7460 

 
Sensitivity 
A one-cent change in the value of the Canadian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar would impact fiscal year 2006 
expected costs in the aerospace segment by approximately $18 million before giving effect to forward foreign 
exchange contracts, and approximately $3 million after giving effect to the outstanding forward foreign exchange 
contracts. 
 
A one-cent change in the value of the sterling pound compared to the U.S. dollar would impact fiscal year 2006 
expected costs in the aerospace segment by approximately $3 million before giving effect to forward foreign 
exchange contracts, and approximately $1 million after giving effect to the outstanding forward foreign exchange 
contracts. 
  
Interest rate exposure 
 
Interest-rate swap agreements 
Bombardier enters into interest-rate swap agreements in order to achieve an appropriate mix of fixed and variable 
interest rate debt. In addition, Bombardier enters into interest-rate swap agreements to reduce the impact of 
fluctuating interest rates on financial commitments and intercompany loans. BC enters into interest-rate swap 
agreements to convert certain long-term debt and finance receivables from fixed to variable interest rates. BC 
also enters into basis swap agreements in order to align the base interest rate of certain finance receivables to 
the base interest rate of long-term debt. Swap agreements involve the exchange of interest payments, based on a 
predetermined notional amount for a specified period of time. 
 
The fair value of interest-rate swaps is sensitive to changes in interest rates. Interest rate changes result in 
offsetting fair value gains or losses on long-term debt items or financial obligations, and interest-rate swaps, due 
to differences between current market interest rates and the stated interest rates within the derivative financial 
instruments.  
 
 
III COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
The Corporation’s commitments and contingencies are described in note 24 – Commitments and contingencies to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Credit and residual value guarantees  
 
In connection with the sale of certain of its products, mainly regional aircraft, the Corporation provides financing 
support on behalf of certain customers in the form of credit and residual value guarantees to enhance their ability 
to arrange third-party financing for their asset acquisition.  
 
Credit guarantees are triggered if customers do not perform during the term of the financing (ranging from one to 
20 years) under the relevant financing arrangements. Credit guarantees provide support through 
contractually-limited payments to the guaranteed party to mitigate default-related losses. The value of the 
underlying assets may be adversely affected by a number of factors including, but not limited to, an economic 
downturn. In the event of default, the Corporation usually acts as an agent for the guaranteed parties for the 
repossession, refurbishment and remarketing of the underlying assets. The Corporation typically receives a fee 
for these services. In most circumstances, a claim under the guarantee may be made only upon sale of the 
underlying asset to a third party. 
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In most cases, residual value guarantees are guarantees provided at the end of a financing arrangement, ranging 
from four to 20 years. Such guarantees provide protection to the guaranteed parties in cases where the market 
value of the underlying asset is below the guaranteed value. The value of the underlying asset may be adversely 
affected by a number of factors, including, but not limited to, an economic downturn. To mitigate the Corporation’s 
exposure, the collateral must meet certain contractual return conditions on the expiry date of the guarantee. If a 
residual value guarantee is exercised, it provides for a contractually-limited payment to the guaranteed parties, 
which is typically a percentage of the first loss from a guaranteed level. A claim under the guarantee may typically 
be made only upon sale of the underlying asset to a third party.  
 
When credit and residual value guarantees are provided in connection with a financing arrangement for the same 
underlying asset, residual value guarantees can only be exercised if the credit guarantee expires without having 
been exercised and, as such, are mutually exclusive. 
 
The Corporation’s risk management framework for the credit and residual value risks consists of the following: risk 
control, risk measurement, risk monitoring and risk transfer. The Corporation practices active risk control through 
inclusion of protective covenants and securities into commercial contracts to mitigate its exposure under these 
guarantees. Quantitative assessments of the risk relating to these guarantees and the determination of the related 
provisions to be recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements, if any, are performed using a risk-pricing 
model. Risk monitoring comprises ongoing Management reporting of exposures, active credit watch, on-site credit 
due diligence and active intervention. In addition, asset value trends for the Corporation’s products are closely 
monitored. The Corporation also engages, from time to time, in risk transfer with third-party insurers to minimize 
its exposure to credit and residual value guarantees.  
 
Financing commitments  
 
Manufacturers of commercial aircraft sometimes provide financing support to facilitate their customers’ access to 
capital. This support may take a variety of forms, including providing assistance to customers in accessing and 
structuring debt and equity for aircraft acquisitions, or providing assurance that debt and equity are available to 
finance such acquisitions. Bombardier may provide interim financing to customers while permanent financing is 
being arranged.  
 
As at January 31, 2005, Bombardier had outstanding financing commitments to nine customers amounting to 
$4.6 billion, net of third-party financing already arranged. It is anticipated that the aircraft related to these financing 
commitments will be delivered during the next five fiscal years. The Corporation mitigates its exposure to credit 
and interest rate risks by including terms and conditions in the financing agreements that guaranteed parties must 
satisfy prior to benefiting from the Corporation’s commitment. Total customer financing arranged by the 
Corporation in fiscal year 2005 amounted to $3.1 billion ($3.5 billion in fiscal year 2004). 
 
Bombardier anticipates that it will be able to satisfy its financing commitments to its customers in fiscal year 2006 
through third-party financing. However, Bombardier’s ability to satisfy its financing commitments may be affected 
by further financial difficulties in the commercial airline industry in general and of certain customers in particular, 
and the Corporation’s current and future credit condition. 
 
Other commitments and contingencies  
 
In connection with its contracts with the Metronet companies for the modernization of the London Underground, 
the Corporation is committed to provide collateral (surety bonds and letters of credit) in support of its obligations. 
These commitments extend to 2015. As at January 31, 2005, surety bonds maturing in 2010 and amounting to 
£181 million ($341 million) were outstanding. The period covered by the surety bonds must be extended by a 
year, every year. In the event that the bonds are not extended, the Corporation could have to provide, within one 
year, alternate collateral which could reduce Bombardier’s availability under its credit facilities. 
 
Bombardier receives government financial support from various levels of government, including financial support 
for the development of aircraft. Certain financial support programs require Bombardier to pay amounts to 
governments, at the time of the delivery of products, contingent on a minimum agreed-upon level of related 
product sales being achieved. If the minimum agreed-upon level is not reached, no amount is payable to 
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governments. Bombardier records the amount payable to governments at the time the product giving rise to such 
payment is sold. 
 
On February 7, 2005, the Teamsters Local 445 Freight Division Pension Fund filed a class action complaint in the 
U.S. district court of the Southern District of New York against the Corporation, Bombardier Capital Inc., 
Bombardier Capital Mortgage Securitization Corporation ("BCMSC") and others for alleged violations of federal 
securities laws relating to BCMSC’s Senior/Subordinated Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2000-A due 
January 15, 2030. The Corporation believes this complaint is without merit and will vigorously defend its position. 
 
The Corporation is occasionally involved in legal litigation, claims, investigations and other legal matters. It is the 
Corporation’s opinion that these contingencies will not have a material impact on its financial position. 
 
 
IV VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES  
 
On November 1, 2004, the Corporation adopted AcG-15 "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities" ("AcG-15") 
on a retroactive basis without restatement of prior periods. AcG-15 provides a framework for identifying variable 
interest entities ("VIEs") and determining when an entity should include the assets, liabilities and results of 
operations of a VIE in its consolidated financial statements. 
 
AcG-15 requires a VIE to be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the 
VIE (a variable interest holder) is exposed to a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE’s activities, is entitled to 
receive a majority of the VIE’s residual returns (if no party is exposed to a majority of the VIE’s losses), or both 
(the primary beneficiary). Upon consolidation, the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of the VIE’s 
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at fair value at the date the enterprise became the primary 
beneficiary. However, for variable interest entities created prior to the initial adoption of AcG-15, the assets, 
liabilities and non-controlling interest of these entities must be initially consolidated as if the entities were always 
consolidated based on majority voting interest. AcG-15 also requires disclosures about VIEs that the variable 
interest holder is not required to consolidate, but in which it has a significant variable interest. 
 
The effect of the adoption of AcG-15 on the Corporation's consolidated balance sheets, excluding the assets and 
liabilities of VIEs already included on the consolidated balance sheets under existing accounting rules, is as 
follows as at January 31, 2005: 
 

  Newly 
consolidated 

 
Reclassification(3) 

 
Total 

Assets       
Inventories $  - $ 11 $ 11 
Property, plant and equipment   16  -  16 
Other assets(1)   139  -  139 
 $  155 $ 11 $ 166 
Liabilities        
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities(2) $  63 $ (36) $ 27 
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs   -  (107)  (107) 
Long-term debt   92  154  246 
 $  155 $ 11 $ 166 

(1) Comprised of lease receivables of $78 million and restricted cash of $61 million. 

(2) Includes $14 million of non-controlling interest. 
(3) See "Sale of rights under manufacturing contracts". 

 
The effect of the adoption of AcG-15 on the Corporation's consolidated statements of income is not material. 
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The following table summarizes by segment the significant VIEs in which the Corporation has a variable interest 
as at January 31, 2005: 
 

 Assets Liabilities 
Aerospace   

Financing structures related to the sale of regional aircraft(1)  $ 5,306  $ 2,871 
Sale of rights under manufacturing contracts(2)  166  154 
Sale and leaseback structure(3)   16  16 

Transportation   
Partnership arrangements   4,352  4,035 
Sale support guarantee  663  662 
Cash collateral accounts(3) 61  61 

BC   
Securitization structures(2)  1,692  1,692 

  12,256  9,491 
Less assets and liabilities:   

Already consolidated under existing accounting rules 1,858 1,846 
Newly consolidated under AcG-15 155 153 

Assets and liabilities of non-consolidated VIEs subject to disclosure  $  10,243  $  7,492 
(1) Of which assets and liabilities amounting to $78 million and $76 million respectively were consolidated effective November 1, 2004. 
(2) Assets and liabilities were already included on the consolidated balance sheet under existing accounting rules. 
(3) Consolidated effective November 1, 2004. 
 
The liabilities recognized as a result of consolidating certain VIEs do not represent additional claims on the 
Corporation’s general assets; rather, they represent claims against the specific assets of the consolidated VIEs. 
Conversely, assets recognized as a result of consolidating certain VIEs do not represent additional assets that 
could be used to satisfy claims against the Corporation’s general assets. The consolidation of debt resulting from 
the application of AcG-15 is excluded from the computation of the Corporation’s debt covenant ratio for structures 
existing prior to May 1, 2004. Additionally, the consolidation of VIEs did not result in any change in the underlying 
tax, legal or credit exposure of the Corporation. 
 
Aerospace 
 
Financing structures related to the sale of regional aircraft – The Corporation has provided credit and/or 
residual value guarantees to certain special purpose entities ("SPEs") created solely to purchase regional aircraft 
from the Corporation and to lease these aircraft to airline companies and to purchase financial assets related to 
the sale of regional aircraft. Typically, these SPEs are financed by long-term debt and third-party equity investors 
who benefit from tax incentives. The aircraft serve as collateral for the SPEs’ long-term debt. The Corporation’s 
variable interests in these SPEs are solely through credit and residual value guarantees, except for two cases 
where it is also in the form of a residual interest in the SPEs' assets. The Corporation also provides administrative 
services to certain of these SPEs in return for a market fee. 
 
Most SPEs are VIEs and the Corporation is the primary beneficiary for only a limited number of them with assets 
and liabilities amounting to $78 million and $76 million respectively as at January 31, 2005. Accordingly, these 
entities were consolidated effective November 1, 2004. For all of the other SPEs, the Corporation is not the 
primary beneficiary and consolidation is not appropriate under AcG-15. As at January 31, 2005, the Corporation’s 
maximum potential exposure relating to these non-consolidated SPEs was $1.6 billion, of which $295 million of 
provisions and liabilities were available to cover the Corporation's exposure. The Corporation's maximum 
exposure under these guarantees is included in note 24 – Commitments and contingencies to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  
 
Sale of rights under manufacturing contracts – In 1995, the Corporation entered into an agreement with LR 
Jet Corporation ("LR Jet"), a company created for the sole purpose of purchasing, on a revolving basis, rights 
under certain aircraft manufacturing contracts from the Corporation. The purchase price is essentially financed by 
long-term debt issued to third-party investors. The amount of the rights sold totalled $171 million as at 
January 31, 2005 ($170 million as at January 31, 2004). The assets of LR Jet serve as collateral for its long-term 
debt. In connection with the sale of these rights, the Corporation has provided limited recourse to LR Jet 
amounting to $17 million as at January 31, 2005, which is included in note 24 – Commitments and contingencies.  
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LR Jet is a VIE and the Corporation is the primary beneficiary. Prior to the adoption of AcG-15, the Corporation 
accounted for the proceeds received from the sale of the rights as customer advances, which were presented as 
advances and progress billings in excess of related costs or deducted from inventories or as accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The adoption of AcG-15 has resulted in a 
reclassification, which increased inventories by $11 million and long-term debt by $154 million and decreased 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities by $36 million (net of $12 million of non-controlling interest) and 
advances and progress billings in excess of related costs by $107 million. 
 
Sale and leaseback structure – During fiscal year 2002, the Corporation concluded sale and leaseback 
arrangements with Inaugural Equipment Trust ("IET") relating to movable plant equipment. The moveable plant 
equipment serve as collateral for IET's long-term debt. The Corporation has determined that IET is a VIE, and the 
Corporation is the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, IET has been consolidated as of November 1, 2004. The 
consolidation of IET resulted in increases to property, plant and equipment and to long-term debt of $16 million as 
at January 31, 2005. 
 
Transportation 
 
Partnership arrangements – The Corporation entered into partnership arrangements to provide manufactured 
rail equipment and civil engineering work as well as related long-term services, such as the operation and 
maintenance of rail equipment.  
 
The Corporation’s involvement with entities created in connection with these partnership arrangements is mainly 
through investments in their equity and/or in subordinated loans and through manufacturing, selling and long-term 
service contracts. The Corporation concluded that certain of these entities are VIEs, but the Corporation is not the 
primary beneficiary. Accordingly, these entities have not been consolidated. The Corporation continues to account 
for these investments under the equity method, recording its share of the net income or loss based upon the 
terms of the partnership arrangement. As at January 31, 2005, the Corporation’s maximum off-balance sheet 
exposure to loss related to these non-consolidated VIEs, other than from its contractual obligations, was not 
material. 
 
As at January 31, 2005, the Corporation had the following involvement with significant partnership arrangements 
which qualify as VIEs: 
• In April 2003, Metronet Rail BCV Holdings Ltd. and Metronet Rail SSL Holdings Ltd. (together "Metronet"), in 

which the Corporation has a 20% equity interest, were awarded contracts for the renewal, modernization and 
maintenance of two of the London Underground’s infrastructure projects. As part of its involvement with 
Metronet, the Corporation was awarded firm supply contracts to provide metro cars, signalling, maintenance 
and management services to Metronet.  

• The Corporation has a 20% equity interest in Consorzio Treno Veloce Italiano ("TREVI"), an entity which was 
awarded, starting in May 1992, a series of contracts, including the supply of ETR 500 locomotives and railcars 
as well as their maintenance and refurbishment, for which the Corporation was selected as a sub-supplier to 
TREVI. 

• In May 2004, Arrow Light Rail Holdings Ltd. and Arrow Light Rail Ltd. (together "Arrow"), in which the 
Corporation has a 12.5% equity interest, were awarded contracts for the design, manufacture, operation and 
maintenance of the Nottingham Express Transit Line One System located in the U.K. As part of its 
involvement with Arrow, the Corporation was awarded the operation and maintenance service contract.  

• In June 2004, Yong-In LRT Co., Ltd. ("Yong-In"), in which the Corporation has a 26% interest, was 
established to build and operate a light rail system in the city of Yong-In, South Korea. As part of its 
involvement with Yong-In, the Corporation is responsible for project management, system integration, 
mobilization and test running, and providing vehicles and other equipment.  

 
Sale support guarantee – In August 1998, the Corporation provided residual value guarantees on diesel 
electric multiple unit trains sold to Lombard Leasing Contracts Limited ("Lombard"). Under an operating lease 
structure, Lombard leases the trains to a third-party operator. The Corporation concluded that Lombard is a VIE, 
but the Corporation is not the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, this entity has not been consolidated. The 
Corporation’s maximum exposure as a result of its involvement with Lombard is limited to its residual value 
guarantees for an amount of $135 million. The Corporation’s maximum exposure under these guarantees is 
included in note 24 – Commitments and contingencies to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Cash collateral accounts – In connection with the sale of rail equipment by Adtranz prior to its acquisition by the 
Corporation in May 2001, the purchasers have been provided with the right, under certain conditions, to sell back 
the equipment to the Corporation at predetermined prices on three separate dates, beginning in fiscal year 2009. 
In addition, the Corporation may be required, beginning in fiscal year 2009, upon customer default on payments to 
the financing providers, to repurchase the equipment. 
 
As a result of this commitment, Fabian Investments Limited and Lineal Investments Limited were created and 
cash was deposited in a cash collateral account by the lessee of the equipment. This cash, together with 
accumulated interest, is expected to entirely cover the Corporation’s exposure. These SPEs are VIEs and the 
Corporation is their primary beneficiary. Accordingly, the Corporation has consolidated these SPEs effective 
November 1, 2004. Their assets, consisting of restricted cash, are presented in other assets, and their liabilities, 
consisting of a provision for repurchase obligations, are presented in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on 
the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheets, amounted to $61 million as at January 31, 2005. 

 
BC 
 
Securitization structures – BC has agreed to sell, on a revolving basis, certain of its inventory finance 
receivables to Bombardier Receivables Master Trust I ("BRMT I") under a $1.2 billion securitization facility and to 
Bombardier Receivables Master Trust II ("BRMT II") under a $350 million Cdn ($283 million) securitization facility. 
BRMT I and BRMT II's purchase price was financed by issuing to unrelated parties certificates, collateralized by 
the receivables. BRMT I and BRMT II are separate legal entities that are VIEs and the Corporation is their primary 
beneficiary. Their assets are legally isolated from BC's general creditors and their investors have no recourse to 
BC's assets if debtors fail to pay other than for BC's retained subordinated interests of $209 million as at 
January 31, 2005. BC also retains servicing responsibilities and receives market-based servicing fees. Prior to the 
adoption of AcG-15, BC was consolidating these entities under existing accounting rules. 
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Other 
 

 
 
I PENSION  
 
The Corporation sponsors several domestic- and foreign-funded and unfunded defined benefit pension plans.  
• Funded plans are plans for which segregated plan assets are invested in trusts. These plans can be in an 

over- or under-funded position, depending on various factors, such as investment returns. The funded plans 
are mainly located in North America, the U.K. and Switzerland. For these plans, employer cash contributions 
are determined in accordance with the regulatory requirements of each local jurisdiction. 

• Unfunded plans are plans for which there are no segregated plan assets. These plans, for which the 
Corporation has no prefunding obligations, are located mainly in continental Europe. In these countries, the 
establishment of segregated plan assets is either not permitted or not in line with local practice. The employer 
cash requirement for these plans corresponds to the benefit payments to be made to the participants. 

 
The Corporation uses a measurement date of December 31 for accounting purposes.  
 
The financial position and other information regarding the Corporation’s defined benefit pension plans are 
presented in note 23 – Employee future benefits to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Assumptions 
The determination of assumptions is made after a periodic review of factors, such as long-term return 
expectations prepared by consultants or economists, historical and expected investment returns, long-term 
interest rate yield curves on high quality corporate bonds, long-term inflation assumptions and recommendations 
from actuaries. The Corporation uses a market-related valuation of assets that recognizes the effect of investment 
gains or losses over a three-year period from the year in which they occur for purposes of measuring pension 
cost. The Corporation reflects in advance the cost of future discretionary increases of pension benefits, for plans 
with a history of regular discretionary increases, and the cost of future life expectancy improvements. 
 
Pension plan deficit 
As at December 31, 2004 (the measurement date), the deficit for the pension plans amounted to $1.9 billion 
($2.1 billion as at December 31, 2003). This amount includes the pension benefit obligation of the unfunded plans 
amounting to $517 million ($443 million as at December 31, 2003). 
 
The decrease in the deficit is mainly due to funding contributions (including a voluntary contribution to the 
aerospace plans in the U.K.) exceeding pension costs, partially offset by the weakening of the U.S. dollar 
compared to the Canadian dollar, the sterling pound and the euro amounting to approximately $90 million. 
 
Sensitivity  
It is estimated that an increase/decrease of 0.25% in the current weighted-average discount rate used to calculate 
the net present value of the pension benefit obligation would decrease/increase the pension benefit obligation by 
approximately $250 million. 
 
Unrecognized amounts 
The net actuarial gains and losses, based on the market-related value of plan assets, over 10% of the greater of 
the projected benefit obligation and the market-related value of plan assets, as well as prior service costs are 
amortized to income over the estimated weighted-average remaining service life of the plan participants. The 
amortization of the net unrecognized amounts is expected to account for $80 million of the estimated pension cost 
for fiscal year 2006.  
 
Pension cost 
Pension cost amounted to $270 million for fiscal year 2005, compared to pension cost from continuing operations 
of $235 million for fiscal year 2004. The variation is mainly due to an increase in the pension obligation during 
fiscal year 2004 resulting from a decrease in the weighted-average discount rate, and the recognition, over a 
three-year period, of lower-than-expected returns on plan assets during fiscal years 2002 and 2003. 
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Pension cost is capitalized as part of labour costs and included in inventories and aerospace program tooling or is 
recognized directly to income. 
 
Pension cost is estimated to be $300 million for fiscal year 2006. The expected increase compared to fiscal year 
2005 is mainly due to the recognition, over a three-year period, of lower-than-expected returns on plan assets 
during fiscal year 2003, and a further decrease in the weighted-average discount rate. 
 
Funding  
The Corporation complies with the regulatory cash contribution requirements of each local jurisdiction, which are 
designed to protect participants’ rights. Since the measurement basis used to determine the pension cost is, in 
general, more conservative than the regulatory requirements in most jurisdictions, the deficit computed to 
establish cash contributions (funding deficit) is smaller than the deficit for accounting purposes for most pension 
plans. 
 
Cash contributions to the pension plans for fiscal year 2006 are estimated at $335 million compared to 
$329 million for fiscal year 2005.  
 
 
II RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
Risk management practices 
The Corporation’s risk management practice is to embed risk management activities in the operational 
responsibilities of its management. Risk management is therefore an integral part of how the Corporation plans 
and executes its business strategies. Each segment’s management manages their risks in line with the 
Corporation’s overall organizational and accountability structure. Bombardier has developed and applies rigorous 
risk assessment, mitigation and management practices to reduce the nature and extent of its exposure to 
financial, technical and legal risks. 
 
Aerospace’s risk management begins prior to program launch. It includes the development of a detailed plan to 
support a program launch decision, and continues throughout the product cycle. Aerospace’s risk management 
strategy includes a governance process to assess the risk of deviation from the revenue, cost, schedule and 
technical targets established as part of a detailed plan with the aim of developing specific risk mitigation plans. 
Such practices include a sales contract evaluation process ensuring compliance with internal policy. Risk 
management for product cost includes the development of long-term relationships with key suppliers, together 
with supplier evaluation and competitive bidding processes. Other risk management practices for cost include 
foreign exchange hedging, insurance coverage and collective agreements with a significant portion of the 
workforce. Technical risk is mitigated through strict compliance with the regulatory requirements of various 
bodies, as well as stringent quality control in the production cycle. 
 
Transportation’s risk management strategy includes a bid approval process managed by senior executives, by 
which all bids are reviewed for compliance with internal policies and guidelines in the areas of commercial and 
contractual terms and conditions, profitability, engineering and manufacturing resources availability, product 
strategy, delivery schedule and supply base before tendering. It also includes a technical risk assessment, legal 
review of contracts, development of long-term relationships with key suppliers, together with supplier evaluation, 
cost and schedule control of projects, the regular review of forecasts, the structuring of positive cash flow 
arrangements through the use of customer advances, foreign exchange hedging, securing insurance, obtaining 
third-party guarantees, and other risk mitigating measures, such as collective agreements with a significant 
portion of the workforce.  
 
Effective risk management is essential for BC to achieve its strategic goal of return commensurate with risks in 
the businesses. Risks that could affect the performance of BC are regularly identified, measured and monitored. 
These risks include credit, interest rate, operational and residual value risks. BC controls the credit risk of its 
portfolios by setting limits on the total amount outstanding, obtaining collateral, monitoring the size, maturity and 
structure of the portfolios, and by applying appropriate credit standards. BC strives to minimize its overall debt 
costs while ensuring that interest margins are protected from adverse interest rate movements. To achieve this 
objective, BC seeks to match the interest rate characteristics of its assets and liabilities, in part by, using 
derivative financial instruments as part of an asset/liability management program to reduce its overall financial 
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risk. To mitigate operational risks, BC regularly reviews its operating processes, policies and controls. It continues 
to proactively refine its risk management processes within the governance structure of the Corporation to 
effectively identify, measure and mitigate various risk exposures. 
 
Risk environment 
The Corporation operates in industry segments that have a variety of risk factors and uncertainties. The risks and 
uncertainties described below are risks that could materially affect the Corporation’s business, financial condition 
and results of operations, but are not necessarily the only ones facing the Corporation. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not presently known to the Corporation, or that the Corporation currently believes to be immaterial, 
may also adversely affect its business. 
 
External business environment 
The Corporation faces a number of external risk factors, more specifically general economic conditions, 
government policies related to import and export restrictions, changing priorities and possible spending cuts by 
government agencies, government support to export sales, competition from other businesses, as well as scope 
clauses in pilot union agreements restricting the operation of smaller jetliners by major airlines or by their regional 
affiliates. In addition, acts of terrorism, political instability or the outbreak of war or continued hostilities in certain 
regions of the world, may result in lower orders, rescheduling or the cancellation of part of the existing order 
backlog for certain of the Corporation’s products.  
 
General economic conditions 
Unfavourable economic conditions, such as the weakness or further deterioration in the financial situation of 
certain major U.S. airlines and the volatility in fuel prices, may adversely affect the Corporation’s business. A 
macroeconomic downturn in important markets may result in lower order intake. In addition, curtailment of 
production activities due to unfavourable economic conditions could result in the Corporation incurring significant 
costs associated with temporary layoffs or termination of employees.  
 
Operational risk 
The activities conducted by the Corporation are subject to operational risks, including regulatory risks, 
dependence on key personnel, successful integration of new acquisitions, product performance warranty, and 
reliance on information systems, all of which could affect the ability of the Corporation to meet its obligations. For 
example, in the aerospace segment, non-compliance with regulatory requirements, such as those imposed by 
Transport Canada or the Federal Aviation Administration in the U.S.A., could result in the grounding of 
Bombardier aircraft, which could have a material adverse impact on the Corporation. In the transportation 
segment, the Corporation is also subject to stringent certification or approval requirements, which may delay the 
certification of railway cars. In addition, large and complex projects for customers are common for the businesses 
of the Corporation, including fixed-price contracts. Please refer to further discussion on fixed-term commitments 
below. 
 
Fixed-term commitments 
The Corporation has historically offered and will continue to offer a significant portion of its products on fixed-term 
contracts, rather than contracts in which payment is determined solely on a time-and-material basis, mainly in the 
transportation segment. Generally, the Corporation may not terminate these contracts unilaterally. Although the 
Corporation often relies on tools and methodologies and past experience to reduce the risks associated with 
estimating, planning and performing these projects, in most cases, the Corporation is exposed to risks associated 
with these projects, including unexpected technological problems, difficulties with the Corporation’s partners and 
subcontractors, and logistic difficulties that could lead to cost overruns and late delivery penalties.  
 
Warranty and casualty claim losses 
The products manufactured by the Corporation are highly complex and sophisticated and may contain defects 
that are difficult to detect and correct. Defects may be found in the Corporation’s products after they are delivered 
to the customer. If discovered, the Corporation may not be able to correct them in a timely manner or at all. The 
occurrence of defects and failures in the Corporation’s products could result in warranty claims or the loss of 
customers. Correcting such defects could require significant capital investments. Any claims, defects or failures 
could have an adverse effect on the Corporation’s operating results and business. In addition, due to the nature of 
the Corporation’s business, the Corporation may be subject to liability claims arising from accidents or disasters, 
involving the Corporation’s products or products for which the Corporation provided services, including claims for 
serious personal injuries or death or those caused by climatic factors (such as snow and icy weather) or by pilot 
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error. The Corporation cannot be certain that its insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover one or more 
substantial claims. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able to obtain insurance 
coverage at acceptable levels and cost in the future.  
 
Business partners 
In certain of the projects carried out through consortia or other partnership vehicles in the transportation segment, 
all partners are jointly and severally liable to the customer. The success of these partnerships is dependent on the 
satisfactory performance of the Corporation’s business partners. Although in these situations, partners generally 
exchange counter indemnity obligations, often partially or totally backed up by guarantee instruments, the failure 
of the business partners to fulfill their contractual obligations could subject the Corporation to additional financial 
and performance obligations that could result in increased costs and unforeseen delays.  
 
Key customers and key suppliers  
The Corporation’s manufacturing operations are dependent upon a limited number of customers. As at 
January 31, 2005, 42% of Aerospace’s order backlog was attributable to 10 customers. In the transportation 
segment, three customers represented 45% of the order backlog. The Corporation believes that it will continue to 
depend on a limited number of customers, accordingly the loss of any such customer could result in lower sales 
and/or market share. 
 
The Corporation’s manufacturing operations are dependant upon a limited number of key suppliers for the 
delivery of materials, services and major aircraft components, such as power plants, wings, nacelles and 
fuselages in the aerospace segment, and brakes in the transportation segment. In the aerospace segment, 
certain of these suppliers participate with the Corporation in the development of various aircraft platforms and the 
subsequent delivery of materials and major aircraft components, and own some of the intellectual property from 
the key components they develop. Therefore, the Corporation’s contracts with these key suppliers are on a 
long-term and exclusive basis. Although alternative supplier sources generally exist for the procurement of 
material and major aircraft components, the replacement of certain key suppliers could take several months. A 
failure by one or more key suppliers to meet performance specifications, quality standards, and delivery 
schedules could adversely affect the ability of the Corporation to meet its commitments to customers. If one or 
more key suppliers are unable to meet their contractual obligations towards the Corporation, this could result in a 
material effect on the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements.  
 
Developing new products and services  
The principal markets in which the Corporation’s businesses operate experience changes due to the introduction 
of new technologies. To meet its customers’ needs in these businesses, the Corporation must continuously 
design new, and update existing products and services, and invest in and develop new technologies. Introducing 
new products requires a significant commitment to research and development, which may not be successful. The 
Corporation’s sales may be impacted if it invests in products that are not accepted in the marketplace, are not 
approved by regulatory authorities, or if the products are not brought to market in a timely manner or become 
obsolete.  
 
Government support 
The Corporation relies on various types of government support. The level of government support reflects 
government policy and depends on budgets and other political and economic developments. The Corporation 
cannot predict if future government-sponsored support will be available. The loss or any substantial reduction in 
the availability of government support could negatively impact the Corporation’s cost competitiveness and market 
share, particularly in the regional aircraft market. In addition, any future government support received by the 
Corporation’s competitors may have a negative impact on the Corporation’s competitiveness, sales and market 
share.  
 
Human resource risk (including collective agreements) 
Human resource risk is the risk that the Corporation is unable to recruit, retain, and motivate highly skilled 
employees to assist in the Corporation’s business, including research and development activities, that are 
essential to the success of the Corporation. Failure to attract and retain skilled personnel could negatively impact 
the Corporation’s development efforts and cause delays in production.  
 
In addition, the Corporation is party to several collective agreements throughout its business segments, which are 
subject to expiration at various times in the future. If the Corporation is unable to renew these collective 
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agreements as they become subject to renegotiation from time to time, which could result in work stoppages and 
other labour disturbances, which could result in a material effect on the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  
 
Environmental risk  
Environmental risk is the risk that governmental environmental requirements, or enforcements thereof, may 
become more stringent in the future and that additional costs may be incurred by the Corporation to be compliant 
with such future requirements or enforcements. The Corporation is subject to environmental laws and regulations 
in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates, governing, among other things, product performance and/or 
content, air and water pollution, hazardous substance discharges, and the remediation of soil and/or groundwater 
contamination caused by past operations. Although the Corporation believes that it is in substantial compliance 
with current applicable requirements of environmental laws, there can be no assurance that limitations imposed 
by, or costs of compliance with, current or future environmental laws, or liabilities arising from environmental 
problems, will not have a material effect on the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Financing support provided on behalf of certain customers 
In connection with the sale of certain of its products, mainly aircraft, the Corporation provides financing support in 
the form of credit and residual value guarantees to enhance the ability to arrange third-party financing for the 
asset acquisition. A claim under these guarantees may be typically made only upon sale of the underlying asset 
to a third party. Significant claims under these guarantees could have a material effect on the Corporation’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations (see "Commitments and Contingencies" section of this 
MD&A for a discussion of credit and residual value guarantees).  
 
Delinquencies and losses in BC’s portfolio 
Like all finance companies, BC faces the risk that it may not be able to collect on its finance receivables, 
consisting primarily of asset-based financing in the form of receivables, lease receivables and loans, mostly 
related to floorplan financing on a secured basis to retailers purchasing inventory products and third-party interim 
financing of commercial aircraft.  
 
Liquidity and access to capital markets  
The Corporation requires continued access to the capital markets to support its activities, including selling 
asset-backed securities. To satisfy its financing needs, the Corporation relies on long-term and short-term debt 
and cash flow generated from operations. Any impediments to the Corporation’s ability to access the capital 
markets, including a decline in credit ratings, a significant reduction of the surety market global capacity, 
significant changes in market interest rates, general economic conditions or the perception in the capital markets 
of the Corporation’s financial condition or prospects, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s 
financial condition and results of operations. Credit ratings may be impacted by many external factors beyond the 
Corporation’s control and accordingly, no assurance can be given that the Corporation’s credit ratings will not be 
reduced in the future. 
 
Restrictive debt covenants 
The indentures governing certain of the Corporation’s indebtedness and syndicated credit facilities contain 
covenants that, among other things, restrict the Corporation’s ability to: 
• sell all or substantially all of its assets; 
• incur certain secured indebtedness; 
• engage in mergers or consolidations; and 
• engage in certain transactions with affiliates. 
 
These restrictions could impair the Corporation’s ability to finance its future operations or its capital needs, or to 
engage in other business activities that may be in its interest. In addition, Bombardier is also required to comply 
with a single financial covenant under its two main syndicated credit facilities. The Corporation’s ability to comply 
with this ratio may be affected by events beyond its control. A breach of any of these agreements or the 
Corporation’s inability to comply with the required financial ratio could also result in a default under its bank lines, 
which would permit the Corporation’s lenders to declare amounts owed to them immediately payable. 
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Market risk 
Market risk is defined as a potential loss due to an adverse move in market rates, including the following: 
 
a) Foreign currency fluctuations  
The Corporation is exposed to risks resulting from foreign currency fluctuations as described in the "Derivative 
Financial Instruments" section of this MD&A. In an effort to mitigate these risks, the Corporation uses derivative 
instruments to hedge its exposure to future cash inflows and outflows in various foreign currencies.  
 
b) Changing interest rates 
The Corporation is exposed to risks from fluctuating interest rates as described in the "Derivative Financial 
Instruments" section of this MD&A. The Corporation uses derivative financial instruments or the use of an 
asset/liability management technique to manage the impact of fluctuating interest rates, arising mainly on existing 
assets and liabilities and financial commitments.  
 
c) Commodity price risk  
The Corporation is subject to commodity price risk relating principally to fluctuations in energy and raw material 
prices, such as aluminium used in production. The Corporation periodically uses fixed-price purchase 
commitments to mitigate a portion of its exposure to potentially unfavourable price changes of commodities.  
 
The impact of the above fluctuations could have a material effect on the Corporation's Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
 
 
III CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires the use of 
estimates, judgment and assumptions. Critical accounting estimates are described in this section. An accounting 
estimate is considered critical if the estimate requires management to make assumptions about matters that were 
highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made, if different estimates could have been reasonably used or if 
changes in the estimate that would have a material impact on the Corporation’s financial condition or results of 
operations are likely to occur from period to period.  
 
The sensitivity analysis included in this section should be used with caution as the changes are hypothetical and 
the impact of changes in each key assumption may not be linear. 
 
Average cost accounting 
 
Average cost accounting, used in the aerospace segment, is a method of accounting for the costs associated with 
the manufacturing of aircraft whereby the estimated average unit production cost is charged to cost of sales. 
 
The determination of the estimated average unit production cost per aircraft involves estimates of total accounting 
program quantities and total production costs for a selected program, as well as the period over which the units 
can reasonably be expected to be produced. 
 
Accounting program quantities are based on an assessment of prevailing market conditions and anticipated 
demand for the aircraft, considering, among other factors, firm order backlog and options. 
 
Production costs include raw material, direct labour and manufacturing overhead costs. Total production costs are 
estimated based on forecasted costs of raw materials, inflation rates, foreign exchange rates, labour productivity 
and employment levels and salaries. Cost estimates are based mainly on historical performance trends, economic 
trends, labour agreements and information provided by suppliers. Production costs are also based on the learning 
curve concept, which anticipates a decrease in costs as tasks and production techniques become more efficient 
through repetition. As a result, the estimated average unit production cost incurred in the early stage of the 
program will exceed the estimated average unit production cost for the entire program. This difference, referred to 
as excess over-average production costs, is included in inventories and is expected to be recovered from sales of 
aircraft to be produced later at lower-than-average production costs. 
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Management conducts quarterly reviews as well as a detailed annual review in the fourth quarter as part of its 
annual budget process of its cost estimates and program quantities. The effect of any revision is accounted for by 
way of a cumulative catch-up adjustment in the period in which the revision takes place. 
 
Sensitivity  
A 1% change in the estimated future costs to produce the remaining aircraft accounting program quantities for all 
aircraft programs would have increased or decreased the Corporation’s cost of sales by approximately 
$50 million, including $35 million relating to cumulative catch-up adjustments for prior years. 
 
Aerospace program tooling  
 
Aerospace program tooling is reviewed for impairment when certain events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the tooling may not be recoverable. The recoverability test is performed using 
undiscounted future net cash flows that are directly associated with the asset’s use. An impairment charge is 
recorded when the undiscounted value of the expected future cash flows is less than the carrying value of 
program tooling. The impairment, if any, is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair 
value of the program tooling. Estimates of net future cash flows over the remaining useful life of program tooling 
are subject to estimates with respect to expected selling prices as well as estimates and judgments as described 
in the average cost accounting section above. 
 
Sales incentives  
 
The Corporation offers sales incentives including credit and residual value guarantees, mostly in connection 
with the sale of regional aircraft. Management reviews the maximum exposure related to these commitments 
relative to the aircraft’s expected future value and, in the case of credit guarantees, the creditworthiness of the 
borrower. Provisions are recorded at the time of sale of the underlying aircraft and are reviewed quarterly. The 
aircraft’s expected future value is estimated using internal and external aircraft valuations, including information 
developed from the sale of similar aircraft in the secondary market. The creditworthiness of borrowers, for which 
credit guarantees have been provided, is based on credit ratings published by credit rating agencies, when 
available. The creditworthiness of other borrowers is estimated based on internal evaluation models (see 
note 24 – Commitments and contingencies to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information 
on these guarantees).  
 
Sensitivity  
As at January 31, 2005, had the expected future value of aircraft used to calculate the provision for credit and 
residual value guarantees provided in connection with aircraft sales decreased by 5%, cost of sales would have 
increased by approximately $70 million.  
 
Long-term contracts 
 
The transportation segment conducts most of its business under long-term contracts. Revenues and margins from 
long-term contracts are mostly recognized using the percentage-of-completion method or recognized in proportion 
to the total costs originally anticipated to be incurred at the beginning of the contract, using the expected-cost 
method. The long-term nature of contracts involves considerable use of estimates in determining total contract 
costs, revenues and percentage of completion. 
 
Contract costs include raw material, direct labour, manufacturing overhead and other costs, such as warranty and 
freight. Total contract costs are estimated based on forecasted costs of raw materials, inflation rates, foreign 
exchange rates, labour productivity, and employment levels and salaries, and are influenced by the nature and 
complexity of the work to be performed, the impact of change orders and the impact of delayed delivery. Cost 
estimates are based mainly on historical performance trends, economic trends, collective agreements and 
information provided by suppliers. 
 
Revenue estimates are based on the negotiated contract price adjusted for change orders, claims and contract 
terms that provide for the adjustment of prices in the event of variations from projected inflationary trends. 
Contract change orders and claims are included in revenue when they can be reliably estimated and realization is 
probable. 
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The percentage of completion is generally determined by comparing the costs incurred to date to the total 
estimated cost for the contract, excluding costs that are not representative for the measure of performance.  
 
Recognized revenues and margins are subject to revisions as the contract progresses to completion. 
Management conducts quarterly reviews and a detailed annual review in the fourth quarter as part of its annual 
budget process of its estimated costs to complete, percentage of completion estimates and revenues and margins 
recognized, on a contract-by-contract basis. The effect of any revision is accounted for by way of a cumulative 
catch-up adjustment in the period in which the revision takes place. 
 
If a contract review indicates a negative gross margin, the entire expected loss on the contract is recognized in 
the period in which the negative gross margin is identified. 
 
Sensitivity  
A 1% increase in the estimated future costs to completion for all ongoing contracts accounted for under the 
percentage-of-completion method in the transportation segment would have increased cost of sales by 
approximately $65 million, while a 1% decrease in the estimated future costs would have decreased cost of sales 
by approximately $55 million. 
 
Goodwill  
 
Goodwill recorded is the result of the purchase of Adtranz. 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or circumstances, such as significant 
declines in expected cash flows, indicate that it is more likely than not that the asset might be impaired. The 
Corporation selected its fourth quarter as its annual testing period for its goodwill. Goodwill is considered to be 
impaired when the carrying value of a reporting unit, including the allocated goodwill, exceeds its fair value. 
Goodwill impairment is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit's allocated goodwill 
over the implied fair value of the goodwill, based on the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit. 
Future cash flows are forecasted based on the Corporation’s best estimate of revenues, production costs, 
manufacturing overhead and other costs. These estimates are made by reviewing existing contracts, expected 
future orders, current cost structure, anticipated cost variations, collective agreements and general market 
conditions, and are subject to review and approval by senior management. The future cash flows used for the 
impairment test performed during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 were discounted using a weighted-average 
cost of capital rate of 9.5%. 
 
Product warranties 
 
Products sold in the aerospace and transportation segments are accompanied by warranties for systems, 
accessories, equipment, parts and software developed by the Corporation. 
 
Warranty cost is recorded when revenue for the underlying product is recognized. The cost is estimated based on 
a number of factors, including the historical warranty claims and cost experience, the type and duration of 
warranty coverage, the nature of products sold and counter-warranty coverage available from the Corporation’s 
suppliers. 
 
The Corporation reviews quarterly its recorded product warranty provisions and any adjustment is recognized to 
income. Warranty expense is recorded as a component of cost of sales.  
 



60 
 

Employee future benefits 
 
Pension and other employee benefit costs and obligations are dependant on assumptions used in calculating 
such amounts. The discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and rate of compensation 
increase are important elements of cost and/or obligation measurement.  
 
The discount rate allows the Corporation to reflect estimated future benefit payments at present value on the 
measurement date. Management has little discretion in selecting the discount rate as it must represent the market 
rates for high quality fixed income investments available for the period to maturity of the benefits. A lower discount 
rate increases the benefit obligation and benefit costs. 
 
Sensitivity 
A 0.25% change in the weighted-average discount rate would increase or decrease expected benefit cost in fiscal 
year 2006 by approximately $30 million.  
 
The expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets is determined considering historical returns, future 
estimates of long-term investment returns and asset allocations. A lower return assumption increases pension 
cost. 
 
Sensitivity 
A 0.25% change in the weighted-average return assumption would increase or decrease expected pension cost in 
fiscal year 2006 by approximately $10 million. 
 
The rate of compensation increase is determined considering current salary structure, historical wage increases 
and anticipated wage increases. 
 
Sensitivity 
A 0.25% change in the weighted-average rate for compensation increase would increase or decrease expected 
benefit cost in fiscal year 2006 by approximately $15 million. 
 
Other assumptions include the inflation rate and the health-care cost trend rate, as well as demographic factors 
such as retirement ages of employees, mortality rates and turnover. Assumptions are reviewed and updated on 
an annual basis. 
 
Income taxes 
 
The Corporation recognizes deferred income tax assets, resulting from operating losses carry-forward and 
deductible temporary differences. 
 
Management assesses the realization of these deferred tax assets regularly to determine whether a valuation 
allowance is required. Based on evidence, both positive and negative, the Corporation determines whether it is 
more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred income tax assets will be realized. The factors considered 
include estimated future earnings based on internal forecasts, cumulative losses in recent years, history of losses 
carry-forward and other tax assets expiring unused, as well as prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. 
 
 
IV ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Financial instruments, Hedges and Comprehensive income  
 
The following new standards issued during fiscal year 2005, may, when adopted, have a material impact on the 
Corporation's Consolidated Financial Statements: 
• Financial instruments – Recognition and measurement; 
• Hedges; and 
• Comprehensive income. 
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These standards are substantially harmonized with U.S. GAAP and will be effective for the Corporation for the 
first quarter of fiscal year 2008. The principal impacts of the standards are summarized below: 
 
a) Financial instruments – Recognition and measurement 
• All derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host 

contract, must be recorded on the balance sheet and measured at fair value.  
• All financial assets must be classified as held for trading, available for sale, held to maturity or as loans and 

receivables, and measured either at fair value, cost or amortized cost.  
• Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value must be recognized in the income statement 

or in other comprehensive income. 
 
b) Hedges  
Hedges can be designated as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or hedges of a net investment in a self-
sustaining foreign operation. Gains and losses as a result of changes in the fair value of hedging instruments 
which qualify for hedge accounting must be recognized to income, together with the offsetting gains or losses on 
the hedged risk in the period of change or to other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met, with 
subsequent reclassification to income when the hedged item affects income. 
 
c) Comprehensive income  
Comprehensive income is the change in equity (net assets) of an enterprise during a period from transactions and 
other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Comprehensive income and its components must be 
presented in the consolidated financial statements with the same prominence as other financial statements that 
constitute the complete set of consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Corporation is currently assessing the impact of these new recommendations on its Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
 
For those accounting and reporting developments adopted by the Corporation during the fiscal year ending 
January 31, 2005, please refer to note 1 – Changes in accounting policies to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
 
 
V ENVIRONMENT 
 
The Corporation’s manufacturing and service activities are subject to environmental regulation by federal, 
provincial and local authorities in Canada, as well as local regulatory authorities having jurisdiction over the 
Corporation’s foreign operations. As a result, the Corporation has established, and periodically updates, a health, 
safety and environment policy that defines the Corporation’s vision for its worldwide operations. Consistent with 
this policy, approximately 85% of the Corporation’s manufacturing and services locations (over 150 employees) 
have been accredited according to the ISO 14001 Standard for Environmental Management by outside auditors. 

 
Consistent with the Corporation’s policy stressing environmental responsibility and its desire to maintain legal 
compliance, the Corporation routinely procures, installs and operates pollution control devices, such as waste 
water treatment plants, groundwater monitoring devices, air strippers or separators, and incinerators at new and 
existing facilities constructed or upgraded in the normal course of business. Future capital expenditures for 
pollution control systems are not expected to have a material effect on the Corporation’s consolidated financial 
position. 

 
With respect to environmental matters related to site contamination (historical contamination of soil and 
groundwater), the Corporation periodically conducts studies, individually at sites owned by the Corporation and 
jointly as members of industry groups at sites not owned by the Corporation, to determine the feasibility of various 
remedial techniques, and to define the Corporation’s share of liability. The Corporation is currently proceeding 
with decontamination at a small number of sites both in North America and in Europe. The historical costs for soil 
and/or groundwater decontamination have not been significant. 
 
Estimating future environmental clean-up liabilities is dependent on the nature and the extent of historical 
information and physical data about the contaminated site, the complexity of the contamination, the uncertainty of 
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which remedy to apply, the timing of the remedial action and the outcome of the discussions with regulatory 
authorities. 
 
The Corporation expects to increase its costs for remediation activities in future years. This increased cost is 
based on the probable closure of certain existing facilities and on ever increasing legal requirements. Although it 
appears likely that annual costs for soil and groundwater decontamination may increase over time, these costs 
are not expected to be material to the Corporation. 
 
 
VI SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of Bombardier Inc. are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and 
are expressed in U.S. dollars. The recreational products segments results are presented as discontinued 
operations. 
 
The following table provides selected financial information for the last three fiscal years. 
 

(millions of US dollars, except per share amounts)   2005   2004   2003 
Revenues from continuing operations $  15,839 $  15,508 $ 13,535 
EBT from continuing operations before special items    71    311  243 
Loss from continuing operations   (85)    (166)  (453) 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   -    81  60 
Net loss   (85)    (85)  (393) 
Basic and diluted loss per share        

From continuing operations   (0.06)   (0.11)   (0.34) 
Net loss   (0.06)   (0.07)   (0.30) 

Cash dividends declared per share (Cdn$):       
Class A Shares (Multiple Voting)   0.090000   0.090000   0.180000 
Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting)   0.091600   0.091600   0.181563 
Series 2 Preferred Shares   0.997810   1.169296   1.193750 
Series 3 Preferred Shares   1.369000   1.369000   0.684500 
Series 4 Preferred Shares   1.562500   1.562500   1.398760 

Total assets - Bombardier   15,886   15,385  13,580 
Total assets - BC   4,704   5,338  6,356 
Financial liabilities:       

Short-term borrowings - Bombardier   -   -  249 
Short-term borrowings - BC    300   232  1,428 
Long-term debt - Bombardier   3,128   2,097  2,027 
Long-term debt - BC    3,776   3,991  3,811 

 
The following table provides authorized and issued share data as at January 31, 2005. 
 

 Authorized Issued 
Class A Shares (Multiple Voting)(1) 1,892,000,000 342,000,010 
Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting)(2) 1,892,000,000 1,408,466,958 
Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 12,000,000 2,597,907 
Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 12,000,000 9,402,093 
Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 9,400,000 9,400,000 

(1) 10 votes each, convertible at the option of the holder into one Class B Share (Subordinate Voting). 
(2) Convertible at the option of the holder into one Class A Share (Multiple Voting) under certain conditions (see note 12 – Share capital to the 
 Consolidated Financial Statements). 
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The following table provides share option data as at January 31, 2005. 
 

Options issued and outstanding under share option plans as at February 28, 2005  52,659,790 
 
The table containing the quarterly information is shown at the end of this MD&A. 
 
 
 
March 30, 2005 
 
Bombardier, Bombardier Global 5000, Challenger, Challenger 300, Challenger 604, Challenger 800, CITYFLO, CRJ, CRJ200, CRJ700, 
CRJ705, CRJ900, CSeries, EBI, Electrostar, FLEXITY, Flexjet, Global, Global Express, Global Express XRS, Learjet, Learjet 31A, Learjet 40, 
Learjet 40 XR, Learjet 45, Learjet 45 XR, Learjet XR, Learjet 60, Mitrac, Q200, Q300, Q400, Q-Series, Skyjet, Smart Parts and TRAXX are 
trademarks of Bombardier Inc. or its subsidiaries. 
 
Additional information relating to Bombardier, including the Corporation’s Annual Information Form, can be found 
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or on Bombardier’s Web site at www.bombardier.com. 
 
 



BOMBARDIER INC.
QUARTERLY DATA
(unaudited)
For the fiscal years ended January 31
(millions of US dollars, except per share amounts)

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
FIRST FIRST SECOND SECOND THIRD THIRD FOURTH FOURTH

TOTAL TOTAL QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER
Segmented revenues
  Aerospace(1) 7,944$                8,243$                1,759$                1,608$                1,952$                2,052$                1,626$                1,721$                2,607$                2,862$                
  Transportation 7,584                  6,954                1,689                1,639                1,847                 1,687                 1,929                1,692                2,119                1,936                 
  BC 426                     493                   108                   146                   107                    127                    106                   106                   105                   114                    
  Intersegment revenues (115)                    (182)                  (28)                    (61)                    (30)                     (48)                     (27)                    (36)                    (30)                    (37)                     
External revenues 15,839                15,508              3,528                3,332                3,876                 3,818                 3,634                3,483                4,801                4,875                 
Income (loss) from continuing operations before
   special items, interest and income taxes
  Aerospace(1) 190                     390                     27                       52                       42                       93                       43                       93                       78                       152                     
  Transportation(2) 33                       39                       (115)                    63                       43                       66                       44                       55                       61                       (145)                    
  BC(3) 29                       53                       10                       16                       10                       14                       10                       10                       (1)                        13                       
  Intersegment interest (28)                      (12)                    (5)                      -                       (7)                       -                        (7)                      (1)                      (9)                      (11)                     

224                     470                   (83)                    131                   88                      173                    90                     157                   129                   9                        
Special items
  Aerospace -                         (19)                    -                       9                       -                        28                      -                       (69)                    -                       13                      
  Transportation 172                     349                   86                     -                       5                        -                        43                     -                       38                     349                    

172                     330                   86                     9                       5                        28                      43                     (69)                    38                     362                    
Income (loss) from continuing operations before
   interest and income taxes(4)

  Aerospace 190                     409                   27                     43                     42                      65                      43                     162                   78                     139                    
  Transportation (139)                    (310)                  (201)                  63                     38                      66                      1                       55                     23                     (494)                   
  BC 29                       53                     10                     16                     10                      14                      10                     10                     (1)                      13                      
  Intersegment interest (28)                      (12)                    (5)                      -                       (7)                       -                        (7)                      (1)                      (9)                      (11)                     

52                       140                   (169)                  122                   83                      145                    47                     226                   91                     (353)                   
Interest expense, net 153                     159                   40                     38                     39                      37                      38                     37                     36                     47                      
Income tax expense (recovery) (16)                      147                   (35)                    29                     21                      38                      (1)                      65                     (1)                      15                      
Income (loss) from continuing operations (85)                      (166)                  (174)                  55                     23                      70                      10                     124                   56                     (415)                   
Income (loss) from discontinued operations - net of tax -                         81                     -                       (1)                      -                        (2)                       -                       9                       -                       75                      
Net income (loss) (85)$                    (85)$                    (174)$                  54$                     23$                     68$                     10$                     133$                   56$                     (340)$                  

Earnings (loss) per share:
  Basic and diluted
     From continuing operations (0.06)$                 (0.11)$                (0.10)$                0.03$                 0.01$                  0.04$                 -$                   0.07$                 0.03$                 (0.24)$                 
     Net income (loss) (0.06)$                 (0.07)$                (0.10)$                0.03$                 0.01$                  0.04$                 -$                   0.07$                 0.03$                 (0.20)$                 
Dividend - Class A Shares (in Cdn dollars) 0.090000            0.090000 0.022500 0.022500 0.022500 0.022500 0.022500 0.022500 0.022500 0.022500
Dividend - Class B Shares (in Cdn dollars) 0.091600 0.091600 0.022900 0.022900 0.022900 0.022900 0.022900 0.022900 0.022900 0.022900
Market price range of Class B Shares (Cdn dollars)
  High 7.13$                  6.28$                 7.13$                 5.54$                 6.24$                  5.49$                 3.40$                 6.28$                 2.89$                 6.00$                  
  Low 1.87$                  2.56$                 5.67$                 2.56$                 3.29$                  3.38$                 2.55$                 4.80$                 1.87$                 4.83$                  

(1)  Historically, Bombardier Aerospace has higher aircraft deliveries during the fourth quarter compared to the first three quarters of its fiscal year, generating higher revenues and margins.
(2)  Bombardier Transportation's results for the first quarter of fiscal year 2005 and the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 were negatively impacted by contract adjustments 
     related to revisions of estimates for the completion of certain contracts.  In addition, results for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 were negatively impacted by a charge 
     related to the settlement of all outstanding claims in connection with the Acela high speed trainset contracts.
(3)  BC's results for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 were negatively impacted by the payment of $19 million in connection with the repurchase of call options related to 
     the Putable/Callable notes due in 2013 as a result of the downgrades in the Corporation's credit ratings in November 2004.
(4)  As of the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, net Corporate interest costs are no longer allocated to the manufacturing segments and management now assesses the 
     performance of the manufacturing segments based on earnings (loss) before net interest and income taxes.  Comparative figures have been reclassified.

64



 

  65 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Bombardier Inc. and all the information in this Annual 
Report are the responsibility of Management and have been reviewed and approved by its Board of Directors. 
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared by Management in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles. The financial statements include some amounts that are based on best 
estimates and judgments.  Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure 
that the financial statements are presented fairly in all material respects. Financial information presented 
elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with that in the Consolidated Financial Statements.   
 
Bombardier Inc.’s policy is to maintain systems of internal accounting and administrative and disclosure controls 
of high quality, consistent with reasonable cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
the financial information is relevant, accurate and reliable and that the Corporation’s assets are appropriately 
accounted for and adequately safeguarded. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that Management fulfills its responsibilities for financial 
reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the Consolidated Financial Statements. The 
Board of Directors carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee. 
 
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and is comprised entirely of outside directors. The 
Audit Committee meets periodically with Management, as well as with the internal and external auditors, to 
discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues, to 
satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities and to review the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the external auditors’ report. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for 
its consideration when it approves the Consolidated Financial Statements for issuance to shareholders.  
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. The external 
auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee. 
 
 
 
(Signed by) 
 
Pierre Alary, CA 
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer 
March 30, 2005 
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AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BOMBARDIER INC. 
 
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Bombardier Inc. as at January 31, 2005 and 2004 and the 
consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
 
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Corporation as at January 31, 2005 and 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
 
 
(Signed by) 
 
Ernst & Young LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Montréal, Canada 
March 4, 2005 
 



BOMBARDIER INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS AT JANUARY 31
(MILLIONS OF U.S. DOLLARS)

Bombardier Inc.
consolidated Bombardier BC

Notes 2005          2004 2005          2004 2005          2004
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,355$       1,221$       2,291$       1,210$       64$            11$            
Receivables 2 1,622         1,838         1,505         1,694         117            144            
Finance receivables 3 3,585         3,127         -               -               3,585         3,127         
Assets under operating leases and other 4 474            558            249            86              225            472            
Inventories 5 4,013         4,340         4,013         4,340         -               -               
Property, plant and equipment 6 3,414         3,550         3,322         3,460         92              90              
Goodwill 7 2,357         2,290         2,357         2,290         -               -               
Deferred income taxes 17 628            527            443            343            185            184            
Investment in BC / Advances and 

subordinated loans to Bombardier -               -               439            861            71              585            
Accrued benefit assets 23 353            375            353            375            -               -               
Other assets 8 1,279         1,451         914            726            365            725            

20,080$     19,277$     15,886$     15,385$     4,704$       5,338$       

Liabilities
Short-term borrowings 9 300$          232$          -$               -$               300$          232$          
Advances from BC -               -               71              135            -               -               
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10 7,281         6,785         7,098         6,535         183            250            
Advances and progress billings

in excess of related costs 5 2,359         2,686         2,359         2,686         -               -               
Deferred income taxes 17 41              104            37              100            4                4                
Long-term debt 11 6,904         6,088         3,128         2,097         3,776         3,991         
Accrued benefit liabilities 23 897            932            895            932            2                -               
Subordinated loans from BC -               -               -               450            -               -               

17,782       16,827       13,588       12,935       4,265         4,477         

Shareholders' equity (Investment in BC) 2,298         2,450         2,298         2,450         439            861            
20,080$     19,277$     15,886$     15,385$     4,704$       5,338$       

Commitments and contingencies 24
The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements and provide
information on the financial statement presentation.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

(Signed by) (Signed by)

LAURENT BEAUDOIN L. DENIS DESAUTELS
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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BOMBARDIER INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JANUARY 31
(MILLIONS OF U.S. DOLLARS)

Notes 2005
Number Number

(in thousands) Amount (in thousands) Amount
SHARE CAPITAL 12
Preferred shares

Series 2 2,598              51$         2,598              51$         
Series 3 9,402              148         9,402              148         
Series 4 9,400              148         9,400              148         

21,400          347       21,400            347
Common shares
Class A Shares (Multiple Voting)

Balance at beginning of year 342,018          31           342,020          31           
Converted to Class B (18)                 -             (2)                   -             
Balance at end of year 342,000          31           342,018          31           

Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting)
Balance at beginning of year 1,407,567       1,408      1,035,667       599         
Issuance of shares -                     -             370,000          807         
Issued under the share option plans 13 882                 3             1,898              2             
Converted from Class A 18                   -             2                     -             
Balance at end of year 1,408,467     1,411    1,407,567       1,408      

Balance at end of year - common shares 1,750,467       1,442      1,749,585       1,439      
Total - share capital 1,789    1,786      
CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
Balance at beginning of year 4             -             
Stock-based compensation 13 9             4             
Balance at end of year 13           4             
RETAINED EARNINGS
Balance at beginning of year 532         778         
Net loss (85)         (85)         
Dividends:

Preferred shares (23)         (23)         
Common shares (123)       (115)       

Share issue costs, net of tax 12 -           (23)         
Balance at end of year 301       532         
CUMULATIVE TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT 14 195       128         
Total - shareholders' equity 2,298$   2,450$    

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements
and provide information on the financial statement presentation.

2004
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BOMBARDIER INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JANUARY 31
(MILLIONS OF U.S. DOLLARS,
EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Bombardier Inc.
consolidated Bombardier BC

Notes 2005          2004          2005         2004        2005          2004        
Revenues

Manufacturing 11,508$     11,208$     11,508$    11,208$   -$              -$             
Services 2,386         2,319         2,386        2,319       -                -               
Financing 329            324            -                -               426            493          
Other 1,616         1,657         1,616        1,657       -                -               

15,839       15,508       15,510      15,184     426            493          
Cost of sales 13,989       13,370       13,797      13,278     261            249          
Selling, general and administrative 927            992            839           898          88              94            
Amortization 551            563            503           466          48              97            
Research and development 148            113            148           113          -              -               

Special items 15 172            330            172           330          -              -               
Income from BC -               -                 (20)            (32)           -              -               

15,787       15,368       15,439      15,053     397            440          
Income from continuing operations before interest expense, 

net and income taxes 52              140            71             131          29              53            
Interest expense, net 16 153            159            181           171          -              -               
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (101)           (19)             (110)          (40)           29              53            
Income tax expense (recovery) 17 (16)             147            (25)            126          9                21            
Income (loss) from continuing operations (85)             (166)           (85)            (166)         20              32            
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 18 -               81              -              81            -              -               
Net income (loss) (85)$           (85)$           (85)$          (85)$         20$            32$          

Loss per share: 19
   Basic and diluted

From continuing operations (0.06)$        (0.11)$        
Net loss (0.06)$        (0.07)$        

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements and provide
information on the financial statement presentation.
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BOMBARDIER INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JANUARY 31
(MILLIONS OF U.S. DOLLARS)

Bombardier Inc.
consolidated Bombardier BC

Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
Operating activities
Income (loss) from continuing operations (85)$         (166)$       (85)$         (166)$       20$          32$          
Non-cash items:

Amortization 551          563          503          466          48            97            
Income from BC -             -             (20)           (32)           -             -             
Provision for credit losses 3 26            59            -             -             26            59            
Deferred income taxes (101)         67            (98)           72            (3)             (5)             
Loss (gain) on disposals of property, plant and equipment (5)             5              (5)             5              -             -             
Stock-based compensation 13 9              3              9              3              -             -             
Special items 15 172          330          172          330          -             -             

Net changes in non-cash balances
related to operations 21 (100)         (1)             185          (1,174)      (30)           (66)           

Cash flows from operating activities 467          860          661          (496)         61            117          
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (307)         (300)         (304)         (297)         (3)             (3)             
Disposals of property, plant and equipment 31            129          31            113          -             16            
Disposals of assets held for sale 15 -             135          -             135          -             -             
Net variation in finance receivables (15)           556          -             -             (460)         1,475       
Additions to assets under operating leases - BC (15)           (11)           -             -             (28)           (224)         
Disposals of assets under operating leases - BC 33            22            -             -             236          555          
Settlement of the Adtranz claim 7 209          -             209          -             -             -             
Disposal of discontinued operations,

net of cash disposed 18 (31)           557          (31)           557          -             -             
Investment in BC / Advances and 

subordinated loans to Bombardier -             -             (73)           564          73            (564)         
Other 317          (425)         (75)           (118)         392          (307)         
Cash flows from investing activities 222          663          (243)         954          210          948          
Financing activities
Net variation in short-term borrowings 59            (1,513)      -             (287)         59            (1,226)      
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1,051       945          764          41            287          904          
Repayments of long-term debt (632)         (1,086)      (73)           (136)         (559)         (950)         
Issuance of shares, net of related costs 12,13 3              809          3              809          -             -             
Dividends paid (146)         (138)         (146)         (138)         -             -             
Cash flows from financing activities 335          (983)         548          289          (213)         (1,272)      
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 110          163          115          142          (5)             21            
Cash flows from continuing operations 1,134       703          1,081       889          53            (186)         
Cash flows from discontinued operations 18 -             (164)         -             (164)         -             -             
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,134       539          1,081       725          53            (186)         
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,221       682          1,210       485          11            197          
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,355$     1,221$     2,291$     1,210$     64$          11$          

Supplemental information
Cash paid for:
   Interest 380$        405$        207$        228$        201$        189$        
   Income taxes 19$          60$          9$            49$          10$          11$          

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements and provide
information on the financial statement presentation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004 
 
 
Bombardier Inc. ("the Corporation") is incorporated under the laws of Canada. It is a manufacturer of 
transportation equipment, including business and regional aircraft and rail transportation equipment. It also 
provides financial services and asset management in business areas aligned with its core expertise.  
 
Basis of presentation 
 
Effective February 1, 2004, the Corporation changed its functional currencies from the Canadian dollar and the 
sterling pound to the U.S. dollar for the Canadian and U.K. operations in the aerospace segment, and from the 
Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso to the U.S. dollar for the Canadian and Mexican operations in the 
transportation segment. The European operations of the transportation segment continue to use mainly western 
European currencies as their functional currencies. No gains or losses resulted from the change of functional 
currencies. This change was made as a result of the increasing proportion of the Corporation's revenues, costs, 
intercompany arrangements, capital expenditures and long-term debt denominated in U.S. dollars. 
 
Following the change of certain functional currencies to the U.S. dollar, effective the first quarter of fiscal year 
2005, the Corporation changed its reporting currency to the U.S. dollar. Comparative financial information 
previously expressed in Canadian dollars is now presented in U.S. dollars for all periods shown, using the 
exchange rate applicable at the balance sheet date for assets and liabilities, and the average exchange rate of 
the corresponding periods for the consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements of cash flows 
items. Equity transactions have been translated at historical rates for the last five fiscal years with opening equity 
on February 1, 1999, translated at the exchange rate on that date. The net adjustment arising from the effect of 
the translation has been included in the cumulative translation adjustment account in shareholders’ equity. 
 
Bombardier Inc. and its subsidiaries carry out their operations in three distinct segments, each one characterized 
by a specific operating cycle; therefore, the consolidated balance sheets are unclassified. Financial services and 
real estate activities, being distinct from Bombardier’s other activities, are shown in a separate column, 
Bombardier Capital ("BC"), in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
The following describes the columns shown in these financial statements. 
 

Bombardier Inc. 
consolidated Bombardier BC 
Represents all of the 
activities of the Corporation 
on a consolidated basis, after 
the elimination of balances 
and transactions between 
Bombardier and BC.  

Represents the activities of the Corporation’s two 
manufacturing segments (aerospace and 
transportation). 
 
Transactions and balances between these segments 
have been eliminated, whereas related party 
transactions and balances between Bombardier and 
BC have not been eliminated. 
 
Bombardier’s investment in BC is accounted for 
under the equity method and comprises BC’s equity 
and the subordinated debt of Bombardier in BC.  
 
Bombardier’s former recreational products segment, 
which was sold on December 18, 2003, is presented 
as discontinued operations. 

Represents the financial services 
and real estate activities of the 
Corporation. 
 
Transactions and balances within 
BC have been eliminated, 
whereas related party 
transactions and balances 
between BC and Bombardier 
have not been eliminated. 
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I BOMBARDIER INC. CONSOLIDATED 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Bombardier Inc. and its subsidiaries, 
substantially all of which are wholly owned. Effective November 1, 2004, the Consolidated Financial Statements 
also include the accounts of variable interest entities ("VIEs") when the Corporation is the primary beneficiary 
(see note 1 – Changes in accounting policies). The Consolidated Financial Statements also include the 
Corporation’s proportionate share of its joint ventures.  
 
The principal subsidiaries of the Corporation included in the Consolidated Financial Statements are as follows: 
 

Subsidiary Location 
Aerospace  

Learjet Inc. U.S.A. 
Short Brothers PLC U.K. 

Transportation   
Bombardier Transportation (Holdings) UK Ltd. U.K. 
Bombardier Transportation GmbH Germany 
Bombardier Transportation (Bahntechnologie) 
 Germany GmbH & Co. KG Germany 

BC   
Bombardier Capital Inc. U.S.A. 
Bombardier Capital Ltd. Canada 

 
Most legal entities of the transportation segment use a December-31 fiscal year end. As a result, the Corporation 
consolidates the operations of the transportation segment with a one-month lag with the remainder of its 
operations. To the extent that significant transactions or events occur during the one-month lag period, they are 
accounted for within the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements.  
 
Statements of cash flows reclassification 
 
Effective the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Corporation changed on the consolidated statements of cash 
flows the classification of transactions between the manufacturing and BC segments, related to the financing of 
receivables and inventory. The effect of the change was to eliminate from the consolidated cash flows the effect 
of these transactions until cash is received from external customers. This change only impacted the Bombardier 
Inc. consolidated column and had no impact on the Bombardier and BC columns. These transactions are 
presented as cash inflows from operating activities in the manufacturing segments and as a use of cash flows 
from investing activities in the BC segment when the transactions occur. As a result of this change, consolidated 
cash flows from operating activities decreased by $255 million for fiscal year 2005 and increased by 
$1,239 million for fiscal year 2004, with a corresponding increase and decrease for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 
respectively in consolidated cash flows from investing activities.  
 
Use of estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
("GAAP") requires Management to make estimates and assumptions, particularly as they relate to accounting for 
long-term contracts, aerospace programs, sales incentives including credit and residual value guarantees offered 
in the aerospace segment, and employee future benefits. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates, and such differences could be material. 
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Translation of foreign currencies 
 
Foreign operations are classified as self-sustaining or integrated. All significant foreign operations are classified 
as self-sustaining operations. 
 
Self-sustaining foreign operations – All assets and liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at 
year end. Revenues and expenses are translated using the average exchange rates for the period. The resulting 
net translation gains or losses are included in cumulative translation adjustment in the consolidated statements of 
shareholders’ equity. 
 
Integrated foreign operations and accounts in foreign currencies – Accounts are translated using the 
temporal method. Under this method, monetary balance sheet items are translated using the exchange rates in 
effect at year end and non-monetary items are translated using the historical exchange rates. Revenues and 
expenses (other than amortization, which is translated using the same exchange rates as the related assets) are 
translated using the average exchange rates for the period. Translation gains or losses are included in the 
consolidated statements of income, except those related to the long-term debt designated as a hedge of the 
Corporation’s net investment in self-sustaining foreign operations, which are included in cumulative translation 
adjustment in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments held with investment grade financial 
institutions, with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
 
Long-lived assets 
 
Long-lived assets comprise assets under operating leases and other, property, plant and equipment, and 
depreciable intangible assets. 
 
Long-lived assets held for use are reviewed for impairment when certain events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. The recoverability test is performed using 
undiscounted future net cash flows that are directly associated with the asset’s use and eventual disposition. The 
amount of the impairment, if any, is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of 
the impaired assets and is recorded in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Long-lived assets held for sale are stated at the lower of cost or fair value. 
 
Assets under operating leases and other – Assets under operating leases and other, comprised mainly of pre-
owned aircraft and aircraft under fractional ownership programs, are recorded at cost. Amortization is computed 
under the straight-line method over periods representing their estimated useful lives.  
 
Property, plant and equipment – Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. In addition, equipment 
leases where the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Corporation are included in property, plant 
and equipment. Costs related to aerospace programs incurred once technical feasibility is proven and program 
launch takes place, including prototype design, development and testing, are accounted for as aerospace 
program tooling. Aerospace program tooling is mostly comprised of engineering labour and manufacturing 
overhead costs, testing and certification costs and purchased tooling. Self-constructed aerospace program tooling 
includes interest charges incurred during construction. 
 
Amortization is computed under the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:  
 
Buildings  10 to 40 years
Equipment 2 to 15 years
Aerospace program tooling 10 years
Other 3 to 20 years
 
Amortization of assets under construction begins when they are ready for their intended use. Amortization of 
aerospace program tooling costs begins at the date of delivery of the first aircraft of the program. 
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Improvements to existing property, plant and equipment that significantly extend the useful life or utility of the 
asset are capitalized, while maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense when incurred. 
 
Definite life intangible assets – Definite life intangible assets represent the cost of acquired licenses, patents 
and trademarks and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, not exceeding 
20 years.  
 
Long-term investments 
 
Investments in entities when the Corporation exercises significant influence are accounted for under the equity 
method. Other long-term investments are carried at cost. When the cost exceeds the fair value and the decline in 
fair value is other than temporary, the long-term investments are written-down to their fair value. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
In accordance with its risk management strategy, the Corporation uses derivative financial instruments to manage 
its foreign currency and interest rate exposures. The derivative financial instruments consist mainly of forward 
foreign exchange contracts, interest-rate swap agreements and cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements. 
The Corporation does not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. 
 
Forward foreign exchange contracts – The Corporation uses forward foreign exchange contracts to manage 
foreign currency exposure arising from forecasted foreign currency cash flows. The Corporation also uses forward 
foreign exchange contracts to manage currency exposures arising from third-party loans and intercompany loans 
and receivables. 
 
Unrealized gains or losses on forward foreign exchange contracts designated and effective as hedges of 
forecasted foreign currency cash flows are not recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements until the 
anticipated transactions occur. Unrealized gains or losses on forward foreign exchange contracts used to manage 
currency exposure arising from third-party loans and intercompany loans and receivables are immediately 
recognized to income offsetting unrealized gains or losses arising from foreign currency fluctuations on loans and 
receivables. 
 
Gains and losses related to derivative financial instruments, which have been settled prior to maturity, are 
deferred and included in other assets or accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheets. If the underlying forecasted foreign currency cash flows are still probable of occurring, these gains and 
losses are recognized to income as an adjustment to the related revenues or costs, in the same period in which 
the related hedged transaction is recognized. Otherwise, these gains and losses are recognized immediately to 
income. 
 
Interest-rate swap agreements – Bombardier enters into interest-rate swap agreements in order to achieve an 
appropriate mix of fixed and variable interest rate debt. In addition, Bombardier also enters into interest-rate swap 
agreements to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on financial commitments and intercompany loans. 
BC enters into interest-rate swap agreements to convert certain long-term debt and finance receivables from fixed 
to variable interest rates. BC also enters into basis swap agreements in order to align the base interest of certain 
finance receivables to the base interest rate of long-term debt. Swap agreements involve the exchange of interest 
payment obligations based on a predetermined notional amount for a specified period of time. 
 
These swaps are accounted for using the accrual method. Under this method, unrealized gains or losses are not 
recognized and net payments due or receivable on the derivative financial instruments are accounted for as an 
adjustment to interest expense in the consolidated statements of income. Gains and losses related to ineffective 
swaps are recognized to income. 
 
Cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements – BC enters into cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements 
to manage the foreign currency exposures on its long-term debt and intercompany receivables, and to modify the 
interest rate characteristics of long-term debt and certain finance receivables from fixed to variable interest rates. 
These swap agreements involve the exchange of fixed and floating interest payment obligations as well as 
principal amounts in two different currencies. Gain and losses related to these derivative financial instruments are 
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accounted for on the same basis as the above-described accounting rules for forward foreign exchange contracts 
and interest-rate swap agreements. 
 
Hedge accounting – Designation as a hedge is only allowed if, both at the inception of the hedge and throughout 
the hedge period, the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the derivative instrument are expected to 
substantially offset the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the underlying 
risk exposure. 
 
The Corporation formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as 
its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes 
linking all derivatives to forecasted foreign currency cash flows or to specific assets and liabilities. The 
Corporation also formally documents and assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, 
whether the derivative financial instruments that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. 
 
A hedging relationship is terminated if the hedge ceases to be effective and any unrealized gain or loss on such 
derivative financial instrument is recognized to income and subsequent changes in the fair value of the derivative 
financial instruments are recognized to income. 
 
Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share are computed based on net income less dividends on preferred shares, net of tax, 
divided by the weighted-average number of Class A Shares (Multiple Voting) and Class B Shares (Subordinate 
Voting) outstanding during the fiscal year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share are computed using the treasury stock method, giving effect to the exercise of all 
dilutive elements. 
 
Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments 
 
All awards granted or modified after January 31, 2003, are accounted for under the fair value method. Under this 
method, the value of the compensation is measured at the grant date using an option pricing model. The value of 
the compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period of the stock options with a corresponding 
increase to contributed surplus in shareholders' equity. 
 
All awards granted or modified prior to February 1, 2003, are accounted for as capital transactions. No 
compensation expense is recorded in the consolidated statements of income for these awards. However, pro 
forma net income and earnings per share including awards granted in fiscal year 2003 are disclosed using the fair 
value method. 
 
Any consideration paid by plan participants on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital. 
 
The Corporation’s contributions to the employee share purchase plan are accounted for in the same manner as 
the related employee payroll costs. 
 
Income taxes 
 
The Corporation applies the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using substantively enacted tax rates, which will be in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to 
reverse. 
 
A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets, when it is more 
likely than not that such assets will not be realized. 
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Employee future benefits 
 
The defined benefit plans are accounted for as follows: 
• Plan assets are measured at fair value. 
• The Corporation uses a market-related valuation of assets that recognizes the effect of investment gains or 

losses over a three-year period from the year in which they occur for purposes of measuring pension cost. 
• The net actuarial gains and losses, based on the market-related value of plan assets, over 10% of the greater 

of the projected benefit obligation and the market-related value of plan assets as well as prior service costs 
are amortized to income over the estimated weighted-average remaining service life of plan participants of 
approximately 16 years. 

• Plan obligations are determined based on expected future benefit payments discounted using current market 
interest rates. 

• When an event, such as the sale of a segment, gives rise to both a curtailment and a settlement, the 
curtailment is accounted for prior to the settlement. A curtailment is the loss by employees of the right to earn 
future benefits under the plan. A settlement is the discharge of a plan’s obligation. 

• The cost of pension and other benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected 
benefit method prorated on services, and Management’s best estimate of expected plan investment 
performance, salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and health care costs. 

• Pension cost is capitalized as part of labour costs and included in inventories and aerospace program tooling 
or is recognized directly to income. 

• The Corporation uses a December-31 measurement date. 
 
Securitization transactions 
 
Transfers of loans and receivables in securitization transactions are recognized as sales when control over these 
assets has been surrendered, and consideration other than beneficial interests in the transferred assets was 
received. Assets retained may include interest-only strips, subordinated tranches of securities, servicing rights, 
over-collateralization amounts, cash reserve accounts, transferors’ interests and other residual interests, all of 
which are included in receivables for Bombardier, and in finance receivables for BC.  
 
When the transfer is considered a sale, all assets sold are derecognized, assets received and the liabilities 
incurred, such as those arising from credit enhancement support, are recognized at fair value. Gains and losses 
are recognized upon the sale of assets. The carrying amount is allocated between the assets sold and the 
retained interests based on their relative fair values as at the date of transfer. Fair values are generally estimated 
based on the present value of future expected cash flows using Management’s best estimates for credit losses, 
forward yield curves, and discount rates commensurate with the risks involved. 
 
Retained interests are accounted for as loans, lease receivables or investments in accordance with their 
substance. When the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the retained interests accounted for as investments, 
and the decline in fair value is other than temporary, the retained interest is written down to its fair value. Other 
retained interests are accounted for in accordance with applicable accounting policies for similar asset 
classifications. 
 
Allowance for credit losses 
 
Finance receivables, trade receivables and loans are classified as impaired when, in the opinion of Management, 
there is reasonable doubt as to the ultimate collectibility of a portion of principal and interest. 
 
The Corporation maintains an allowance for credit losses in an amount sufficient to provide adequate protection 
against losses. The level of allowance is based on Management’s assessment of the risks associated with each 
of the Corporation’s portfolios, including loss and recovery experience, industry performance and the impact of 
current and projected economic conditions. 
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Environmental obligations 
 
Environmental liabilities are recorded when environmental claims or remedial efforts are probable, and the costs 
can be reasonably estimated. Environmental expenditures that relate to current operations are expensed or 
capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations, and which 
do not contribute to future revenue generation, are expensed.  
 
 
II BOMBARDIER 
 
Inventory valuation 
 
Aerospace programs – Inventory, determined under the average cost accounting method, is recorded at the 
lower of cost or net recoverable value. It includes raw materials, direct labour and manufacturing overhead. 
 
Average cost accounting is a method of accounting that reflects the economic reality of higher unit production 
costs at the early phase of a program and lower unit production costs at the end of the program (learning curve 
concept). The difference between actual and average costs in the early stage of a program is recorded as excess-
over-average production costs ("EOAPC") and is included in inventories. 
 
To the extent that inventory costs are expected to exceed their recoverable amount, charges are made to current 
period income to reduce inventoried costs to their estimated net recoverable value. 
 
Long-term contracts – Long-term contract inventory accounted for under the percentage-of-completion method 
includes raw materials, direct labour and manufacturing overhead as well as estimated contract margins. 
Inventory related to long-term service contracts accounted for under the straight-line method includes raw 
materials, direct labour and manufacturing overhead. 
 
Other inventories – Finished product inventories, other than those included in long-term contracts and 
aerospace programs, are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The cost of finished products 
includes the cost of raw materials, direct labour and related manufacturing overhead. 
 
Pre-owned aircraft available for sale are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The Corporation 
estimates net realizable value by using third-party appraisals of aircraft value and by reviewing current and future 
market conditions, including information developed from the sale of similar aircraft in the secondary market.  
 
Advances and progress billings – Advances received and progress billings on long-term contracts and 
aerospace programs are deducted from related costs in inventories. Advances and progress billings in excess of 
related costs are shown as liabilities. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price, including acquisition costs, over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired. 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or circumstances, such as significant 
declines in expected cash flows, indicate that it is more likely than not that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill 
is considered to be impaired when the carrying value of a reporting unit, including the allocated goodwill, exceeds 
its fair value. Goodwill impairment is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit's 
allocated goodwill over the implied fair value of the goodwill, based on the fair value of the assets and liabilities of 
the reporting unit. 
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Revenue recognition  
 
Aerospace programs – Revenues from the sale of commercial aircraft and narrow-body business aircraft 
(Learjet) are recognized upon final delivery of products and presented in manufacturing revenues. 
 
Wide-body business aircraft (Challenger 300, Challenger 604, Global Express and Bombardier Global 5000) 
contracts are segmented between green aircraft (i.e. before interiors and optional avionics are installed) and 
completion of interiors. Revenues are recognized based on green aircraft deliveries when certain conditions are 
met, and upon final acceptance of interiors and optional avionics by customers and presented in manufacturing 
revenues. 
 
Fractional shares – Effective February 1, 2004, revenues from the sale of aircraft fractional shares are 
recognized over the period during which the related services are rendered to the customer and included in 
manufacturing revenues. Other revenues from the fractional share ownership program are presented in services 
revenues. At the time of sale, the proceeds from the sale are recorded as deferred revenues and presented in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The carrying value of the related 
aircraft is transferred to assets under operating leases and other and is amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
expected average useful life of the aircraft.  
 
Long-term contracts – Revenues from long-term contracts related to designing, engineering or manufacturing of 
products, including vehicle and component overhaul, are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method 
of accounting consistent with Statement of Position 81-1 "Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and 
Certain Production-Type Contracts" ("SOP 81-1") published by the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. The percentage of completion is generally determined by comparing the actual costs incurred to the 
total costs anticipated for the entire contract, excluding costs that are not representative for the measure of 
performance. These revenues are presented in manufacturing revenues, except for vehicle and component 
overhaul revenues, which are presented in services revenues. 
 
Revenues from maintenance service contracts entered into on or after December 17, 2003 are recognized in 
proportion to the total costs originally anticipated to be incurred at the beginning of the contract (the expected cost 
method) and presented in services revenues. These arrangements were previously recognized using the 
percentage-of-completion method of accounting. 
 
Revenues from other long-term service contracts are generally recognized using the straight-line method and 
presented in services revenues. 
 
Estimated revenues from long-term contracts include revenues from change orders and claims when it is 
probable that they will result in additional revenues in an amount that can be reliably estimated. 
 
Other – Revenues from the sale of other products, mainly pre-owned aircraft and spare parts are recognized 
upon delivery. Pre-owned aircraft revenues are presented in other revenues and spare parts revenues are 
included in services revenues. 
 
Cost of sales 
 
Aerospace programs – Average unit cost for commercial and business aircraft is determined based on the 
estimated total production costs for a predetermined program quantity. The average unit cost is recorded to cost 
of sales at the time of each aircraft delivery. Under the learning curve concept, which anticipates a decrease in 
costs as tasks and production techniques become more efficient through repetition and management action, 
EOAPC during the early stages of a program are deferred in inventories and recovered from sales of aircraft to be 
produced later at lower-than-average costs. Estimates of total production costs and of program quantities are an 
integral component of average cost accounting. Program quantities are established based on Management's 
assessment of market conditions and foreseeable demand at the beginning of the production stage for each 
program, taking into consideration, among other factors, existing firm orders and options. 
 
Management conducts quarterly reviews as well as a detailed annual review in the fourth quarter, as part of its 
annual budget process, of its cost estimates and program quantities. The effect of any revisions is accounted for 
by way of a cumulative catch-up adjustment to income in the period in which the revision takes place. 
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Long-term contracts – Cost of sales for long-term contracts is established based on actual costs incurred, 
including raw materials, direct labour, manufacturing overhead costs and other costs such as warranty and freight 
costs. If a contract review indicates a negative gross margin, the entire expected loss on the contract is 
recognized in the period in which the negative gross margin is identified. 
 
Management conducts quarterly reviews as well as a detailed annual review in the fourth quarter, as part of its 
annual budget process, of its cost estimates. The effect of any average unit cost revision is accounted for by way 
of a cumulative catch-up adjustment to income in the period in which the revision takes place. 
 
Sales incentives 
 
In connection with the sale of new aircraft, the Corporation provides sales incentives in the form of credit 
guarantees, residual value guarantees ("RVGs") and trade-in options to customers. A provision for sales 
incentives is recorded at the time of sale. The provision relating to credit guarantees and RVGs is measured 
based on the expected net present value of net payments to be made under the guarantees. The provision 
relating to trade-in options is based on the anticipated losses. 
 
The Corporation determines expected future net payments or anticipated losses under the guarantees or trade-in 
options using, when available, third-party appraisals of expected aircraft value, expected default ratios based on 
external credit ratings of guaranteed parties, current and future market outlook, the age and condition of the 
aircraft, expected availability levels for the aircraft in the market and the likelihood that the trade-in options will be 
exercised. 
 
The provisions are reviewed quarterly and the effect of any revision is recognized in the period in which the 
revision takes place.  
 
Research and development 
 
Development costs are capitalized when certain criteria are met for deferral and their recovery is reasonably 
assured. Capitalized development costs related to aerospace programs are included in property, plant and 
equipment under aerospace program tooling. Research and development costs related to long-term contracts are 
recorded as inventory costs and charged to cost of sales under long-term contract accounting. Where permanent 
impairment occurs, such capitalized costs are written off.  
 
Research and development expenses presented in the consolidated statements of income exclude those incurred 
under long-term contracts and development costs capitalized to program tooling. 
 
Product warranties 
 
Warranty cost is recorded when revenue for the underlying product is recognized. The cost is estimated based on 
a number of factors, including the historical warranty claims and cost experience, the type and duration of 
warranty coverage, the nature of products sold and counter-warranty coverage available from the Corporation’s 
suppliers. 
 
The Corporation reviews quarterly its recorded product warranty provisions and any adjustment is recognized to 
income. Warranty expense is recorded as a component of cost of sales.  
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III BC 
 
Lease receivables 
 
Assets leased under terms that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership to customers are 
accounted for as direct financing leases. The lease receivable and net investment in unguaranteed residual 
values are included in finance receivables on the consolidated balance sheets. 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
Financing revenues – Financing revenues are accounted for as follows: 
• Interest income related to finance receivables is recognized on an accrual basis, computed on the average 

daily finance receivables outstanding balance. Accrual of interest income on finance receivables is suspended 
when the account becomes 90 days delinquent or may be suspended earlier if collection of an account 
becomes doubtful. 

• Lease income related to finance receivables is recognized over the terms of the applicable leases in a 
manner that produces a constant rate of return on the lease investment.  

• Operating lease income is recognized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis. 
 
Deferred origination costs 
 
The direct origination costs of finance receivables are amortized on a yield basis over the expected term of the 
finance receivables. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004 
 
(All amounts are in millions of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated.) 
 
 
1. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
a) Consolidation of variable interest entities 
 
On November 1, 2004, the Corporation adopted AcG-15 "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities" ("AcG-15") 
on a retroactive basis without restatement of prior periods. AcG-15 provides a framework for identifying variable 
interest entities ("VIEs") and determining when an entity should include the assets, liabilities and results of 
operations of a VIE in its consolidated financial statements. 
 
AcG-15 requires a VIE to be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the 
VIE (a variable interest holder) is exposed to a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE’s activities, is entitled to 
receive a majority of the VIE’s residual returns (if no party is exposed to a majority of the VIE’s losses), or both 
(the primary beneficiary). Upon consolidation, the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of the VIE’s 
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at fair value at the date the enterprise became the primary 
beneficiary. However, for variable interest entities created prior to the initial adoption of AcG-15, the assets, 
liabilities and non-controlling interest of these entities must be initially consolidated as if the entities were always 
consolidated based on majority voting interest. AcG-15 also requires disclosures about VIEs that the variable 
interest holder is not required to consolidate, but in which it has a significant variable interest. 
 
The effect of the adoption of AcG-15 on the Corporation's consolidated balance sheets, excluding the assets and 
liabilities of VIEs already included on the consolidated balance sheets under existing accounting rules, is as 
follows as at January 31, 2005: 
 

   Newly 
 consolidated 

 
 Reclassification 

 
Total 

Assets       
Inventories $ - $ 11 $ 11 
Property, plant and equipment  16  -  16 
Other assets(1)  139  -  139 
 $ 155 $ 11 $ 166 
Liabilities        
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities(2) $ 63 $ (36) $ 27 
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs  -  (107)  (107)
Long-term debt  92  154  246 
 $ 155 $ 11 $ 166 

(1) Comprised of lease receivables of $78 million and restricted cash of $61 million. 
(2) Includes $14 million of non-controlling interest. 
 
The effect of the adoption of AcG-15 on the Corporation's consolidated statements of income is not material. 
 
See note 25 – Variable interest entities, for additional information on VIEs. 
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b) Revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables 
 
On December 17, 2003, the Emerging Issues Committee ("EIC") issued EIC-142, "Revenue Arrangements with 
Multiple Deliverables." EIC-142 addresses certain aspects of the accounting by a vendor for arrangements under 
which multiple revenue-generating activities will be performed. The Corporation prospectively adopted these new 
rules effective February 1, 2004. As a result, revenues from the sale of aircraft fractional shares are now 
recognized to income over the period the related services are rendered to the customer, rather than at the time of 
transfer of title to the customer. At the time of sale, the proceeds from the sale are recorded as deferred revenues 
and included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and the carrying value of the related inventory is 
transferred to assets under operating leases and other and is amortized over the expected useful life of the asset. 
The adoption of these rules in the aerospace segment resulted in a reduction of manufacturing revenues of 
approximately $163 million for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2005, and had no material impact on net loss 
and loss per share for the same period. These rules had no material impact on the financial position and results of 
operations of the transportation segment. 
 
c) Hedging relationships and accounting for trading, speculative or non-hedging 

derivative financial instruments 
 
In December 2001, the Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Guideline "Hedging Relationships" 
("AcG-13"), as amended. In June 2002, EIC-128, "Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative 
Financial Instruments," was also issued. AcG-13 establishes the criteria for identification, designation, 
documentation and effectiveness of hedging relationships for the purpose of applying hedge accounting. EIC-128 
establishes that a freestanding derivative financial instrument that gives rise to a financial asset or financial 
liability and is entered into for trading or speculative purposes, or that does not qualify for hedge accounting under 
AcG-13, should be recognized on the balance sheet and measured at fair value, with changes in fair value 
recognized in income of the period. The Corporation adopted both AcG-13 and EIC-128 effective 
February 1, 2004. The adoption of these new recommendations had no material impact on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 
 
2. RECEIVABLES 
 
Receivables were as follows as at January 31: 
 

   2005   2004 
BOMBARDIER     
Trade receivables     

Aerospace      
U.S. dollars $ 436 $ 139 
Canadian dollars  11  32 
Other currencies  7  13 

Transportation      
Euros  245  416 
U.S. dollars  167  195 
Sterling pounds  166  155 
Various western European currencies  92  164 
Other currencies  90  90 

  1,214  1,204 
Retained interests  103  164 
Sales tax   90  100 
Claims (see note 24 – Commitments and contingencies)  -  187 
Other  172  113 
  1,579  1,768 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (74)  (74) 
  1,505  1,694 
BC  117  144 
 $ 1,622 $ 1,838 

 
The dollar denomination of trade receivables was attributed based on the invoicing currency. 
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As at January 31, 2005, the outstanding balance of the receivables transferred to securitization facilities 
amounted to $308 million ($298 million as at January 31, 2004), $205 million ($134 million as at 
January 31, 2004) of which were sold. The unsold portion of the receivables transferred is included in "retained 
interests" above. The retained interests provide credit enhancements for the receivables transferred. These 
receivables are not available to pay the Corporation’s creditors. The Corporation received proceeds of 
$1,253 million on the sale of trade receivables during fiscal year 2005 ($985 million during fiscal year 2004). 
 
 
3. FINANCE RECEIVABLES 
 
BC’s finance receivables, their weighted-average maturity and rate were as follows as at January 31: 
 

  2005  2004 
  

 Total

Weighted-
average 
maturity 

(months) 

Weighted-
average 
rate (%) 

 

 Total 

Weighted-
average 
maturity 

(months) 

Weighted-
average 
rate (%) 

Inventory finance(1) $ 2,069 5 8.8 $ 1,865 5 8.7 
Receivable financing(2)  59 2 6.6  63 2 5.2 
  2,128    1,928   
Commercial aircraft        

Interim financing  1,000 104 6.0  516 44 4.6 
Long-term leasing  66 68 5.3  75 68 5.7 

  1,066    591   
Total continued portfolios  3,194    2,519   
Wind-down portfolios(3) (4)  437 127 9.6  665 128 9.6 
  3,631    3,184   
Allowance for credit losses(5)  (46)    (57)   
 $ 3,585   $ 3,127   

(1) Includes $1,755 million securitized to third parties as at January 31, 2005 ($1,396 million as at January 31, 2004). 
(2) Represents financing provided to the acquirer of the Corporation's former recreational products segment ("BRP"), a related party (see 
 note 20 – Transactions with related parties).  
(3) Wind-down portfolios mainly include the manufactured housing, business aircraft and consumer finance portfolios. 
(4) During fiscal year 2004, the Corporation sold a significant portion of the business aircraft portfolio for $339 million, at the carrying value of 
 the assets sold. Payment of $42 million is conditional upon the performance of the portfolio sold. The conditional payment amount, net of 
 related provision, is presented in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. 
(5) Includes $31 million related to the wind-down portfolios as at January 31, 2005 ($28 million as at January 31, 2004). 
 
Commercial aircraft interim financing – Financing with four airlines represents approximately 79% of the total 
commercial aircraft interim financing portfolio as at January 31, 2005. The weighted-average maturity of the 
commercial aircraft interim financing portfolio is calculated based on existing agreements with the airlines. The 
Corporation expects to arrange permanent financing with third-parties within the next fiscal year. 
 
Geographic distribution – As at January 31, 2005, 79% of BC’s finance receivables originated in the U.S.A. and 
16% in Canada (85% and 12% respectively as at January 31, 2004).  
 
Allowance for credit losses – Changes in the allowance for credit losses were as follows as at January 31: 
 

   2005   2004 
Balance at beginning of year $ 57 $ 99 
Provision for credit losses  26  59 
Amounts charged off - net of recoveries  (37)  (102) 
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes  -  1 
Balance at end of year $ 46 $ 57 

 
Impaired finance receivables amounted to $36 million as at January 31, 2005, $26 million of which related to the 
wind-down portfolios ($76 million and $70 million respectively as at January 31, 2004). Repossessed assets 
amounted to $20 million as at January 31, 2005 ($37 million as at January 31, 2004). 
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Minimum receipts – Minimum receipts in connection with finance receivables for the next five fiscal years and 
thereafter are as follows: 
 

 Continued(1)  Wind-down(2)  
 

Receivables  Loans(3)
Lease 

receivables(3) Loans(3) 
Lease 

receivables(3) Total 
2006 $ 2,128 $ 292  $ 239 $ 67 $ 19 $ 2,745 
2007  -  148  45  42  21  256 
2008  -  25  36  26  12  99 
2009  -  24  33  23  10  90 
2010  -  26  33  23  20  102 
Thereafter  -  156  455  166  29  806 
Minimum receipts  2,128  671  841  347  111  4,098 
Unearned income  -  -  (477)  -  (22)  (499)
Unguaranteed residual value  -  -  31  -  1  32 
 $ 2,128 $ 671  $ 395 $ 347 $ 90 $ 3,631 

(1) Comprised of $1,928 million of receivables, $504 million of loans and $87 million of lease receivables as at January 31, 2004. 
(2) Comprised of $521 million of loans and $144 million of lease receivables as at January 31, 2004. 
(3)  The loans and lease receivables are generally collateralized by the related assets.   
 
Lease receivables – Lease receivables are mostly concentrated in the commercial aircraft and the business 
aircraft portfolios and consist of the following, before allowance for credit losses, as at January 31: 
 

  2005  2004
  Continued  Wind-down  Continued  Wind-down
Total minimum lease payments  $ 841  $ 111  $ 126  $ 171
Unearned income   (477)   (22)   (39)   (32)
Unguaranteed residual value   31   1   -   5
  $ 395  $ 90  $ 87  $ 144

 
Credit facilities – BC has provided certain of its third-party customers with credit facilities related to its inventory 
finance portfolio. These credit facilities are generally committed for periods not exceeding one year. The total 
committed and available portions of BC’s credit facilities were as follows as at January 31: 
 

  2005  2004
  Committed  Available  Committed  Available
Canadian facility(1)  $ 706  $ 371  $ 492  $ 185
U.S. facility  $ 2,838  $ 1,104  $ 2,572  $ 950

(1) Total committed and available portions are shown in U.S. dollar equivalent. 
 
Off-balance sheet securitizations and other transfers of receivables – In January 2005, BC established a 
364-day $1.5 billion financing facility with a third party whereby BC can sell certain commercial aircraft interim 
finance receivables to a special-purpose entity ("SPE"). The third-party investor has committed to fund 55% of the 
original finance receivables balance transferred to the SPE. As at January 31, 2005, BC had transferred 
$306 million of finance receivables to the SPE, in which it has retained a subordinated interest of $137 million and 
has provided limited credit enhancements. The retained interest portion is included in the commercial aircraft 
interim financing portfolio. In connection with this transaction, BC provides administrative services to the SPE in 
return for a market fee. This transaction had no significant impact on the consolidated statements of income.  
 
BC retained interests in certain finance receivables related to the consumer finance and manufactured housing 
portfolios sold to SPEs amounting to $25 million as at January 31, 2005 ($66 million as at January 31, 2004). 
These retained interests are included in the related finance receivable portfolios.  
 
BC is also servicing finance receivables sold to third parties, mostly related to its manufactured housing portfolio, 
amounting to $1,039 million as at January 31, 2005 ($1,238 million as at January 31, 2004). BC records fee 
income in connection with the retained servicing rights.  
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4. ASSETS UNDER OPERATING LEASES AND OTHER 
 
Assets under operating leases and other (aircraft under the fractional ownership program) were as follows as at 
January 31: 
 

    2005    2004 
  

Cost 
 Net book 

value 
 

Cost 
 Net book 

value 
BOMBARDIER         
 Aircraft under the fractional ownership program $ 145 $ 142 $ - $ - 
 Pre-owned aircraft  129  107  90  86 
  274  249  90  86 
BC         
 Continued portfolios  254  152  320  207 
 Wind-down portfolios  120  73  392  265 
  374  225  712  472 
 $ 648 $ 474 $ 802 $ 558 

 
Weighted-average maturity (in months) of the operating leases was as follows for fiscal years: 
 

  2005  2004 
BOMBARDIER  37  66 
BC  23  39 

 
Amortization of assets under operating leases and other, included in amortization in the consolidated statements 
of income, was as follows for fiscal years: 
 

  2005  2004 
BOMBARDIER $ 21 $ 4 
BC $ 43 $ 90 

 
BC also manages a portfolio of freight cars under operating leases whereby BC is the lessee/sub-lessor. The net 
present value of the minimum lease payments payable by BC pursuant to these operating lease arrangements 
was $602 million as at January 31, 2005 ($651 million as at January 31, 2004). BC’s undiscounted minimum 
lease payments related to this portfolio are included under sale and leaseback in note 24 – Commitments and 
contingencies. 
 
 
5. INVENTORIES 
 
Bombardier’s inventories were as follows as at January 31: 
 

  2005  2004 
Long-term contracts $ 1,663 $ 1,838 
Aerospace programs  1,616  1,714 
Finished products(1)  734  788 
 $ 4,013 $ 4,340 

(1) Finished products include three new aircraft, not associated with a firm order, amounting to $39 million and 11 pre-owned aircraft amounting 
to $56 million as at January 31, 2005 (four new aircraft amounting to $53 million and 23 pre-owned aircraft amounting to $161 million as at 
January 31, 2004). 
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Aerospace programs – Aerospace program inventories included the following excess-over-average production 
costs ("EOAPC") as at January 31: 
 

  2005(1)  2004 
Regional aircraft     
 CRJ Series $  83 $ 239 
 Q-Series   54  71 
Business aircraft     
 Learjet Series   254  275 
 Challenger 300   117  54 
 Global Series   411  406 
 $  919 $ 1,045 

(1) Excludes CRJ200 and Q200 aircraft, which had no EOAPC balance outstanding as at January 31, 2005. 
 
The EOAPC recoverable from existing firm orders amounted to $380 million as at January 31, 2005 ($332 million 
as at January 31, 2004). Management expects to recover the balance of EOAPC from future customer orders. 
 
Anticipated proceeds from future sales of aircraft for each program exceeded the related costs in inventories as at 
January 31, 2005 and 2004, plus the estimated additional production costs to be incurred for each program. 
However, substantial amounts of EOAPC may eventually be charged to costs of sales in a given year if fewer 
than the aircraft program quantity are sold, the proceeds from future sales of aircraft are lower than those 
anticipated, or the costs to be incurred to complete the programs exceed current estimates. 
 
Advances and progress billings – Under certain contracts, title to inventories is vested to the customer as the 
work is performed, in accordance with contractual arrangements and industry practice. In addition, in the normal 
course of business, the Corporation provides performance bonds, bank guarantees and other forms of 
guarantees to customers, mainly in the transportation segment, as security for advances received from customers 
pending performance under certain contracts. In accordance with industry practice, the Corporation remains liable 
to the purchasers for the usual contractor’s obligations relating to contract completion in accordance with 
predetermined specifications, timely delivery and product performance. 
 
Costs incurred and recorded margins related to long-term contracts and costs incurred related to ongoing 
aerospace programs amounted to $4,112 million and $2,216 million respectively as at January 31, 2005 
($4,161 million and $2,289 million respectively as at January 31, 2004). 
 
Advances received and progress billings on long-term contracts and ongoing aerospace programs amounted to 
$4,276 million and $1,132 million respectively as at January 31, 2005 ($4,407 million and $1,177 million 
respectively as at January 31, 2004), $1,827 million and $532 million of which respectively represent a liability 
disclosed as advances and progress billings in excess of related costs as at January 31, 2005 ($2,084 million and 
$602 million respectively as at January 31, 2004). 
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property, plant and equipment were as follows as at January 31: 
 
    2005    2004 
  

Cost 
 Net book 

value 
 

Cost 
 Net book 

value 
BOMBARDIER         
Land $ 115 $ 115 $  104 $ 104 
Buildings  1,746  927   1,641  968 
Equipment  1,386  590   1,296  568 
Aerospace program tooling         

Regional aircraft  1,189  502   1,127  527 
Business aircraft  1,778  1,036   1,714  1,129 

Other  159  152   180  164 
  6,373  3,322   6,062  3,460 
BC  130  92   123  90 
 $ 6,503 $ 3,414 $  6,185 $  3,550 

 
Included in the above table are assets under construction and development amounting to $32 million and 
$158 million respectively as at January 31, 2005 and 2004. Interest capitalized to assets under construction and 
development amounted to $2 million and $13 million respectively for fiscal years 2005 and 2004. 
 
Aerospace program tooling amortization expense amounted to $244 million for fiscal year 2005 ($195 million for 
fiscal year 2004).  
 
 
7. GOODWILL 
 
Goodwill is related to the DaimlerChrysler Rail Systems GmbH (“Adtranz”) acquisition in May 2001. Changes in 
the goodwill balance were as follows for fiscal years ended January 31: 
 
   2005   2004 
Balance at beginning of year $ 2,290 $ 2,122 
Purchase price adjustment  (25)  - 
Purchase equation adjustment related to a revision of the restructuring charge   -  (42) 
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses  (33)  (18) 
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes  125  228 
Balance at end of year $ 2,357 $ 2,290 

 

On September 28, 2004, the Corporation reached a settlement with DaimlerChrysler AG on all outstanding 
disputes arising from the acquisition of Adtranz, resulting in a payment to Bombardier of €170 million 
($209 million). In fiscal year 2002, the Corporation had recorded a purchase price adjustment of €150 million as a 
reduction of the goodwill in connection with these disputes. The additional €20 million ($25 million) have been 
recorded as a further reduction of goodwill.  
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8. OTHER ASSETS 
 
Other assets were as follows as at January 31: 
 

 2005 2004 
BOMBARDIER    
Loans and lease receivables(1)  $ 316  $ 217
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $64 million as at January 31, 2005 

($44 million as at January 31, 2004)   195   206
Prepaid expenses   129   133
Investments   99   69
Investment in companies subject to significant influence   73   33
Restricted cash(2)   64   11
Investment in preferred shares of BRP   30   30
Other   8   27
   914   726
BC   
Derivative financial instruments    211   224
Prepaid expenses   47   56
Deposits   27   44
Loan(3)   -   311
Other   80   90
   365   725
  $ 1,279  $ 1,451

(1) Includes $78 million of lease receivables related to consolidated variable interest entities as at January 31, 2005 (nil as at 
January 31, 2004). 

(2) Includes $61 million of restricted cash related to consolidated variable interest entities as at January 31, 2005 (nil as at January 31, 2004). 
(3) The loan was made in connection with a financing transaction entered into for term-debt management. 
 
 
9. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS 
 
Short-term borrowings were as follows as at January 31: 
 

  2005  2004 
BOMBARDIER $ - $ - 
BC  300  232 
 $ 300 $ 232 

 
Under banking syndicate agreements, Bombardier Inc. must maintain a certain financial ratio, a condition that was 
met as at January 31, 2005 and 2004. 
 
Bombardier 
 
Bombardier’s credit facilities and their rates and maturities, were as follows as at January 31, 2005: 
 

 
Amounts 

committed 
Amounts 

drawn 
Letters of 

credit drawn 
Amounts 
available 

Year-end 
rate 

Average 
rate for 

the year 

Maturity 
(fiscal 
year)

European  $ 4,753 $ -  $ 3,103 $ 1,650 - - 2006-2008
European letters of 
 credit   378  n/a   89   289 n/a n/a 2008-2009
North American   1,388  -   1,128   260 - - 2006
  $ 6,519 $ -  $ 4,320 $ 2,199    

n/a: not applicable. 
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• In November 2004, Bombardier entered into a €165-million three-year European letter of credit facility. 
• In September 2004, Bombardier renewed the 364-day portion of its North American credit facility. This portion 

of the facility, totalling $718 million Cdn, replaces the $730-million Cdn short-term portion of the North 
American credit facility. 

• In July 2004, Bombardier renewed the 364-day portion of its European credit facility. This portion of the 
facility, totalling €492 million, replaces the €560-million short-term portion of the European credit facility. 

• In July 2004, Bombardier entered into a €125-million four-year European letter of credit facility. 
 
Bombardier’s credit facilities and their rates and maturities were as follows as at January 31, 2004: 
 

 
Amounts 

committed 
Amounts 

drawn 
Letters of 

credit drawn 
Amounts 
available

Year-end 
rate 

Average 
rate for 

the year 

Maturity
(fiscal
year)

European $ 4,621 $ - $ 3,380 $ 1,241 - 2.5% 2005-2008
North American  1,304  -  958  346 - 3.9% 2005-2006
 $ 5,925 $ -  $ 4,338 $ 1,587   

 
• In September 2003, Bombardier renewed the 364-day portion of its North American credit facility. This portion 

of the facility, totalling $730 million Cdn, replaced the $750 million Cdn short-term portion of the North 
American credit facility. 

• In July 2003, Bombardier renewed the 364-day portion of its European credit facility. This portion of the 
facility, totalling €560 million, replaced the €600-million short-term portion of the European credit facility. 

 
In addition to the outstanding letters of credit shown in the above tables, Bombardier had bilateral facilities of 
$287 million as at January 31, 2005 ($592 million as at January 31, 2004).  
 
BC 
 
BC’s credit facilities and their rates and maturities were as follows as at January 31, 2005: 
 

 
Amounts 

committed 
Amounts 

drawn 
Amounts 
available 

Year-end 
rate 

Average 
rate for 

the year 

Maturity 
(fiscal 
year) 

Revolving lines $ 600 $ - $ 600 - 1.9% 2006 
Securitized floorplan 300 300 - 3.1% 2.2% 2006 
 $ 900 $ 300 $ 600    

 
• In October 2004, the short-term portion of the maturing Canadian securitized floorplan facility was replaced by 

a long-term facility (see note 11 – Long-term debt). 
 
BC’s credit facilities and their rates and maturities were as follows as at January 31, 2004: 
 

 
Amounts 

committed 
Amounts 
drawn(1) 

Amounts 
available 

Year-end 
rate 

Average 
rate for 

the year 

Maturity 
(fiscal 
year) 

Revolving lines $ 600 $ -  $ 600 - 1.8% 2006 
Securitized floorplan 397 232 165 2.0% 2.2% 2005 
 $ 997 $ 232  $ 765    

(1) The foreign currency component of the amounts drawn was $129 million Cdn. 
 
• In September 2003, BC did not renew two 364-day revolving credit facilities amounting to $400 million and 

$470 million Cdn ($347 million) respectively, consistent with the reduced cash flow requirements. 
• In March 2003, BC terminated a $50-million uncommitted bilateral bank facility. 
 
 



 

90 

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities were as follows as at January 31: 
 

  2005  2004 
BOMBARDIER     
Trade accounts payable $ 2,112 $ 1,848 
Accrued liabilities  1,277  1,346 
Sales incentives(1)  1,190  1,187 
Product warranties  1,055  932 
Payroll related liabilities  334  364 
Severance and other involuntary termination costs  229  179 
Deferred revenue - fractional ownership program  163  - 
Income and other taxes   120  49 
Interest  73  115 
Other   545  515 
  7,098  6,535 
BC  183  250 
 $ 7,281 $ 6,785 

(1) Comprised of provision for credit and residual value guarantees and trade-in options as well as other related provisions and liabilities in 
 connection with the sale of aircraft (see note 24 – Commitments and contingencies). 
 
Product warranties – Product warranties in the aerospace segment typically range from one to five years, except 
for structural warranties that extend up to 20 years. In the transportation segment, product warranties extend from 
one to five years.  
 
Changes in the product warranty provision were as follows for fiscal years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004: 
 

  Aerospace   Transportation   Total 
Balance as at January 31, 2003 $ 204 $ 626 $ 830 
Current expense  124  403  527 
Changes in estimates  77  (17)  60 
Cash paid   (170)  (416)  (586)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes   25  76  101 
Balance as at January 31, 2004  260  672  932 
Current expense  120    370  490 
Changes in estimates  27    29  56 
Cash paid   (150)    (304)  (454)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes   -    31  31 
Balance as at January 31, 2005 $ 257 $   798 $ 1,055 
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Severance and other involuntary termination costs – Changes in the provision for severance and other 
involuntary termination costs and other costs were as follows for fiscal years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004: 
 

   Severance and 
 other involuntary 
 termination costs 

 

 Other 

 

 Total 
Balance as at January 31, 2003 $ 97 $ 14 $ 111 
Current expense 217 188  405 
Changes in estimates (4) -  (4) 
Non-cash items - (164)  (164) 
Purchase equation adjustment (42) -  (42) 
Cash paid  (107) (5)  (112) 
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate 
 changes  18 4  22 
Balance as at January 31, 2004  179  37  216 
Current expense(1)  221  79  300 
Changes in estimates(1)  (44)  (46)  (90) 
Non-cash items  -  (37)  (37) 
Cash paid  (137)  (26)  (163) 
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate 
 changes 

 
10  -  10 

Balance as at January 31, 2005  $ 229 $ 7 $ 236 
(1) Of which $38 million have been recorded in costs of sales of the aerospace segment and $172 million in special items  
 of the transportation segment in the consolidated statements of income (see note 15 – Special items and other restructuring costs). 
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11. LONG-TERM DEBT  
 
Long-term debt was as follows as at January 31:  
 
       2005  2004

 

Amount in 
currency of 
origin (2004 

balance) Currency
Fixed / 

Variable 
Interest rate(1) 

(2004 rate) Maturity 

Payment  
of 

interest(2) Amount 

 
 
 

 Amount
BOMBARDIER        
Debentures  150 USD Fixed 6.58% Jan. 2006 SA $ 150 $ 150
 175 GBP Fixed 6.25% Feb. 2006 A  330  319
 150 CAD Fixed 6.40% Dec. 2006 SA  121  113
 500 EUR Fixed 5.75% Feb. 2008 A  653  623
 150 CAD Fixed 7.35% Dec. 2026 SA  121  113
Notes 34 (39) CAD Fixed 7.00% 2006-2012 A  27  29
 550 USD Fixed 6.75% May 2012 SA  550  550
 500 USD Fixed 6.30% May 2014 SA  500  -
 250 USD Fixed 7.45% May 2034 SA  250  -
Other(3) 94 USD Fix./Var. 5.54% (4.45%) 2006-2027 Various  94  94
 86 (106)(4) Various Fix./Var. 4.63% (3.82%) 2006-2018 Various  86  106
VIEs (see note 1) 246 USD Fixed 8.59% 2006-2013 Various  246  -
       3,128  2,097
BC        
Medium-term notes 300 USD Fixed 7.50% Aug. 2004 SA  -  300
 250 CAD Fixed 6.60% Nov. 2004 SA  -  189
 300 USD Variable  5.44% (10.24%) May 2005 M(6)  300  300
 200 USD Fixed 7.50% Oct. 2005 SA  200  200
 450 USD Fixed 6.13% Jun. 2006 SA  450  450
 200 CAD Fixed 6.35% Jul. 2006 SA  162  151
 220 USD Fixed 7.09% Mar. 2007 SA  220  220
Notes 500 EUR Fixed 6.13% May 2007 A  653  623
 300 GBP Fixed 6.75% May 2009 A  565  547
Securitized floorplan - certificates        
 400 USD Variable 2.16% Aug. 2005 M  400  400
 500 USD Variable 2.14% (1.45%) Dec. 2005 M  500  500
 350(5) CAD Variable 3.53% (3.41%) Apr. 2010 M  282  60
Other 44 (51)(4) Various Fix./Var. 7.23% (8.30%) 2005-2017 M  44  51
        3,776  3,991
       $ 6,904 $ 6,088
(1) Interest rates are before giving effect to the related hedging derivative financial instruments (see note 22 – Financial instruments), and for 

variable-rate debt, represent the average rate for the fiscal year.  
(2) Monthly (M), semi-annually (SA) and annually (A). 
(3) Includes $94 million relating to obligations under capital leases as at January 31, 2005 ($97 million as at January 31, 2004). 
(4) Amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars.  
(5) The amount in currency of origin represents the total committed facility. 
(6) Annual interest payment in fiscal year 2004. 
 
All long-term debt items rank pari-passu and are unsecured, except for the securitized floorplan debt and VIEs, 
which are secured borrowings.  
 
As at January 31, 2005, the Corporation was in compliance with the covenants contained in its various financing 
agreements. 
 
The repayment requirements of the long-term debt during the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

  Bombardier  BC  Total 
2006 $ 341 $ 1,403 $ 1,744 
2007  560  614  1,174 
2008  34  875  909 
2009  666  3  669 
2010  13  568  581 
Thereafter  1,514  313  1,827 
 $ 3,128 $ 3,776 $ 6,904 

 



 

93 

 
12. SHARE CAPITAL  
 
Preferred shares 
 
An unlimited number of non-voting preferred shares, without nominal or par value, issuable in series are 
authorized. The following series have been issued as at January 31, 2005 and 2004: 
 
12,000,000 Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 

Redemption: Redeemable, at the Corporation’s option, at $25.50 Cdn per share. 
 

Conversion: Convertible on a one-for-one basis, at the option of the holder, on August 1, 2007 and on August 1 of every 
fifth year thereafter into Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. Fourteen days before the 
conversion date, if the Corporation determines, after having taken into account all shares tendered for 
conversion by holders, that there would be less than 1,000,000 outstanding Series 2 Cumulative 
Redeemable Preferred Shares, such remaining number shall automatically be converted into an equal 
number of Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. Additionally, if the Corporation determines 
that on any conversion date, there would be less than 1,000,000 outstanding Series 3 Cumulative 
Redeemable Preferred Shares, then no Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares may be 
converted. 
 

Dividend: Since August 1, 2002, the variable cumulative preferential cash dividends are payable monthly on the 15th 
day of each month, if declared, with the annual variable dividend rate being equal to 80% of the Canadian 
prime rate. The dividend rate will vary in relation to changes in the prime rate and will be adjusted upwards 
or downwards on a monthly basis to a monthly maximum of 4% if the trading price of the Series 2 
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares is less than $24.90 Cdn per share or more than $25.10 Cdn per 
share. Until July 31, 2002, the quarterly dividend rate was equal to $0.34375 Cdn per share. 

 
12,000,000 Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 

Redemption: Redeemable, at the Corporation’s option, at $25.00 Cdn per share on August 1, 2007 and on August 1 of 
every fifth year thereafter. 
 

Conversion: Convertible on a one-for-one basis, at the option of the holder, on August 1, 2007 and on August 1 of every 
fifth year thereafter into Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. Fourteen days before the 
conversion date, if the Corporation determines, after having taken into account all shares tendered for 
conversion by holders, that there would be less than 1,000,000 outstanding Series 3 Cumulative 
Redeemable Preferred Shares, such remaining number shall automatically be converted into an equal 
number of Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. Additionally, if the Corporation determines 
that on any conversion date there would be less than 1,000,000 outstanding Series 2 Cumulative 
Redeemable Preferred Shares, then no Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares may be 
converted. 
 

Dividend: Until July 31, 2007, the Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares carry fixed cumulative 
preferential cash dividends at a rate of 5.476% or $1.369 Cdn per share per annum, payable quarterly on 
the last day of January, April, July and October of each year at a rate of $0.34225 Cdn, if declared. For each 
succeeding five-year period, the applicable fixed annual rate of the cumulative preferential cash dividends 
calculated by the Corporation shall not be less than 80% of the Government of Canada bond yield, as 
defined in the Articles of Incorporation. These dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last day of 
January, April, July and October, if declared. 
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9,400,000 Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 

Redemption: Redeemable, at the Corporation’s option, any time on or after March 31, 2007, at $26.00 Cdn per share if 
redeemed prior to March 31, 2008; $25.75 Cdn if redeemed on or after March 31, 2008 but prior to 
March 31, 2009; $25.50 Cdn if redeemed on or after March 31, 2009 but prior to March 31, 2010; 
$25.25 Cdn if redeemed on or after March 31, 2010 but prior to March 31, 2011; and $25.00 Cdn if 
redeemed on or after March 31, 2011. 
 

Conversion: On or after March 31, 2007, the Corporation may, subject to the approval of the Toronto Stock Exchange 
and such other stock exchanges on which the Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares are then 
listed, at any time convert all or any of the outstanding Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 
into fully paid and non-assessable Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) of the Corporation. The number of 
Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) into which each Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 
may be so converted will be determined by dividing the then applicable redemption price together with all 
accrued and unpaid dividends to, but excluding the date of conversion, by the greater of $2.00 Cdn and 95% 
of the weighted-average trading price of such Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange for the period of 20 consecutive trading days, which ends on the fourth day prior to the date 
specified for conversion or, if that fourth day is not a trading day, on the trading day immediately preceding 
such fourth day. The Corporation may, at its option, at any time, create one or more further series of 
Preferred Shares of the Corporation, into which the holders of Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred 
Shares could have the right, but not the obligation, to convert their shares on a share-for-share basis. 
 

Dividend: The holders of Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares are entitled to fixed cumulative 
preferential cash dividends, if declared, at a rate of 6.25% or $1.5625 Cdn per share per annum, payable 
quarterly on the last day of January, April, July and October of each year at a rate of $0.390625 Cdn per 
share. 

 
Common shares 
 
The following classes of common shares, without nominal or par value, were authorized as at January 31, 2005 
and 2004: 
 
1,892,000,000 Class A Shares (Multiple Voting) 

Voting rights: 10 votes each. 
 

Conversion: Convertible, at any time, at the option of the holder, into one Class B Share (Subordinate Voting). 
 
1,892,000,000 Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) 

Voting rights: One vote each. 
 

Conversion: Convertible, at the option of the holder, into one Class A Share (Multiple Voting): (i) if an offer made to 
Class A (Multiple Voting) shareholders is accepted by the present controlling shareholder (the Bombardier 
family); or (ii) if such controlling shareholder ceases to hold more than 50% of all outstanding Class A 
Shares (Multiple Voting) of the Corporation. 
 

Dividend: Annual non-cumulative preferential dividend of $0.0015625 Cdn per share, in priority to the Class A 
Shares (Multiple Voting), payable quarterly on the last day of January, April, July and October of each year 
at a rate of $0.000390625 Cdn per share, if declared. 

 
In April 2003, the Corporation issued 370 million Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) at a price of $3.25 Cdn per 
share. The net proceeds from this issue amounted to $1,170 million Cdn ($807 million), net of issue costs of 
$33 million Cdn ($23 million). 
 



 

95 

 
13. SHARE-BASED PLANS 
 
Share option plans 
 
Under share option plans, options are granted to key employees to purchase Class B Shares (Subordinate 
Voting). Options were also granted to directors up to October 1, 2003. Of the 135,782,688 Class B Shares 
(Subordinate Voting) initially reserved for issuance, 51,697,056 were available for issuance under these share 
option plans as at January 31, 2005. The Corporation issued 882,050 Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) during 
fiscal year 2005, following the exercise of stock options (1,898,000 Class B Shares during fiscal year 2004). 
 
Prior share option plans – For options issued to key employees prior to May 27, 2003, and options issued to 
directors, the exercise price is equal to the weighted-average trading prices on the stock exchange during the five 
trading days preceding the date on which the option was granted. These options vest at 25% per year during a 
period beginning two years following the grant date, except for 140,000 outstanding options granted to directors, 
which vest at 20% per year beginning on the grant date. The options terminate no later than 10 years after the 
grant date. 
 
The summarized information on these options is as follows as at January 31, 2005: 
 

Issued and outstanding  Exercisable 

Exercise price range (Cdn$) 
 Number of 
 options 

Weighted- 
average 

remaining 
life 

(years) 

Weighted- 
average 
exercise 

price 
(Cdn$) 

Number of 
options 

Weighted- 
average 
exercise 

price 
(Cdn$) 

3 to 5 734,000 1.04   4.34 734,000   4.34 
5 to 7 9,415,400 2.06   5.41 8,665,400   5.42 
7 to 10 3,823,120 3.02   7.77 3,823,120   7.77 
10 to 12 7,803,250 4.24   10.79 7,803,250   10.79 
12 to 15 4,227,500 7.09   14.53 1,137,875   14.40 
15 to 25 7,700,000 5.77   20.54 4,830,813   20.27 
 33,703,270(1)   26,994,458  

(1) Including three million options held by employees of BRP. 
 
The number of options has varied as follows for fiscal years:  
 

   2005  2004 

 
 Number of  
 options 

 Weighted- 
average 
exercise 

price 
(Cdn$) 

 Number of  
 options 

Weighted- 
average 
exercise 

price 
(Cdn$) 

Balance at beginning of year 37,427,486    11.54 41,347,086   11.32 
Exercised (873,800)    3.86 (1,898,000)   2.24 
Cancelled (2,850,416)    14.39 (2,021,600)   15.83 
Balance at end of year 33,703,270    11.50 37,427,486   11.54 
Options exercisable at end of year 26,994,458    10.31 24,240,236   9.24 

 
Current performance share option plan – Effective May 27, 2003, the Corporation amended prospectively the 
share option plan for key employees. This plan was further amended on March 30, 2004 and is effective for all 
options granted under this plan. The significant terms and conditions of the amended plan are as follows:  
• The exercise price is equal to the weighted-average trading prices on the stock exchange during the five 

trading days preceding the date on which the option was granted. 
• The options granted vest at 25% per year during a period beginning one year following the grant date. 

However, predetermined target market price thresholds must be achieved in order for the options to be 
exercised. Such options may be exercised if within the 12-month period preceding the date on which such 
options vest, the weighted-average trading price on the stock exchange (during a period of 21 consecutive 
trading days) is greater than or equal to the target price threshold established at the time the option had been 
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granted. If within such 12-month period, the weighted-average trading price has not been reached, the target 
price threshold applicable to the next vesting tranche becomes effective. 

• As at January 31, 2005, target prices ranged between $6 Cdn and $11 Cdn. 
• The options terminate no later than seven years after the grant date. 
 
The summarized information on the performance share option plan is as follows as at January 31, 2005:  
 

Issued and outstanding  Exercisable 

Exercise price range (Cdn$) 
 Number of 
 options 

Weighted- 
average 

remaining 
life 

(years) 

Weighted- 
average 
exercise 

price 
(Cdn$) 

Number of 
options 

Weighted- 
average 
exercise 

price 
(Cdn$) 

2 to 4 6,004,750 5.49   3.79 1,336,250 3.93 
4 to 6 13,395,520 6.35   4.34 51,750 5.58 
6 to 7 359,000 6.08   6.83 - - 
 19,759,270     1,388,000   

 
The number of options has varied as follows for fiscal years:  
 

   2005   2004 

 
 Number of 
 options 

 Weighted- 
average 
exercise 

price 
(Cdn$) 

 Number of  
 options 

 Weighted- 
average 
exercise 

price 
(Cdn$) 

Balance at beginning of year 6,646,500    4.00 -  - 
Granted 15,402,520    4.31 7,193,000  4.00 
Exercised (8,250)    3.93 -  - 
Cancelled (2,281,500)    4.20 (546,500)  3.93 
Balance at end of year 19,759,270    4.22 6,646,500  4.00 
Options exercisable at end of year 1,388,000  3.99 -  - 

 
Stock-based compensation expense 
 
The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during fiscal year 2005 was $1.06 per option 
($1.11 per option for fiscal year 2004) and the expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income for 
fiscal years 2005 and 2004 was $9 million and $4 million respectively. A corresponding increase in the contributed 
surplus account was recorded in the consolidated statements of shareholders' equity. 
 
The fair value of each option granted was determined using an option pricing model and the following 
weighted-average assumptions: 
 

 2005 2004 
Risk-free interest rate 4.16% 3.57% 
Expected life 5 years 5 years 
Expected volatility in the market price of the shares 49.08% 50.88% 
Expected dividend yield 1.20% 1.20% 
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Pro forma disclosure of fair value of share options 
 
Prior to February 1, 2003, the Corporation accounted for options granted under its share option plans as capital 
transactions. If the options granted in fiscal year 2003 had been accounted for based on the fair value method, 
net loss for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 would have increased by $4 million and $6 million respectively, and basic 
and diluted loss per share would have remained as reported. The pro forma figures do not give effect to stock 
options granted prior to February 1, 2002. 
 
The weighted-average grant date fair value of all stock-based arrangements granted during fiscal year 2003 
amounted to $2.91 per option. 
 
The fair value of each option granted in fiscal year 2003 was determined using an option pricing model and the 
following weighted-average assumptions: 
 

Risk-free interest rate 5.26% 
Expected life 6 years 
Expected volatility in the market price of the shares 30.55% 
Expected dividend yield 0.90% 

 
Employee share purchase plan 
 
Under the employee share purchase plan, employees of the Corporation are eligible to purchase the 
Corporation’s Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) up to a maximum of 20% of their base salary to a yearly 
maximum of $30,000 Cdn per employee. The Corporation contributes to the plan an amount equal to 20% of the 
employees’ contributions. The contributions are used to purchase the Corporation’s Class B Shares (Subordinate 
Voting) in the open market on monthly investment dates or as otherwise determined by the Corporation, but no 
less often than monthly. The Corporation’s contribution to the plan amounted to $6 million for each of fiscal years 
2005 and 2004. Shares purchased are subject to a mandatory 12-month holding period that must be completed at 
the anniversary date of January 1st.  
 
 
14. CUMULATIVE TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT 
 
The components of net change in the cumulative translation adjustment were as follows for fiscal year 2005: 
 

Balance at beginning of year $ 128 
Effect of changes in exchange rates during the year:   
 On net investment in self-sustaining foreign operations  97 
 On certain long-term debt items and intercompany loans denominated in foreign currencies  
  designated as hedges of net investments in self-sustaining foreign operations  (30)
Balance at end of year $ 195 
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15. SPECIAL ITEMS AND OTHER RESTRUCTURING COSTS 
 
Special items 
 
The Corporation recorded the following special items: 
 

   2005   2004 
Transportation      
 Severance and other involuntary termination costs $ 142 $ 161 
 Property, plant and equipment write downs  -  162 
 Other(1)  30  26 
     
Aerospace     

Gain on sale of MAS and Belfast City Airport  -  (71)
Severance and other involuntary termination costs - 52 

  172  330 
Income tax recovery  (18)  (17)
 $ 154 $ 313 

(1) Comprised of lease termination and environmental costs, as well as other costs. 
 
Transportation 
On March 16, 2004, the Board of Directors approved a restructuring initiative to reduce the cost structure of the 
transportation segment. This initiative contemplated a workforce reduction of 6,600 positions, 5,100 of which were 
permanent positions. As a result of the recent slowdown in European market demand, the restructuring plan was 
enlarged during the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 ("the enlarged plan"), in order to maintain the Corporation's 
competitiveness. The enlarged plan now contemplates additional proposed workforce reductions for a net total of 
7,300 permanent positions. The reduction in the total workforce, including contractual employees, is 7,600 
positions, net of expected new hirings. 
 
The total cost of the restructuring initiative, initially estimated at $583 million, is now expected to amount to 
$617 million.  
 
Charges of $96 million related to this restructuring initiative are expected to be recorded as special items during 
fiscal years 2006 and 2007. 
 
Aerospace (fiscal year 2004) 
• The Corporation completed the sale of its Military Aviation Services ("MAS") unit for net proceeds of 

$85 million, generating a pre-tax gain of $69 million. 
• The Corporation also completed the sale of the Belfast City Airport for net proceeds of £35 million 

($50 million), generating a pre-tax gain of $2 million. 
• Severance and other involuntary termination costs of $52 million were recorded, relating to a reduction of 

employment levels at facilities in Montréal, Toronto, Belfast, Tucson and Wichita. The charge for the Tucson 
and Wichita facilities arise from the creation of integrated Learjet and Challenger Series business aircraft 
manufacturing centres at the Wichita and Montréal facilities. 

 
Other restructuring costs 
 
A workforce reduction program of approximately 2,000 employees at facilities in Belfast and Montréal is underway 
due to a realignment of the production rate of CRJ Series aircraft to meet current and forecast market demand. 
The workforce reduction program, which began in November 2004, will be completed by the end of the second 
quarter of fiscal year 2006. Approximately 200 employees had been terminated as at January 31, 2005. The total 
cost of the workforce reduction is estimated at $26 million, $19 million of which was recorded in cost of sales in 
fiscal year 2005. An additional charge of $19 million, mainly related to severance and other involuntary 
termination costs in connection with various workforce reduction initiatives, was also recorded in cost of sales in 
fiscal year 2005. 
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16. INTEREST EXPENSE, NET 
 
Bombardier's interest expense, net was as follows for fiscal years: 
 

   2005   2004
Short-term borrowings $ - $   40 
Long-term debt  152    124 
Accretion expense on sales incentives  29    37 
Interest expense with BC  28    12 
Interest income  (38)    (14)
Interest capitalized  (2)    (13)
Allocation of interest expense to discontinued operations  -    (21)
Other  12    6 
  181    171 
Intersegment elimination  (28)    (12)
 $ 153 $   159 

 
BC’s interest expense amounting to $148 million for the fiscal year 2005 ($135 million for fiscal year 2004) is 
classified as cost of sales. 
 
 
17. INCOME TAXES 
 
Details of income tax expense (recovery) allocated to continuing operations were as follows for fiscal years: 
 

   2005  2004 
Current income taxes      
 Canada $ 55 $   47
 Foreign  40    46
 Recognition of previously unrecorded tax benefits – foreign  (10)    (13)
  85    80
Deferred income taxes      

Temporary differences and operating losses carried forward  (37)    5
Effect of substantively enacted income tax rate changes  -    4
Write down of deferred income tax assets  23    79
Recognition of previously unrecorded tax benefits  (87)    (21)

  (101)    67
Income tax expense (recovery) $ (16) $   147
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The reconciliation of income taxes allocated to continuing operations computed at the Canadian statutory rates to 
income tax expense was as follows for fiscal years: 
 

  2005  2004
  $  % $  %
Income tax recovery at statutory rates (32)   31.9 (6) 33.6
Increase (decrease) resulting from:     
 Manufacturing and processing credit -  (4)  
 Income tax rates differential of foreign investees (60)  (25)  
 Non-recognition of tax benefits related to foreign   
  investees’ losses and temporary differences 106  211  
 Write down of deferred income tax assets 23  79  
 Recognition of previously unrecorded tax benefits (97)  (33)  
 Tax-exempt items 42  (100)  
 Effect of substantively enacted income tax rate changes -  4  
 Large corporation tax -  9  
 Other 2  12  
Income tax (recovery) expense (16)  147  

 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant 
components of the Corporation’s deferred income tax asset (liability) were as follows as at January 31: 
 

  2005  2004 
Operating losses carried forward  $ 1,914  $ 1,746 
Warranty and other provisions   436   428 
Accrued benefit liabilities   171   184 
Finance receivables   91   78 
Intangible assets   17   45 
Inventories   108   (156)
Assets under operating leases and other   (39)   (38)
Property, plant and equipment   (325)   (255)
Other   10   8 
   2,383   2,040 
Valuation allowance  (1,796)  (1,617) 
Net amount $  587  $ 423 

 
The net amount of deferred income tax is presented on the consolidated balance sheets as follows as at 
January 31: 
 

  2005  2004 
BOMBARDIER   
Deferred income tax asset  $ 443  $ 343 
Deferred income tax liability   (37)   (100) 
   406   243 
BC   
Deferred income tax asset   185   184 
Deferred income tax liability   (4)   (4) 
   181   180 
  $ 587  $ 423 

 
Operating losses carried forward and other temporary differences, which are available to reduce future taxable 
income of certain subsidiaries, for which a valuation allowance has been recognized, amounted to $5.1 billion as 
at January 31, 2005 and January 31, 2004, approximately $1.1 billion of which have expiry dates between two 
and 20 years, while the remaining losses can be carried forward indefinitely. Approximately $2.0 billion of the 
operating losses carried forward and other temporary differences relate to business acquisitions. Any subsequent 
recognition of these future tax benefits will be recorded as a reduction of the goodwill related to this acquisition. 
 
In addition, the Corporation has approximately $900 million of available capital losses, most of which can be 
carried forward indefinitely. Capital losses can only be used against future capital gains, and therefore no deferred 
tax benefit has been recognized. 
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Undistributed earnings of the Corporation’s foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested and, 
accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon distribution of these earnings in the 
form of dividends or otherwise, the Corporation may be subject to withholding taxes. 
 
 
18. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  
 
On December 18, 2003, the Corporation sold its recreational products segment. The results of operations and 
cash flows of the recreational products segment for fiscal year 2004 (up to December 18, 2003) have been 
segregated in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and reported as discontinued operations. 
 
The results of discontinued operations were as follows for the period from February 1, 2003 to 
December 18, 2003: 
 

Revenues   $ 1,549 
Cost of sales and operating expenses(1)    1,488 
Amortization    33 
Interest expense, net    21 
    1,542 
Income before income taxes    7 
Income tax expense    3 
    4 
Gain on sale of the recreational products segment, net of tax      77 
Income from discontinued operations   $ 81 

(1) Comprised of selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses. 
 
The recreational products segment was sold for $723 million, $685 million of which was paid in cash, and 
$38 million through the issuance of preferred shares of the purchaser’s parent company. The preferred shares, 
which carry a cumulative dividend of 6% are redeemable under certain conditions, were recorded at their fair 
value of $30 million. Net proceeds at closing were impacted by adjustments totalling $115 million for variations in 
working capital, pension plan funding, transaction costs and other items. As a result, net cash proceeds were 
$557 million, net of cash disposed of $13 million. This transaction resulted in a gain of $118 million ($77 million 
after tax). The results of operations and cash flows of this segment have been segregated in the accompanying 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
The cash flows from discontinued operations were as follows for the period from February 1, 2003 to 
December 18, 2003: 
 

Operating activities   $ (155) 
Investing activities    (21) 
Financing activities    - 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     12 
Cash flows from discontinued operations   $ (164) 

 
During fiscal year 2005, the Corporation paid $31 million as an adjustment to the proceeds on the disposal of this 
segment, mainly in connection with its commitment towards pension plan funding. This commitment was provided 
for at the time of sale, and therefore this payment had no impact on the results of operations of fiscal year 2005. 
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19. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 
 
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share were computed as follows for fiscal years 2005 and 2004. The number 
of shares and stock options in the table are expressed in thousands. 
 

  2005  2004 
Loss from continuing operations  $  (85)  $ (166) 
Preferred share dividends, net of tax   (23)   (23) 
Loss from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders   (108)   (189) 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   -   81 
Loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (108)  $ (108) 

 
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding 1,750,292   1,670,690 
Net effect of stock options 59   299 
Weighted-average diluted number of common shares  outstanding 1,750,351  1,670,989 

 
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:   
 From continuing operations  $ (0.06)  $ (0.11) 
 From discontinued operations   -   0.05 
  $ (0.06)  $ (0.07) 

 
For fiscal years 2005 and 2004, the effect of stock options potentially exercisable on loss per share from 
continuing operations was anti-dilutive; therefore, basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations are 
the same.  
 
For fiscal year 2004, a total of 42,799,520 stock options were excluded from the calculation for diluted earnings 
per share from discontinued operations, since the average market value of the underlying shares was less than 
the exercise price or the predetermined target thresholds of the Corporation’s Class B Shares (Subordinate 
Voting) for the year. 
 
 
20. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES  
 
Transactions of BC with BRP, a company with common significant shareholders with Bombardier Inc., were as 
follows for fiscal years: 
 

  2005  2004(1)

Volume of receivable financing $ 227 $ 74 
Inventory financing revenues(2) $ 30 $ 2 

(1)  For the December 19, 2003 to January 31, 2004 period. 
(2) Included in BC’s financing revenues in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Receivable financing – BRP and BC have entered into a receivable financing agreement. In the ordinary course 
of business, BC purchases receivables from BRP, from which it earns financing revenues. The financing 
agreement is for a maximum of $115 million and expires in June 2005. BC funds receivables subject to certain 
eligibility criteria for BRP’s U.S. and European subsidiaries. Funding occurs in U.S. dollars and currency risk is 
retained by BRP. 
 
Inventory financing – BRP and BC have entered into a retail floorplan inventory financing agreement for retailers 
of BRP products. In the ordinary course of business, BC earns financing revenues related to BRP sales incentive 
programs in connection with retailer financing provided by BC. The inventory financing agreement is for a 
maximum amount of $750 million for a remaining renewable period of four years. Under the agreement, BC acts 
as the exclusive provider of secured floorplan financing to retailers of BRP-manufactured products (excluding 
outboard engine products). During the term of the agreement, BC has agreed not to provide retailer floorplan 
financing related to products of direct competitors of BRP (excluding outboard engine products). 
 
These transactions are measured at exchange amounts which approximate fair value. 
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21. NET CHANGES IN NON-CASH BALANCES RELATED TO OPERATIONS 
 
The net changes in non-cash balances related to operations were as follows for fiscal years: 
 

   2005   2004 
BOMBARDIER     
Receivables $ 36 $ (131) 
Assets under operating leases and other  (184)  (82) 
Inventories  424  (575) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  313  (117) 
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs  (302)  (133) 
Accrued benefit liabilities - net   (37)  (101) 
Other  (65)  (35) 
  185  (1,174) 
BC     
Receivables  28  (38) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (69)  (39) 
Other  11  11 
  (30)  (66) 
  155  (1,240) 
Intersegment elimination  (255)  1,239 
BOMBARDIER INC. CONSOLIDATED $ (100) $ (1) 

 
 
22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
The Corporation is subject to foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. The Corporation is party to a number 
of derivative financial instruments, mainly forward foreign exchange contracts, interest-rate swap agreements and 
cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements to hedge a significant portion of its foreign currency and interest 
rate risk. These derivative financial instruments are used to manage foreign currency and interest-rate risks on 
existing assets and liabilities, as well as on forecasted foreign currency cash flows. 
 
Forward foreign exchange contracts – The Corporation uses forward foreign exchange contracts to manage 
currency exposure arising from forecasted foreign currency cash flows. The Corporation also uses forward foreign 
exchange contracts to manage foreign currency exposures arising from third-party loans and intercompany loans 
and receivables. 
 
As a result of the change in functional currencies to the U.S. dollar for most of the operations in the aerospace 
segment and for the North American operations in the transportation segment effective February 1, 2004, the 
forward foreign exchange contract portfolio used to hedge forecasted foreign currency cash flows has been 
realigned to the new foreign currency exposure as of that date. 
• In the aerospace segment, forward foreign exchange contracts are mainly to sell U.S. dollars and buy 

Canadian dollars and sterling pounds to hedge forecasted foreign currency expenditures. 
• In the transportation segment, forward foreign exchange contracts are mainly to sell or purchase U.S. dollars, 

sterling pounds, euros and other western European currencies to hedge forecasted foreign currency revenues 
and expenditures. 
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The following tables summarize, by major currency, the Corporation’s forward foreign exchange contracts as at 
January 31:  
 

     2005 

Buy currency 
Notional 

amount(1) 
U.S. dollar 
equivalent Sell currency Rate(2) 

Maturity 
(fiscal year) 

CAD 3,749 3,028 USD 1.3106 2006-2010 
EUR 157 204 GBP 1.4317 2006-2012 
EUR 1,425 1,860 USD 0.7692 2006-2009 
GBP 417 785 USD 0.5710 2006-2007 
USD 378 378 CAD 0.7594 2006-2008 
USD 609 609 EUR 1.2431 2006-2007 
USD 226 226 Other - 2006-2010 
CHF 519 437 EUR 1.5229 2006-2010 
SEK 1,629 233 GBP 12.4524 2006-2011 
SEK 1,959 281 EUR 9.1874 2006-2010 
Other 301 301 EUR - 2006-2009 
Other 424 424 Other - 2006-2011 

(1) Notional amounts are expressed in the buy currency, except for the categories "Other" that are expressed in U.S. dollars. 
(2) The rate represents the weighted-average committed foreign exchange rate. 
 

     2004 

Buy currency 
Notional 

amount(1) 
U.S. dollar 
equivalent Sell currency Rate(2) 

Maturity 
(fiscal year) 

CAD 3,033 2,287 USD 1.3538 2005-2008 
EUR 282 351 GBP 1.4938 2005-2007 
EUR 288 359 USD 0.8477 2005-2007 
EUR 379 473 Other - 2005-2010 
GBP 454 827 USD 0.6106 2005-2006 
USD 327 327 CAD 0.7273 2005-2008 
USD 262 262 EUR 1.1296 2005-2007 
CHF 532 422 EUR 1.5184 2005-2010 
SEK 2,800 378 EUR 9.2252 2005-2010 
Other 372 372 EUR - 2005-2009 
Other 536 536 GBP - 2005-2007 
Other 143 143 Other - 2005-2007 

(1) Notional amounts are expressed in the buy currency, except for the categories "Other" that are expressed in U.S. dollars. 
(2) The rate represents the weighted-average committed foreign exchange rate. 
 
Interest-rate swap agreements – Bombardier entered into interest-rate swap agreements in order to achieve an 
appropriate mix of fixed and variable interest rate debt. In addition, Bombardier also entered into interest-rate 
swap agreements to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on financial commitments and intercompany 
loans. BC entered into interest-rate swap agreements to convert certain long-term debt and finance receivables 
from fixed to variable interest rates. BC also entered into basis swap agreements in order to align the base 
interest rate of certain finance receivables to the base interest rate of long-term debt. Swap agreements involve 
the exchange of interest payments based on a predetermined notional amount for a specified period of time. 



 

105 

 
Bombardier’s interest-rate swap agreements were as follows as at January 31: 
 

     2005 

 
 

Currency 
Notional 

amount(1) Fixed rate Variable rate(2) 
Maturity 

(fiscal year) 
Receive fixed rate USD 550 6.75% 3-month LIBOR + 2.28% 2013 
Receive fixed rate USD 500 6.30% 3-month LIBOR + 1.60% 2015 
Receive fixed rate USD 450 2.07% - 2.15% 1-month LIBOR 2007 
Receive fixed rate USD 200 1.72% - 1.78% 1-month LIBOR 2006 
Pay fixed rate USD 89 6.61% 6-month LIBOR 2014 
Pay fixed rate GBP 62 5.62% 3-month LIBOR 2013 
Pay fixed rate Various 18 6.13% - 12.28% CDOR or LIBOR 2009-2012 

(1) Notional amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars. 
(2) LIBOR: London Interbank offered rate; and CDOR: Canadian Deposit offered rate. 
 

     2004 

 
 

Currency 
Notional 

amount(1) Fixed rate Variable rate(2) 
Maturity 

(fiscal year) 
Receive fixed rate USD 450 2.07% - 2.15% 1-month LIBOR 2007 
Receive fixed rate USD 200 1.72% - 1.78% 1-month LIBOR 2006 
Pay fixed rate USD 96 6.61% 6-month LIBOR 2014 
Pay fixed rate GBP 60 5.62% 3-month LIBOR 2013 
Pay fixed rate Various 18 6.13% - 13.50% CDOR or LIBOR 2009-2012 

(1) Notional amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars. 
(2) LIBOR: London Interbank offered rate; and CDOR: Canadian Deposit offered rate. 
 
BC’s interest-rate swap agreements were as follows as at January 31:  
 

    2005 

Purpose 
Receive 

 fixed rate 
 

Pay variable rate 
Notional 

amount(1) 
Maturity 

(fiscal year) 
Asset hedge 3.90% - 8.68% LIBOR, Banker’s acceptance or 

EUROLIBOR 
167 2006-2018 

Debt hedge 4.96% - 6.35% LIBOR, Banker’s acceptance or 
EUROLIBOR 

708 2007-2008 

(1) Notional amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars. 
  

    2004 

Purpose 
Receive 

fixed rate Pay variable rate 
Notional 

amount(1) 
Maturity 

(fiscal year) 
Asset hedge 3.90% - 8.68% LIBOR, Banker’s acceptance or 

EUROLIBOR 
 228 2005-2018 

Debt hedge 4.96% - 6.60% LIBOR or Banker’s acceptance 559 2005-2008 
(1) Notional amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars. 
 
BC’s basis swap agreements were as follows as at January 31:  
 

   2005  2004 

Pay rate Receive rate Notional 
Maturity 

(fiscal year) Notional 
Maturity 

(fiscal year) 
U.S. prime - 2.85% LIBOR 900 2006 827 2005 

 
Cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements – BC entered into cross-currency interest-rate swap 
agreements to manage the foreign currency exposures on its long-term debt and intercompany receivables, and 
to modify the interest rate characteristics of long-term debt and certain finance receivables to variable interest 
rates.  
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BC’s cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements were as follows as at January 31:  
 

      2005 
Receive
currency 

Notional 
amount  

Pay 
currency 

Notional 
amount Receive fixed rate 

 
Pay variable rate 

Maturity 
(fiscal year) 

EUR 250 USD 226 EUR 6.13% 1-month LIBOR + 1.31% 2008 
GBP 300 USD 456 GBP 6.75% 1-month LIBOR + 1.61% 2010 
USD 164 EUR 124 1-month LIBOR + 2.28% 6-month EUROLIBOR + 2.4% 2010 

 
      2004 
Receive 
currency 

Notional 
amount  

Pay 
currency 

Notional 
amount Receive fixed rate 

 
Pay variable rate 

Maturity 
(fiscal year) 

EUR 500 USD 496 EUR 6.13% 1-month LIBOR + 2.06% 2008 
GBP 300 USD 456 GBP 6.75% 1-month LIBOR + 1.61% 2010 

 
Interest-rate cap agreements – Bombardier entered into interest-rate cap agreements to hedge its exposure to 
interest rate increases arising from protection granted to certain customers in connection with the sale of aircraft.  
 
The notional amount of the interest-rate cap agreements was $359 million as at January 31, 2005 ($253 million as 
at January 31, 2004). The interest rate caps vary between 1.9% and 5.7%, and the agreements mature in fiscal 
year 2013. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments  
 
The fair value of financial instruments for which the carrying amount reported is different from the fair value was 
as follows as at January 31:  
 

   2005   2004 
 Carrying amount  Fair value Carrying amount  Fair value 
BOMBARDIER     
Long-term debt  $ 3,128  $ 2,904  $ 2,097  $ 2,158 
Derivative financial instruments:       
 Forwards       
 Favourable   30   261   -   177 
 Unfavourable   -   (127)   -   (109) 
 Interest-rate cap   -  26   4   22 
 Swaps(1)         
 Favourable   -   18   -   - 
 Unfavourable   (11)   (25)   -   (19) 
BC         
Finance receivables   3,585   3,588   3,127   3,138 
Long-term debt   3,776   3,761   3,991   4,110 
Derivative financial instruments:   -      
 Swaps(1)         
 Favourable   211   281   224   308 
 Unfavourable   -   (5)   -   (11) 

(1) Includes interest-rate and cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements.  
 
The fair values disclosed are based on information available to management as at January 31, 2005 and 2004. 
The estimated fair value of certain financial instruments has been determined using available market information 
or other valuation methodologies that require considerable judgment in interpreting market data and developing 
estimates. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the 
Corporation could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation 
methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair values. 
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The fair values of financial instruments have been established as follows: 
• Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, short-term borrowings and accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities – The carrying amounts reported on the consolidated balance sheets approximate the fair values. 
• Finance receivables – The fair values of variable-rate finance receivables that reprice frequently and have 

no significant change in credit risk, approximate the carrying values. The fair values of fixed-rate finance 
receivables are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, using interest rates offered for finance 
receivables with similar terms as those of borrowers of similar credit quality. 

• Loans and lease receivables and investments – The fair values of loans and lease receivables and 
investments are estimated using public quotations, when available, or discounted cash flow analyses, using 
interest rates applicable for assets with similar terms. The carrying amounts reported on the consolidated 
balance sheets approximate their fair values. 

• Long-term debt – The fair values of long-term debt are estimated using public quotations or discounted cash 
flow analyses, based on current corresponding borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. 

• Derivative financial instruments – The fair values generally reflect the estimated amounts that the 
Corporation would receive upon the settlement of favourable contracts or be required to pay to terminate 
unfavourable contracts at the reporting dates. Investment dealers’ quotes from the Corporation’s bankers are 
available for substantially all of the Corporation’s derivative financial instruments. 

 
Credit risk 
 
In addition to the credit risk described elsewhere in these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Corporation is 
subject to risks related to the off-balance sheet nature of derivative financial instruments, whereby counter-party 
failure would result in economic losses on favourable contracts. However, the counter-parties to these derivative 
financial instruments are investment grade financial institutions that the Corporation anticipates will satisfy their 
obligations under the contracts. 
 
 
23. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 
 
The Corporation sponsors several Canadian and foreign-funded and unfunded defined benefit pension plans 
covering a majority of its employees. The Corporation also provides post-employment and post-retirement benefit 
plans. These benefit plans essentially consist of self-insured long-term disability plans in Canada and 
post-retirement health care coverage and life insurance benefits in Canada and in the U.S.A. 
 
Pension plans 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted to determine the benefit cost and projected benefit obligation were 
as follows (weighted-average assumptions as at the December-31 measurement date preceding the fiscal year 
end): 
 
Actuarial assumptions 

 2005 2004 
(in percentage) Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign Total 
Benefit cost       
 Discount rate  6.00 5.37 5.59 6.50 5.47 5.83 
  Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.14 7.59 7.40 7.17 7.55 7.39 
 Rate of compensation increase 4.00 3.85 3.90 4.25 3.58 3.78 
Projected benefit obligation       
 Discount rate 6.00 5.06 5.39 6.00 5.37 5.59 
 Rate of compensation increase  3.50 3.61 3.57 4.00 3.85 3.90 
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the pension plans’ projected benefit obligation and 
fair value of plan assets as at the December-31 measurement date preceding the fiscal year end and their 
allocation by major countries: 
 
Projected benefit obligation 

 2005  2004 
  Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign  Total 
Obligation at beginning of year $ 1,637 $ 3,087 $ 4,724 $ 1,313 $ 2,484 $ 3,797 
Current service cost  61  98  159  63  98  161 
Interest cost  105  173  278  100  145  245 
Plan participants’ contributions  21  28  49  21  25  46 
Plan amendments   10  3  13  12  (24)  (12)
Actuarial loss (gain)  (32)  30  (2)  130  225  355 
Benefits paid  (80)  (105)  (185)  (70)  (84)  (154)
Transfers   -  -  -  -  4  4 
Divestitures  -  -  -  (125)  (53)  (178)
Curtailment  (2)  (16)  (18)  (20)  (15)  (35)
Settlement  -  (9)  (9)  -  -  - 
Special termination benefits  2  -  2  6  1  7 
Effect of exchange rate changes  121  115  236  207  281  488 
Obligation at end of year $ 1,843 $ 3,404 $ 5,247 $ 1,637 $ 3,087 $ 4,724 

 
U.K.    $ 2,218   $ 2,023 
Canada    1,843    1,637 
Germany     401    339 
U.S.A.     386    352 
Switzerland     235    214 
Other     164    159 
   $ 5,247   $ 4,724 

 
Plan assets 

 2005  2004 
 Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign  Total 
Fair value at beginning of year  $ 1,111 $ 1,501 $ 2,612 $ 857 $ 1,205 $ 2,062 
Actual return on plan assets   83  153  236  69  135  204 
Employer contributions   181  293  474  161  95  256 
Plan participants’ contributions   21  28  49  21  25  46 
Benefits paid   (80)  (105)  (185)  (70)  (84)  (154)
Divestitures   -  -  -  (63)  -  (63)
Settlement   (2)  (10)  (12)  -  -  - 
Other   -  (1)  (1)  -  2  2 
Effect of exchange rate changes   88  60  148  136  123  259 
Fair value at end of year  $ 1,402 $ 1,919 $ 3,321 $ 1,111 $ 1,501 $ 2,612 

 
U.K.    $ 1,513    $ 1,148 
Canada     1,402     1,111 
U.S.A.     222     185 
Switzerland     160     144 
Other     24     24 
    $ 3,321    $ 2,612 
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The reconciliation of the funded status of the pension plans to the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance 
sheets was as follows as at January 31: 
 
Funded status 

 2005  2004 
 Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign  Total 

Fair value of plan assets  $ 1,402 $ 1,919 $ 3,321 $ 1,111 $ 1,501  $ 2,612 
Projected benefit obligation   (1,843)   (3,404)   (5,247)   (1,637)  (3,087)   (4,724) 
Funded status – deficit   (441)   (1,485)   (1,926)   (526)  (1,586)   (2,112) 
Unamortized net actuarial loss   556   1,014   1,570   570  1,021   1,591 
Unamortized past service costs   57   (7)   50   51  (10)   41 
Contributions paid in January    8   11   19   156  3   159 
Accrued benefit assets (liabilities) $ 180 $ (467) $ (287) $ 251 $ (572)  $ (321) 

 
Included in the above table are plans with projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as follows: 
 
Projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets 

 2005  2004 
 Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign  Total 
Fair value of plan assets $ 1,014 $ 1,719 $ 2,733 $ 1,111 $ 1,212 $ 2,323 
Projected benefit obligation  (1,490)  (3,230)  (4,720)  (1,637)  (2,831)  (4,468)
 $ (476) $ (1,511) $ (1,987) $ (526) $ (1,619) $ (2,145)

 
The following table provides the components of the benefit cost for fiscal years: 
 
Benefit cost(1) 

 2005  2004 
 Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign  Total 
Current service cost $ 61 $ 98 $ 159 $ 63 $ 98 $ 161 
Interest cost  105  173  278  100  145  245 
Actual return on plan assets  (83)  (153)  (236)  (69)  (135)  (204)
Actuarial loss (gain)   (32)  30  (2)  130  225  355 
Plan amendments   10  3  13  12  (24)  (12)
Curtailment loss (gain)  1  (15)  (14)  5  2  7 
Settlement loss (gain)  2  -  2  -  (1)  (1)
Special termination benefits   2  -  2  6  1  7 
Other  -  1  1  -  2  2 
Benefit cost before adjustments to 

recognize the long-term nature of the 
plans  66  137  203  247  313  560 

Difference between actual and  
expected return on plan assets  (12)  16  4  (17)  14  (3)

Difference between actual  
actuarial loss (gain) and the amount 
recognized  53  18  71  (118)  (205)  (323)

Amortization of past service costs  (6)  (2)  (8)  (8)  27  19 
Benefit cost recognized $ 101 $ 169 $ 270 $ 104 $ 149 $ 253 

(1) For fiscal year 2004, benefit cost recognized includes $11 million for the Canadian plans and $7 million for the foreign plans relating to the 
 recreational products segment. These amounts are included in income from discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of 
 income. For fiscal year 2004, benefit cost excludes curtailment and settlement gains of $1 million for the Canadian plans and $34 million for 
 the foreign plans resulting from the sale of the recreational products segment and MAS since these gains are included in the calculation of 
 the gain on disposal of businesses. 
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Plan assets are held in trust and their weighted-average allocations were as follows as at the December-31 
measurement date: 
 
Plan assets 

(in percentage) Target allocation Actual allocation 
Asset category 2006 2005 2004 
Cash 3 3 6 
Publicly-traded equity securities 58 57 64 
Publicly-traded fixed income securities 37 37 24 
Privately-held equity securities and other 2 3 5 
Real estate - - 1 

 
As at December 31, 2004 and 2003, the publicly-traded equity securities did not include any of the Corporation’s 
shares.  
 
Cash contributions to the pension plans for fiscal year 2006 are estimated to be $335 million.  
 
Pension plans (excluding U.K.) – The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes of the Corporation’s 
funded pension plans was prepared with an effective date of December 31, 2003. The next actuarial valuation will 
be completed during the second and third quarters of fiscal year 2006 with an effective date of 
December 31, 2004.  
 
U.K. plans – The most recent actuarial valuation dates for funding purposes range between December 2001 and 
September 2003. The next required actuarial valuation dates range between December 2004 and June 2006.  
 
Benefits other than pension 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit cost and projected benefit obligation were as 
follows (weighted-average assumptions as at December-31 measurement date preceding the fiscal year end): 
 
Actuarial assumptions 

 2005 2004 
(in percentage) Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign Total 
Benefit cost       
 Discount rate 6.00 5.90 5.98 6.50 6.54 6.51 
 Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.25 4.50 4.30 
Projected benefit obligation       
 Discount rate 6.00 5.75 5.96 6.00 5.90 5.98 
 Rate of compensation increase 3.50 4.00 3.64 4.00 4.00 4.00 

 
As at December 31, 2004, the health care cost trend rate, which is a weighted-average annual rate of increase in 
the per capita cost of covered health and dental care benefits, is assumed to be 9.5% and to decrease to 5.5% by 
fiscal year 2010 and then remain at that level for all participants. A one-percentage-point change in assumed 
health care cost trend rates would have the following effects: 
 

 1% increase  1% decrease 
Effect on benefit cost recognized  $ 4  $ (4)
Effect on projected benefit obligation  $ 38  $ (32)
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the projected benefit obligation and its allocation by 
major countries as at the December 31 measurement date preceding the fiscal year end: 
 
Projected benefit obligation 

 2005 2004 
 Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign Total 
Obligation at beginning of year $ 228 $ 51 $ 279 $ 158 $ 47 $ 205 
Current service cost  9  2  11  9  1  10 
Interest cost  14  3  17  12  3  15 
Plan amendments  -  -  -  25  -  25 
Actuarial loss  16  4  20  27  4  31 
Benefits paid  (13)  (4)  (17)  (9)  (4)  (13)
Divestitures  -  -  -  (9)  -  (9)
Curtailment  -  (4)  (4)  (9)  (1)  (10)
Effect of exchange rate changes  16  6  22  24  1  25 
Obligation at end of year $ 270 $ 58 $ 328 $ 228 $ 51 $ 279 

 
Canada     $ 270     $ 228 
U.S.A.      39      41 
U.K.      12      10 
Other    7    - 
   $ 328   $ 279 

 
The reconciliation of the funded status of the benefit plans other than pensions to the amounts recorded on the 
consolidated balance sheets was as follows for fiscal years: 
 
Funded status 

 2005  2004 
 Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign  Total 

Deficit $ (270) $ (58) $ (328) $ (228) $ (51) $ (279) 
Unamortized net actuarial loss  61  10  71  35  8  43 
Unamortized past service costs  (1)  -  (1)  (1)  -  (1) 
Benefits paid in January  1  -  1  1  -  1 
Accrued benefit liabilities $ (209) $ (48) $ (257) $ (193) $ (43) $ (236) 

 
The following table provides the components of the benefit cost for fiscal years: 
 
Benefit cost(1) 

 2005  2004 
 Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign  Total 
Current service cost $ 9 $ 2 $ 11 $ 9 $ 1 $ 10 
Interest cost  14  3  17  12  3  15 
Actuarial loss   14  4  18  27  4  31 
Plan amendments  -  -  -  25  -  25 
Curtailment gain  -  (2)  (2)  (7)  -  (7)
Benefit cost before adjustments to 

recognize the long-term nature of the 
plans  37  7  44  66  8  74 

Difference between actual  
 actuarial loss for the year  
 and the amount recognized  (9)  (4)  (13)  (25)  (4)  (29) 
Amortization of past service costs  -  -  -  3  -  3 
Benefit cost recognized $ 28 $ 3 $ 31 $ 44 $ 4 $ 48 

(1)  For fiscal year 2004, benefit cost for the Canadian plans includes $3 million relating to the recreational products segment. This amount is 
 included in income from discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income. For fiscal year 2004, benefit cost excludes 
 curtailment and settlement gains of $1 million for the Canadian plans resulting from the sale of the recreational products segment and MAS 
 since these gains are included in the calculation of the gain on disposal of businesses. 
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The following table provides the accrued benefit assets (liabilities) recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 
as at January 31: 
 
Amounts recognized 

 2005 2004 
 Canada Foreign Total Canada Foreign Total 
Accrued benefit assets       
 Pension plans  $ 235  $ 118 $ 353  $ 281  $ 94  $ 375 
Accrued benefit liabilities       
 Pension plans (55) (585) (640) (30) (666) (696)
 Benefits other than pension (209) (48) (257) (193) (43) (236)
  $ (264)  $ (633) $ (897)  $ (223)  $ (709)  $ (932)

 
 
24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
In addition to the commitments and contingencies described elsewhere in these Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the Corporation is subject to other off-balance sheet risks. The table below presents the maximum 
potential exposure for each major group of exposure as at January 31. The maximum potential exposure does not 
reflect payments expected to be made by the Corporation. 
 
Certain of these off-balance sheet risks are also included in note 25 – Variable interest entities. 
 

  2005  2004 

 

 Maximum 
 potential 
 exposure 

 Provisions 
 and 
 liabilities(1) 

 Maximum 
 potential 
 exposure 

 Provisions 
 and 
 liabilities(1) 

Aircraft sales     
Credit (a)  $ 1,074   $ 1,004  
Residual value (a) 2,481  2,308  
Mutually exclusive exposure(2) (811)  (806)  
Total credit and residual  value exposure  $ 2,744  $ 817  $ 2,506  $ 825
Trade-in options (b)   1,470   24   1,983   45
Fractional ownership put options (c)   21   5   81   23

Other(3)     
Credit and residual value (e)   181   -   163   -
Repurchase obligations (f)   175   61   185   -
Performance guarantees (g)   1,031   -   1,889   -

(1) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
(2) Some of the residual value guarantees can only be exercised once the credit guarantees have expired without exercise and, therefore, the 
 guarantees must not be added together to calculate the combined maximum exposure for the Corporation.  
(3) The Corporation has also provided guarantees not included in this table (see section h). 
 
The Corporation’s maximum exposure in connection with credit and residual value guarantees related to sale of 
aircraft represents the face value of the guarantees before giving effect to the net benefit expected from the 
estimated value of the aircraft and other assets available to mitigate the Corporation’s exposure under these 
guarantees. The provisions for anticipated losses have been established to cover the risks from these guarantees 
after considering the effect of the estimated resale value of the aircraft, which is based on independent third-party 
evaluations, the anticipated proceeds from other assets covering such exposures and liabilities available to 
mitigate the exposures. The anticipated proceeds from the collaterals are expected to cover the Corporation’s 
total credit and residual value exposure, after taking into account the provisions and liabilities. 
 
Aircraft sales 
 
a) Credit guarantees and residual value guarantees – Bombardier provides credit guarantees in the form of 
lease and loan payments guarantees, as well as services related to the remarketing of aircraft. These guarantees, 
which are mainly issued for the benefit of providers of financing to customers, mature in different periods up to 
2025. Substantially all financial support involving potential credit risk lies with commercial airline customers. The 
credit risk relating to three commercial airline customers accounted for 59% of the total maximum credit risk as at 
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January 31, 2005. In most circumstances, a claim under a credit guarantee may be made only upon sale of the 
underlying aircraft to a third party. 
 
In addition, Bombardier provides guarantees for the residual value of aircraft at the expiry date of certain financing 
and lease agreements. The guarantee provides for a contractually limited payment to the guaranteed party, which 
is typically a percentage of the first loss from a guaranteed value. In most circumstances, a claim under a residual 
value guarantee may be made upon resale of the underlying aircraft to a third party. 
 
The following table summarizes the outstanding residual value guarantees as at January 31, 2005, and the period 
in which they can be exercised: 
 

Less than 1 year  $ 23
From 1 to 5 years   107
From 6 to 10 years   535
From 11 to 15 years   797
Thereafter   1,019
  $ 2,481

 
b) Trade-in options – In connection with the sale of new aircraft, the Corporation provides, from time to time, 
trade-in options to customers. These options allow customers to trade in their pre-owned aircraft at a 
predetermined amount and during a predetermined period, conditional upon purchase of a new aircraft. 
 
The Corporation’s commitment to purchase pre-owned aircraft, as at the earliest exercise date, was as follows as 
at January 31, 2005: 
 

Less than 1 year  $ 1,039
From 1 to 3 years   160
From 4 to 5 years   226
Thereafter   45
  $ 1,470

 
The Corporation reviews its trade-in aircraft purchase commitments relative to the aircraft’s anticipated fair value 
and records anticipated losses as a charge to income. Fair value is determined using both internal and external 
aircraft valuations, including information developed from the sale of similar aircraft in the secondary market. 
Provisions relating to anticipated losses on trade-in options amounted to $18 million as at January 31, 2005 
($24 million as at January 31, 2004). They were based on the likelihood that these options will be exercised. In 
addition, a provision related to trade-in commitments in connection with firm orders for new aircraft amounted to 
$6 million as at January 31, 2005 ($21 million as at January 31, 2004). 
 
c) Fractional ownership put options – Under the North American Flexjet fractional ownership program, certain 
customers can trade in their fractional shares of aircraft at predetermined amounts for fractional shares of a larger 
model at predetermined amounts. The total commitment to repurchase fractional shares of aircraft, in exchange 
for fractional shares of a larger model, was $21 million as at January 31, 2005 ($81 million as at 
January 31, 2004). Provisions relating to anticipated losses based on the likelihood that these options will be 
exercised amounted to $5 million as at January 31, 2005 ($23 million as at January 31, 2004). 
 
In addition, the Corporation provides customers with an option to sell back their fractional shares of the aircraft at 
estimated fair value within a predetermined period from the date of purchase. As at January 31, 2005, the 
Corporation’s commitment to repurchase fractional shares of aircraft based on estimated current fair values 
totalled $527 million ($504 million as at January 31, 2004). Since the purchase price is established at the 
estimated fair value of the fractional shares at the time the option is exercised, the Corporation is not exposed to 
off-balance sheet risk in connection with these options. 
 
d) Financing commitments – The Corporation has committed to provide financing in relation to orders on hand, 
which, net of third-party financing already arranged, amounted to $4.6 billion as at January 31, 2005 ($3.5 billion 
as at January 31, 2004). These commitments are related to aircraft on firm order scheduled for delivery through 
fiscal year 2010 and have scheduled expiration dates. The Corporation mitigates its exposure to interest and 
credit risks by including terms and conditions in the financing agreements that guaranteed parties must satisfy 
prior to benefiting from the Corporation’s commitment. 
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Other guarantees 
 
e) Credit and residual value guarantees – In connection with the sale of certain transportation rail equipment, 
Bombardier has provided a credit guarantee of lease payment amounting to $45 million as at January 31, 2005 
and 2004. This guarantee matures in 2020 and relates to one customer. In addition, at the expiry date of certain 
financing and other agreements, the Corporation provides residual value guarantees amounting to $136 million as 
at January 31, 2005 ($118 million as at January 31, 2004), mostly in the transportation segment. These 
guarantees are mainly exercisable in 2014. 
 
f) Repurchase obligations – The Corporation has provided certain financing providers and customers, mainly in 
the transportation segment, the right, under certain conditions, to sell back equipment to the Corporation at 
predetermined prices. An amount of $175 million as at January 31, 2005 ($169 million as at January 31, 2004), 
relates to two agreements whereby the Corporation may be required, beginning in fiscal year 2009, upon 
customer default on payments to the financing providers, to repurchase the equipment. In addition, on three 
separate dates, beginning in fiscal year 2009, the Corporation may also be required to repurchase the equipment. 
In connection with this commitment, funds have been deposited in a cash collateral account by the customer, 
which, together with accumulated interest, are expected to entirely cover the Corporation’s exposure. As a result 
of the consolidation of the two entities, which hold the cash collateral under the accounting rules applicable to 
VIEs effective November 1, 2004, a provision for repurchase obligations amounting to $61 million is now included 
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at January 31, 2005. 
 
g) Performance guarantees – In certain projects carried out through consortia or other partnership vehicles in 
the transportation segment, all partners are jointly and severally liable to the customer. In the normal course of 
business under such joint and several obligations, or under performance guarantees that may be issued in 
relation thereto, each partner is generally liable to the customer for a default by the other partner. These projects 
normally provide counter indemnities among the partners. These obligations and guarantees typically extend until 
final product acceptance by the customer. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to projects for which the 
exposure of the Corporation is capped amounted to approximately $228 million as at January 31, 2005 
($1,135 million as at January 31, 2004). For projects for which the exposure of the Corporation is not capped, 
such exposure has been determined in relation to the Corporation’s partners’ share of the total contract value. 
Under this methodology, the Corporation’s exposure would amount to approximately $803 million as at 
January 31, 2005 ($754 million as at January 31, 2004). Such joint and several obligations and guarantees have 
been rarely called upon in the past, and no significant liability has been recognized in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in connection with these obligations and guarantees.  
 
h) Other – In the normal course of its business, the Corporation has entered into agreements that include 
indemnities in favour of third parties, mostly tax indemnities. These agreements generally do not contain specified 
limits on the Corporation’s liability and therefore, it is not possible to estimate the Corporation’s maximum 
potential exposure under these indemnities. 
 
Sale and leaseback 
 
BC and Bombardier concluded third-party sale and leaseback transactions mostly relating to freight cars and pre-
owned aircraft. The freight cars are in most instances simultaneously leased to operators. Details of minimum 
lease payments for the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

 Rental payments 
Residual value 

guarantees Total
2006  $ 78  $ -  $ 78
2007   73   84   157
2008   68    13   81
2009   67   -   67
2010   73   -   73
Thereafter   673   -   673
  $ 1,032  $ 97  $ 1,129
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Minimum lease payments include $980 million for freight cars, $107 million for pre-owned aircraft and $42 million 
for other equipment. 
 
Expected minimum sub-lease rentals from operators and the net benefit of the estimated resale value of the 
equipment approximate the amount of minimum lease payments.  
 
Rent expense related to sale and leaseback arrangements was $89 million for fiscal year 2005. 
 
Operating leases 
 
The Corporation leases buildings and equipment and assumes aircraft operating lease obligations on the sale of 
new aircraft. The related minimum lease payments for the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

 Buildings and 
 equipment  Aircraft 

 Residual value  
 guarantees  Total

2006  $ 108  $ 48  $ 5  $ 161
2007   90   37   -   127
2008   81   27   -   108
2009   65   22   -   87
2010   52   14   -   66
Thereafter   333   22   75   430
  $ 729  $ 170  $ 80  $ 979
 
Rent expense related to operating leases was $178 million for fiscal year 2005.  
 
Other commitments 
 
The Corporation had commitments under agreements to outsource a significant portion of its information 
technology function in the aerospace and transportation segments as well as with a logistic provider for the 
Corporation’s centrally-located spare parts warehouses in the aerospace segment. The related minimum 
payments for the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows: 
 
2006  $ 217
2007   200
2008   186
2009   164
2010   144
Thereafter   76
  $ 987
 
Bombardier receives government financial support from various levels of government, including financial support 
for the development of aircraft. Certain financial support programs require Bombardier to pay amounts to 
governments, at the time of the delivery of products, contingent on a minimum agreed-upon level of related 
product sales being achieved. If the minimum agreed-upon level is not reached, no amount is payable to 
governments. Bombardier records the amount payable to governments at the time the product giving rise to such 
payment is sold. 
 
Claim 
 
Amtrak – As a result of mediation and negotiations, the Corporation and Alstom Transport Inc. reached a 
settlement agreement with Amtrak on all outstanding issues in connection with the Acela high-speed trainsets and 
locomotive contracts. As a result, a charge of $101 million related to this settlement was recorded in cost of sales 
for fiscal year 2004. 
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Other litigations 
 
On February 7, 2005, the Teamsters Local 445 Freight Division Pension Fund filed a class action complaint in the 
U.S. district court of the Southern District of New York against the Corporation, Bombardier Capital Inc., 
Bombardier Capital Mortgage Securitization Corporation ("BCMSC") and others for alleged violations of federal 
securities laws relating to BCMSC’s Senior/Subordinated Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2000-A due 
January 15, 2030. The Corporation believes this complaint is without merit and will vigorously defend its position. 
 
The Corporation is a defendant in certain legal cases currently pending before various courts in relation to product 
liability and contract disputes with customers and other third parties. The Corporation intends to vigorously defend 
its position in these matters. 
 
Management believes the Corporation has set up adequate provisions to cover potential losses and amounts not 
recoverable under insurance coverage, if any, in relation to these legal actions. 
 
 
25. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES 
 
The following table summarizes by segment the significant VIEs in which the Corporation has a variable interest 
as at January 31, 2005: 
 

 Assets Liabilities 
Aerospace   

Financing structures related to the sale of regional aircraft(1)  $ 5,306  $ 2,871 
Sale of rights under manufacturing contracts(2)  166   154 
Sale and leaseback structure(3)   16   16 

Transportation   
Partnership arrangements   4,352   4,035 
Sale support guarantee  663   662 
Cash collateral accounts(3)  61   61 

BC   
Securitization structures(2)  1,692   1,692 

  12,256   9,491 
Less assets and liabilities:   

Already consolidated under existing accounting rules 1,858   1,846 
Newly consolidated under AcG-15 155   153 

Assets and liabilities of non-consolidated VIEs subject to disclosure  $ 10,243  $ 7,492 
(1) Of which assets and liabilities amounting to $78 million and $76 million respectively were consolidated effective November 1, 2004. 
(2) Assets and liabilities were already included on the consolidated balance sheet under existing accounting rules. 
(3) Consolidated effective November 1, 2004. 
 
The liabilities recognized as a result of consolidating certain VIEs do not represent additional claims on the 
Corporation’s general assets; rather, they represent claims against the specific assets of the consolidated VIEs. 
Conversely, assets recognized as a result of consolidating certain VIEs do not represent additional assets that 
could be used to satisfy claims against the Corporation’s general assets. The consolidation of debt resulting from 
the application of AcG-15 is excluded from the computation of the Corporation’s debt covenant ratio for structures 
existing prior to May 1, 2004. Additionally, the consolidation of VIEs did not result in any change in the underlying 
tax, legal or credit exposure of the Corporation. 
 
Aerospace 
 
Financing structures related to the sale of regional aircraft – The Corporation has provided credit and/or 
residual value guarantees to certain SPEs created solely to purchase regional aircraft from the Corporation and to 
lease these aircraft to airline companies and to purchase financial assets related to the sale of regional aircraft. 
Typically, these SPEs are financed by long-term debt and third-party equity investors who benefit from tax 
incentives. The aircraft serve as collateral for the SPEs’ long-term debt. The Corporation’s variable interests in 
these SPEs are solely through credit and residual value guarantees, except for two cases where it is also in the 
form of a residual interest in the SPEs' assets. The Corporation also provides administrative services to certain of 
these SPEs in return for a market fee. 
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Most SPEs are VIEs and the Corporation is the primary beneficiary for only a limited number of them with assets 
and liabilities amounting to $78 million and $76 million respectively as at January 31, 2005. Accordingly, these 
entities were consolidated effective November 1, 2004. For all of the other SPEs, the Corporation is not the 
primary beneficiary and consolidation is not appropriate under AcG-15. As at January 31, 2005, the Corporation’s 
maximum potential exposure relating to these non-consolidated SPEs was $1.6 billion, of which $295 million of 
provisions and liabilities were available to cover the Corporation's exposure. The Corporation's maximum 
exposure under these guarantees is included in note 24 – Commitments and contingencies.  
 
Sale of rights under manufacturing contracts – In 1995, the Corporation entered into an agreement with LR 
Jet Corporation ("LR Jet"), a company created for the sole purpose of purchasing, on a revolving basis, rights 
under certain aircraft manufacturing contracts from the Corporation. The purchase price is essentially financed by 
long-term debt issued to third-party investors. The amount of the rights sold totalled $171 million as at 
January 31, 2005 ($170 million as at January 31, 2004). The assets of LR Jet serve as collateral for its long-term 
debt. In connection with the sale of these rights, the Corporation has provided limited recourse to LR Jet 
amounting to $17 million as at January 31, 2005, which is included in note 24 – Commitments and contingencies.  
 
LR Jet is a VIE and the Corporation is the primary beneficiary. Prior to the adoption of AcG-15, the Corporation 
accounted for the proceeds received from the sale of the rights as customer advances, which were presented as 
advances and progress billings in excess of related costs or deducted from inventories or as accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The adoption of AcG-15 has resulted in a 
reclassification, which increased inventories by $11 million and long-term debt by $154 million and decreased 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities by $36 million (net of $12 million of non-controlling interest) and 
advances and progress billings in excess of related costs by $107 million. 
 
Sale and leaseback structure – During fiscal year 2002, the Corporation concluded sale and leaseback 
arrangements with Inaugural Equipment Trust ("IET") relating to moveable plant equipment. The moveable plant 
equipment serve as collateral for IET's long-term debt. The Corporation has determined that IET is a VIE, and the 
Corporation is the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, IET has been consolidated as of November 1, 2004. The 
consolidation of IET resulted in increases to property, plant and equipment and to long-term debt of $16 million as 
at January 31, 2005. 
 
Transportation 
 
Partnership arrangements – The Corporation entered into partnership arrangements to provide manufactured 
rail equipment and civil engineering work as well as related long-term services, such as the operation and 
maintenance of rail equipment.  
 
The Corporation’s involvement with entities created in connection with these partnership arrangements is mainly 
through investments in their equity and/or in subordinated loans and through manufacturing, selling and long-term 
service contracts. The Corporation concluded that certain of these entities are VIEs, but the Corporation is not the 
primary beneficiary. Accordingly, these entities have not been consolidated. The Corporation continues to account 
for these investments under the equity method, recording its share of the net income or loss based upon the 
terms of the partnership arrangement. As at January 31, 2005, the Corporation’s maximum off-balance sheet 
exposure to loss related to these non-consolidated VIEs, other than from its contractual obligations, was not 
material. 
 
As at January 31, 2005, the Corporation had the following involvement with significant partnership arrangements 
which qualify as VIEs: 
• In April 2003, Metronet Rail BCV Holdings Ltd. and Metronet Rail SSL Holdings Ltd. (together "Metronet"), in 

which the Corporation has a 20% equity interest, were awarded contracts for the renewal, modernization and 
maintenance of two of the London Underground’s infrastructure projects. As part of its involvement with 
Metronet, the Corporation was awarded firm supply contracts to provide metro cars, signalling, maintenance 
and management services to Metronet.  

• The Corporation has a 20% equity interest in Consorzio Treno Veloce Italiano ("TREVI"), an entity which was 
awarded, starting in May 1992, a series of contracts, including the supply of ETR 500 locomotives and railcars 
as well as their maintenance and refurbishment, for which the Corporation was selected as a sub-supplier to 
TREVI.  
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• In May 2004, Arrow Light Rail Holdings Ltd. and Arrow Light Rail Ltd. (together "Arrow"), in which the 
Corporation has a 12.5% equity interest, were awarded contracts for the design, manufacture, operation and 
maintenance of the Nottingham Express Transit Line One System located in the U.K. As part of its 
involvement with Arrow, the Corporation was awarded the operation and maintenance service contract.  

• In June 2004, Yong-In LRT Co., Ltd ("Yong-In"), in which the Corporation has a 26% interest, was established 
to build and operate a light rail system in the city of Yong-In, South Korea. As part of its involvement with 
Yong-In, the Corporation is responsible for project management, system integration, mobilization and test 
running, and providing vehicles and other equipment.  

 
Sale support guarantee – In August 1998, the Corporation provided residual value guarantees on diesel electric 
multiple unit trains sold to Lombard Leasing Contracts Limited ("Lombard"). Under an operating lease structure, 
Lombard leases the trains to a third-party operator. The Corporation concluded that Lombard is a VIE, but the 
Corporation is not the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, this entity has not been consolidated. The Corporation’s 
maximum exposure as a result of its involvement with Lombard is limited to its residual value guarantees for an 
amount of $135 million. The Corporation's maximum exposure under these guarantees is included in note 24 – 
Commitments and contingencies. 
 
Cash collateral accounts – In connection with the sale of rail equipment by Adtranz prior to its acquisition by the 
Corporation in May 2001, the purchasers have been provided with the right, under certain conditions, to sell back 
the equipment to the Corporation at predetermined prices on three separate dates, beginning in fiscal year 2009. 
In addition, the Corporation may be required, beginning in fiscal year 2009, upon customer default on payments to 
the financing providers, to repurchase the equipment. 
 
As a result of this commitment, Fabian Investments Limited and Lineal Investments Limited were created and 
cash was deposited in a cash collateral account by the lessee of the equipment. This cash, together with 
accumulated interest, is expected to entirely cover the Corporation’s exposure. These SPEs are VIEs and the 
Corporation is their primary beneficiary. Accordingly, the Corporation has consolidated these SPEs effective 
November 1, 2004. Their assets, consisting of restricted cash, are presented in other assets, and their liabilities, 
consisting of a provision for repurchase obligations, are presented in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on 
the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheets, amounted to $61 million as at January 31, 2005. 
 
BC 
 
Securitization structures – BC has agreed to sell, on a revolving basis, certain of its inventory finance 
receivables to Bombardier Receivables Master Trust I ("BRMT I") under a $1.2 billion securitization facility and to 
Bombardier Receivables Master Trust II ("BRMT II") under a $350 million Cdn ($283 million) securitization facility. 
BRMT I and BRMT II's purchase price was financed by issuing to unrelated parties certificates, collateralized by 
the receivables. BRMT I and BRMT II are separate legal entities that are VIEs and the Corporation is their primary 
beneficiary. Their assets are legally isolated from BC's general creditors and their investors have no recourse to 
BC's assets if debtors fail to pay other than for BC's retained subordinated interests of $209 million as at 
January 31, 2005. BC also retains servicing responsibilities and receives market-based servicing fees. Prior to the 
adoption of AcG-15, BC was consolidating these entities under existing accounting rules. 
 
 
26. RECLASSIFICATION 
 
Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in fiscal year 
2005.  
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27. SEGMENT DISCLOSURE 
 
The Corporation operates in the three reportable segments described below. Each reportable segment offers 
different products and services and requires different technology and marketing strategies. 
 
Aerospace Transportation Bombardier Capital 
Aerospace is a manufacturer of business, 
regional and amphibious aircraft and a 
provider of related services. It offers 
comprehensive families of regional jet and 
turboprop commercial aircraft and a wide 
range of business jets. It also provides the 
Flexjet fractional ownership and hourly 
flight time entitlement programs, parts 
logistics, technical services, aircraft 
maintenance and pilot training. 
Aerospace’s main manufacturing facilities 
are located in Canada, the U.K., and the 
U.S.A. 

Transportation is the global leader in the 
rail equipment manufacturing and servicing 
industry and offers a full range of 
passenger railcars, including locomotives, 
light rail vehicles and automated people 
movers. It also provides electrical 
propulsion and control equipment, as well 
as complete rail transportation systems and 
rail control solutions. Transportation is also 
a provider of maintenance services. 
Transportation’s main manufacturing 
facilities are located in Germany, the U.K., 
France, Canada and the U.S.A. 

BC offers secured inventory 
financing, receivable financing 
and interim financing of 
commercial aircraft, primarily in 
North American markets, and 
manages the wind-down of 
various portfolios.  

 
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies. 
 
Effective the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Corporation ceased the allocation of net corporate interest 
costs to the manufacturing segments because Management now assesses the segment performance based on 
earnings (loss) before net interest costs and income taxes ("EBIT"), consistent with its current centralized debt 
management strategies. Comparative figures have been reclassified. 
 
BC’s interest costs continue to be included in cost of sales. The performance of the BC segment is assessed 
based on earnings (loss) before income taxes ("EBT").  
 
Most other corporate charges are allocated to all segments based on each segment’s revenues. 
 
Intersegment transactions are carried out in the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange 
value, which is the consideration determined and accepted by the related segments. 
 
Net segmented assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, investment in BC and advances and subordinated 
loans to Bombardier and deferred income taxes, and are net of accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
(excluding income taxes and interest payable), advances and progress billings in excess of related costs and 
accrued benefit liabilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bombardier, Bombardier Global 5000, Challenger, Challenger 300, Challenger 604, CRJ, Flexjet, Global, Global Express, Learjet and  
Q-Series are trademarks of Bombardier Inc. or its subsidiaries. 



BOMBARDIER INC.
SEGMENT DISCLOSURE
(MILLIONS OF U.S. DOLLARS)

Bombardier Inc. 
Industry segments consolidated Aerospace Transportation BC 

Notes 2005        2004          2005       2004      2005      2004      2005       2004       
External revenues
   Manufacturing $ 11,508     $ 11,208       $ 5,904      $ 6,252     $ 5,604     $ 4,956     $ -           $ -           
   Services 2,386       2,319         1,116      1,130     1,270     1,189     -           -           
   Financing 329          324            -            -           -           -           329         324         
   Other 1,616       1,657         924         861        692        796        -           -           

15,839     15,508       7,944      8,243     7,566     6,941     329         324         
Intersegment revenues -            -               -            -           18          13          97           169         
Segmented revenues 15,839     15,508       7,944      8,243     7,584     6,954     426         493         
Cost of sales 13,989     13,370       6,965      7,155     6,850     6,136     261         249         
Selling, general and administrative 927          992            362         352        477        546        88           94           
Amortization 551          563            365         308        138        158        48           97           
Research and development 148          113            62           38          86          75          -           -           
Special items 15 172          330            -            (19)         172        349        -           -           

15,787     15,368       7,754      7,834     7,723     7,264     397         440         
Income (loss) from continuing operations 
     before interest and income taxes $ 52            $ 140            $ 190         $ 409        $ (139)       $ (310)       $ 29           $ 53           

Net segmented assets $ 2,934       $ 3,794         $ 2,258      $ 2,411     $ 237        $ 522        $ 439         $ 861         
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,098       6,535         
Interest payable (73)          (115)           
Income taxes payable (61)          -               
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs 2,359       2,686         
Accrued benefit liabilities 895          932            
Deferred income tax asset 443          343            
Cash and cash equivalents 2,291       1,210         
Total assets – Bombardier 15,886     15,385       
Investment in BC (439)        (861)           
Advances and subordinated loans from BC (71)          (585)           
Total assets – BC 4,704       5,338         
Total assets – Bombardier Inc. consolidated $ 20,080     $ 19,277       

Additions to property, plant and equipment $ 307          $ 300            $ 207         $ 197        $ 97          $ 100        $ 3             $ 3             
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BOMBARDIER INC.
SEGMENT DISCLOSURE
(MILLIONS OF U.S. DOLLARS)

 

Property, plant and
equipment, intangible

Geographic information Revenues(1) assets and goodwill(2)

2005        2004          2005       2004      
United States 6,557$     7,295$       364$       480$       
United Kingdom 2,167       1,447         723         651        
Germany 1,585       1,714         1,423      1,337     
Switzerland 609          552            303         262        
France 541          388            35           35          
Canada 485          541            2,222      2,219     
Spain 407          171            9             13          
Italy 391          523            138         166        
Austria 375          105            11           11          
Sweden 331          434            487         504        
Netherlands 323          304            -            -           
China 265          153            19           21          
Japan 100          159            -            -           
Portugal 100          174            9             115        
Other – Europe 661          652            204         213        
Other – Americas 383          180            9             15          
Other – Asia 107          257            2             2            
Other 452          459            8             2            

15,839$   15,508$      5,966$    6,046$    

(1)  Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of the customer.
(2)  Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are attributed to countries based on the location of the assets.

     Goodwill is attributed to countries based on the Corporation's allocation of the purchase price.
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BOMBARDIER INC.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JANUARY 31

(MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

AND SHAREHOLDERS OF RECORD)

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Segmented revenues
  Aerospace $ 7,944            $ 8,243        $ 7,214        $ 7,893        $ 7,176        
  Transportation 7,584            6,954        6,019        4,509        2,043        
  BC 426               493           572           621           628           
  Intersegment revenues (115)              (182)          (270)          (265)          (191)          
External revenues $ 15,839          $ 15,508      $ 13,535      $ 12,758      $ 9,656        
Income (loss) from continuing operations 
  before special items, interest and income taxes
    Aerospace $ 190               $ 390           $ 182           $ 609           $ 808           
    Transportation 33                 39             133           65             (29)            
    BC 29                 53             66             26             15             
    Intersegment interest (28)                (12)            (6)              (8)              (11)            

224               470           375           692           783           
Special items
    Aerospace -                    (19)            837           229           (34)            
    Transportation 172               349           -                48             -                
    BC -                    -                -                425           54             

172               330           837           702           20             
Income (loss) from continuing operations 
  before interest and income taxes
    Aerospace 190               409           (655)          380           842           
    Transportation (139)              (310)          133           17             (29)            
    BC 29                 53             66             (399)          (39)            
    Intersegment interest (28)                (12)            (6)              (8)              (11)            

52                 140           (462)          (10)            763           
Interest expense, net 153               159           132           55             22             
Income tax expense (recovery) (16)                147           (141)          (22)            216           
Income (loss) from continuing operations (85)                (166)          (453)          (43)            525           
Income from discontinued operations - net of tax -                    81             60             66             39             
Net income (loss) $ (85)                $ (85)            $ (393)          $ 23             $ 564           
Earnings (loss) per share:
   Basic and diluted
     From continuing operations $ (0.06)             $ (0.11)         $ (0.34)         $ (0.04)         $ 0.37          
     Net income (loss) $ (0.06)             $ (0.07)         $ (0.30)         $ 0.01          $ 0.40          

General information for continuing operations
Export revenues from Canada $ 5,430 $ 5,851 $ 4,764 $ 5,320 $ 5,029
Additions to property, plant and equipment $ 307 $ 300 $ 461 $ 723 $ 822
Amortization $ 551 $ 563 $ 515 $ 481 $ 508
Dividend per common share (in Cdn dollars)
   Class A $ 0.090000 $ 0.090000 $ 0.180000 $ 0.180000 $ 0.135000
   Class B $ 0.091600 $ 0.091600 $ 0.181563 $ 0.181563 $ 0.136563
Dividend per preferred share (in Cdn dollars)
   Series 2 $ 0.997810 $ 1.169296 $ 1.193750 $ 1.375000 $ 1.375000
   Series 3 $ 1.369000 $ 1.369000 $ 0.684500 $ - $ -
   Series 4 $ 1.562500 $ 1.562500 $ 1.398760 $ - $ -
Number of common shares (in millions) 1,750 1,750 1,378 1,371 1,366
Book value per common share (in US dollars) $ 1.11 $ 1.20 $ 1.05 $ 1.38 $ 1.52
Shareholders of record 13,008 12,371 11,579 11,310 12,666

Market price ranges
(in Canadian dollars)
Class A
   High $ 7.11 $ 6.32 $ 15.67 $ 24.60 $ 26.80
   Low $ 2.01 $ 2.95 $ 3.19 $ 9.25 $ 14.05
   Close $ 2.80 $ 5.96 $ 5.34 $ 14.72 $ 24.70
Class B
   High $ 7.13 $ 6.28 $ 15.67 $ 24.65 $ 26.70
   Low $ 1.87 $ 2.56 $ 3.13 $ 9.19 $ 13.90
   Close $ 2.62 $ 5.99 $ 5.12 $ 14.70 $ 24.54
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BOMBARDIER INC.
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL SUMMARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS AT JANUARY 31 

(MILLIONS OF U.S. DOLLARS)

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
BOMBARDIER INC. CONSOLIDATED
Cash and cash equivalents 2,355$    1,221$   663$      276$      911$      
Receivables 1,622      1,838    1,478    1,157    544       
Finance receivables 3,585      3,127    4,587    4,019    4,761    
Assets under operating leases and other 474         558       889       1,156    1,195    
Inventories 4,013      4,340    3,443    3,532    2,531    
Property, plant and equipment 3,414      3,550    3,523    3,259    2,848    
Goodwill 2,357      2,290    2,122    1,704    -            
Deferred income taxes 628         527       598       569       121       
Accrued benefit assets 353         375       173       153       98         
Assets held for sale -             -            824       692       379       
Other assets 1,279      1,451    749       591       268       
Total assets 20,080$  19,277$ 19,049$ 17,108$ 13,656$ 
Short-term borrowings 300$       232$       1,677$    1,907$    1,687$    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,281      6,785    5,825    4,655    2,645    
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs 2,359      2,686    2,496    2,067    1,885    
Deferred income taxes 41           104       122       399       448       
Long-term debt 6,904      6,088    5,838    4,931    4,082    
Accrued benefit liabilities 897         932       753       624       293       
Liabilities related to assets held for sale -             -            545       430       342       
Preferred shares 347         347       347       199       199       
Common shareholders' equity 1,951      2,103    1,446    1,896    2,075    
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 20,080$  19,277$ 19,049$ 17,108$ 13,656$ 
BOMBARDIER
Cash and cash equivalents 2,291$    1,210$   466$      276$      901$      
Receivables 1,505      1,694    1,369    963       394       
Assets under operating leases and other 249         86         5           6           17         
Inventories 4,013      4,340    3,443    3,532    2,531    
Property, plant and equipment 3,322      3,460    3,427    3,157    2,759    
Goodwill 2,357      2,290    2,122    1,704    -            
Deferred income taxes 443         343       413       364       73         
Investment in and advances to BC 439         861       842       856       1,055    
Accrued benefit assets 353         375       173       153       98         
Assets held for sale -             -            824       692       379       
Other assets 914         726       496       443       128       
Total assets 15,886$  15,385$ 13,580$ 12,146$ 8,335$   
Short-term borrowings -$            -$            249$       843$       -$            
Advances from BC 71           135       45         -            -            
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,098      6,535    5,556    4,390    2,514    
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs 2,359      2,686    2,496    2,067    1,885    
Deferred income taxes 37           100       119       396       448       
Long-term debt 3,128      2,097    2,027    1,303    580       
Accrued benefit liabilities 895         932       750       622       292       
Liabilities related to assets held for sale -             -            545       430       342       
Subordinated loans from BC -             450       -            -            -            
Preferred shares 347         347       347       199       199       
Common shareholders' equity 1,951      2,103    1,446    1,896    2,075    
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 15,886$  15,385$ 13,580$ 12,146$ 8,335$   
BC
Cash and cash equivalents 64$         11$        197$      -$           10$        
Receivables 117         144       109       194       150       
Finance receivables 3,585      3,127    4,587    4,019    4,761    
Assets under operating leases and other 225         472       884       1,150    1,178    
Property, plant and equipment 92           90         96         102       89         
Deferred income taxes 185         184       185       205       48         
Advances and subordinated loans to Bombardier 71           585       45         -            -            
Other assets 365         725       253       148       140       
Total assets 4,704$    5,338$   6,356$   5,818$   6,376$   
Short-term borrowings 300$       232$       1,428$    1,064$    1,687$    
Advances from Bombardier -             -            -            13         138       
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 183         250       269       265       131       
Deferred income taxes 4            4           3           3           -            
Long-term debt 3,776      3,991    3,811    3,628    3,502    
Accrued benefit liabilities 2            -            3           2           1           
Investment in BC 439         861       842       843       917       
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 4,704$    5,338$   6,356$   5,818$   6,376$   
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